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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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FY2025 Results
2025 FEE£E N

20.11.2024
Announcement of Interim Results

D ERFREE

24.6.2025
Announcement of Final Results

NEFRE

30.7.2025
\Vebsite Publication of Annual Report

LB F IR

Shareholders’ Meeting
BRREZH

31.7.2025
2025 AGM Notice Issue Date
2026 F IR AF AF@E T3 B H

27.8.2025—-2.9.2025
\/oting at 2025 AGINI Book
Closure Period

2025 FRREAFASHILBFE A

2.9.2025
Record Date
s08% H 57

2.9.2025
Annual General Meeting

RERBERE

FY2025 Dividend Record
and Payment Dates
REGEMZS B

Interim Dividend:
1.5 HK cents per Share

RERE
B 1.5 B4

20.11.2024
Declaration Date

Efff B

31.12.2024
Record Date

o8k B HA

8.1.2025
Payment Date

XTHH

Proposed Final Dividend:
1 HK cent per Share
EEAHRE :

1 B4l

24.6.2025
Declaration Date

Eff B8

12.9.2025
Record Date

o8k B H

22.9.2025
Payment Date

Xt RH

*The declaration and payment of the FY2025 Final Dividend is subject to the approval of Ordinary shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
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GROUP PROFILE
EE/EN

Gold Peak Technology Group is a global battery and electronics company with an
aspiration to become one of the leaders in providing energy and sound solutions

that enlighten and empowver lives, and with sustainability as a focus.

The parent company, Gold Peak Technology Group Limited, was established
in 1964 and has been listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong since 1984.
Gold Peak holds a majority stake at 86.18%" in the Singapore-listed GP

Industries Limited as its major industrial investment vehicle.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited focuses on R&D of new battery
technology and B2B battery business, whilst GP Industries develops its
consumer batteries, and electronics and acoustics businesses in consumer
products. The Group has built renowned brand names for its major product
categories, including GP batteries, Recyko rechargeable batteries, KEF
premium acoustic products and Celestion professional speakers.

GP Energy Tech Limited, formed to charter sustainability as the core of
business, is the Group’s major subsidiary committed to delivering sustainable
innovations as well as rechargeable battery advancement for enhanced
energy storage solutions.

The Group has a strong and extensive manufacturing, R&D and distribution
network spanning over 10 countries. Its revenue for the financial year 2024-
2025 amounted to HK$ 6.9 billion and its total assets exceeded HK$ 7.5
billion. Including the major operations of its various divisions, the Group
currently employs a staff force of 6,130 worldwide.

*As at 24 June 2025

GP Batteries LU th

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

LR EEA - XBUREFERLX HIE
RABRHEERTEARNEEE Z— WUTH
BRADBREN SABRLEERE ERHD-

EEF AT LR ETEERATN1964 FH
I WEI1984FEE B Lo SILRKBEE
5GP T¥AERAT86.18%" B ERHE
TRETH-GP TEEH MK Lo

IR TEER AR O AIFE MR K
TEHLE (B2B) EMER M GP THEAE
NEREEBEENRIEEE KECTEE
AR a0 GP #B#FHEth - Recyko B X EJ
KEF 5458227 Celestion E¥ig®sE. &
FRAERNZE M -

GP RERBEARAAREEE T U &%
RALEROHMBAT OB TRERH
REHAE MM REETZNREFHE
RITER

TUNREEZEERE EmT R REERSE
BEMEHRTZERR KER2024-2025F
CEXERCIRBIL REER/SEBIT R
HREMHAEASTHG,130 Ae

*A2025%6824R
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GROUP STRUCTURE

SERB

GOLD PEAK TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED

LR TEBRAT

Hong Kong-listed &8 £

95.41%"

GP ENERGY TECH LIMITED

GP BERRH AR AT

86.18%"

GP INDUSTRIES LIMITED
GP IXABRAH

Singapore-listed #7 0 £

RECHARGEABLE
BATTERY BUSINESS
FREMER

GP ENERGY TECH
INTERNATIONAL
PTE. LIMITED

GP BERBHL ER
BRQF

Energy Storage Solution
REERR

Rechargeable Battery

ey

BATTERY BUSINESS
ENE S

GP BATTERIES
INTERNATIONAL
LIMITED

S BB ARAE]

GP &%
(brand R #2)

Pairdeer #E
(JV brand & &)

AUDIO BUSINESS OTHER INDUSTRIAL

FEXEY INVESTMENTS
HiTERE

KEF GP

GROUP LIMITED

KEF
(brand R #£)

GP Electronics
Ealloe s

Celestion
(brand @ 4%)

* Percentage stated denotes respective shareholding held by Gold Peak as at 24 June 2025

* BAEREILRHEN 2025 F 6 A 24 B s 2 iRAE

# Comprises direct interest of 85.59% held by the Company and indirect effective interest of 9.82% held through

GP Industries Limited as at 24 June 2025

# BiFN2025% 6 A 24 B AATEERHAR 85.59% REREB GP TEARATEEEN 9.82% EWRHE

SIEHRTIEERAR —O—WNE—O—RFFH
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FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS

I RATRE

2025

2024

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss ReERR

Year ended 31 March (HK$ million) BZ3A31ALFE (EEERT)

Revenue e 6,851.3 6,476.4
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company KRATEE A B =R (EiE) 30.4 (367.3)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company BARIHER A GG (TEEEG

(excluding share of results of XIC Innovation Limited (“XIC”) RS RIAIERAT ([IERlall) #5&) 30.4 41.4
Earnings (loss) per share (Hong Kong cents) BREF (F518) GBI 2.9 @0.1)
Earnings per share (Hong Kong cents) HRER GBAL)

(excluding share of results of XIC) EEEGZERIAIEE) 2.9 45
Dividends per share (Hong Kong cent) HIRIRE GBL) 25 1.0
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position FEMBRRE
At 31 March (HK$ million) MR3A31E (B&EET)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company AATEBAELER 1,013.0 1,204.7
Total assets BmEE 7,519.8 7,602.7
Capital expenditure EAMSH 215.0 217.3
Ratios L=
At 31 March M3A31E
Current assets : Current liabilities (ratio) RBEE: RBAE (LX) 0.96 1.00
Inventory turnover period (months) FERBH (B) 3.1 2.9
Net bank borrowings : Total equity (ratio) IRITEREFE  AHE (KbF)
-The Group —E&£F 0.98 1.04
- The Company — /AE] 0.36 0.43
Other Information HipER
At 31 March M3A31H
The Company & its subsidiaries: NS NG
Number of employees EEAZ
- China — HE 3,780 3,850
- Hong Kong — &8 350 360
- Other countries — HE=xR 2,000 1,920
6,130 6,130
Total area (sq m) HAEE (FAXK)
- China — 486,000 480,300
- Hong Kong — B8 7,900 7,900
- Other countries — HMExR 153,100 137,600
647,000 625,800

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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Revenue by Business FEERELR
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FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS conro)

B RGTHE «

Revenue 10000
Year ended 31 March (HK$ million) 9000
8,000
% ¥§E 2000 6,706 i 6.581 6476 6,851
BE3ABIALFE (FEET) ———] = == — —
e —— ——— —— ————
- = = = = =
3,000 — e
2,000 — —
1000 ——— ——
0
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Total Assets
At 31 March (HK$ million) 10,000 9,055 9,374
0000 —
REE N soco — N SN g 7603 7520
M3A31R (B&E#ERT) Yoo E E é E E
5,000 = E E
4000 — = — = —— =
3,000 —— —_— —_—
2,000 =
1,000 — _
0
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Segment Results by Business oo
Year ended 31 March (HK$ million)
EBDEEER 4°° e
BE3ABLALFE (FEER) s

mm Audio HE
= Battery &)
mmmmm Rechargeable battery ZEth

Other Industrial Investments

Hit THIRE

*Excluding the Group’s share of loss (including impairment loss)
of XIC amounted to HK$472.8 million

TEEAEERGZARAEE (RFREEX) 4728FET

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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Market Capitalization
At 31 March (HK$ million)

miE
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Profit Attributable to

Owrners of the Company
Year ended 31 March (HK$ million)

ADTFHE ABILEF

HZE3A3IBLFE (BEHET)

#Excluding share of results of XIC attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to HK$408.7 million

TEEAATRIA A BRI A £ 454.087 BT
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Per Share

Year ended 31 March (Hong Kong Cents)

BRREFREBRIRE

HZE3A31HLLFE (BL)

I Earnings per share SR &F|
I Dividends per share SR E

©Based on profit attributable to owners of the Company
(excluding share of results of XIC)
amounted to HK$41.4 million
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Capturing the Rapid Growth of Al and Data Center Markets

REATERR BB OB TIEKE

Leveraging our advanced electrochemical expertise and state-of-the-art
manufacturing, GP Energy Tech is at the forefront of the new energy landscape.
\We provide non-flammable, safe, and reliable immediate powver solutions for

critical infrastructures, as well as industrial and loT applications, all while

promoting environmental conservation.

BETES(CENBMRNIHEERMN - GP ERNRRBEHEREERNT - RERRERTX
M loT BARHTME - 22« UERBRROVAEEFELTE






TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

THEPBHRE

2025

2024

FEBRER wu Consolidated Statement of Profit or LOSS (note 1)
BZ3A31HLFE @EEET) Year ended 31 March (HK$ million)
EER Turnover 6,851.3 6,476.4
FRBLBDEF (B518) Profit (loss) before taxation 211.9 (295.6)
B Taxation (72.6) (46.3)
2FER (B18) Profit (loss) for the year 139.3 (341.9)
B : Attributable to:
KAREEA Owners of the Company 30.4 (367.3)
JEIERR R Non-controlling interests 108.9 25.4
139.3 (341.9)
ZFAMAKRT Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
BE3AALEE @EEER) At 31 March (HK$ million)
REME Investment properties 418.3 -
ME BERLE Property, plant and equipment 1,938.1 2,230.2
EREEE Right-of-use assets 242.9 301.6
FribBtE N E R Interests in associates 966.3 914.6
DAFEFAEMEAEIE 2 Equity instruments at fair value through
BATAR other comprehensive income 72.1 347.0
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments - -
FERENE R BRIE Non-current receivables - -
BEE Intangible assets 7.6 1.1
(5ES Goodwill 70.4 70.4
EERIBEEE Deferred taxation assets 21.0 28.6
EREES Non-current deposits 25.1 30.3
MENEE Current assets 3,758.0 3,678.9
PEABHEEE Assets classified as held for sale - -
HWEE Total assets 7,519.8 7,602.7
RITREMER Bank and other loans 1,190.6 1,470.1
=g Notes - -
EERIBES Deferred taxation liabilities 82.4 40.1
HEaE Lease liabilities 191.4 241.5
IS EEEE Obligation under finance leases - -
fTE€/mT A Derivative Financial Instruments - -
BAHERAERE Provision for restructuring - -
mEEE Current liabilities 3,917.3 3,696.5
Py =R Total liabilities 5,381.7 5,448.2
2,138.1 2,1564.5
RATER AELER Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,013.0 1,204.7
FEiEpRE S Non-controlling interests 1,125.1 949.8
2,138.1 2,154.5

Notes: 1. The consolidated profit or loss included results of continuing and discontinued operations.
2. The financial information had been restated to reflect the effect of equity accounting of an associate, XIC.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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(restated EF4R%1)
(note 2 Htz¥2)

6,581.0 7,145.6 6,706.2 6,051.5 6,767.7 6,316.3 5,822.6 5,795.5
100.4 264.9 287.5 217.8 265.0 197.3 210.2 204.8
(14.2) (39.1) (79.4) (126.5) (81.0) (87.3) (103.2) (86.5)
86.2 225.8 208.1 91.3 184.0 110.0 107.0 118.3
36.9 156.9 121.9 20.9 61.4 20.4 20.1 18.7
49.3 68.9 86.2 70.4 122.6 89.6 86.9 99.6
86.2 225.8 208.1 91.3 184.0 110.0 107.0 118.3

(restated EFi#R5) (restated EHi{w5)
(note 2 Htz¥2) (note 2 ftzE2)
- - - - - - 9.9 9.6

2,320.8 2,386.2 2,234.6 1,833.3 1,594.7 1,755.1 1,400.8 1,393.4
262.7 291.6 282.4 177.2 - - - -

1,614.6 2,082.4 2,074.8 1,501.6 1,484.3 1,489.8 1,403.7 1,333.5
83.5 90.4 60.1 58.4 77.4 - - -

- - - - - 87.5 64.0 62.3

- 18.7 86.2 83.4 - - - -

2.4 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.4 3.6 6.4
70.4 70.4 79.1 79.1 79.1 102.1 102.1 102.1
34.4 34.4 27.8 20.9 22.5 21.9 19.7 21.5
19.7 29.8 38.7 26.1 13.0 14.3 37.4 24.7
3,859.5 4,325.8 4,127.8 3,413.6 3,842.5 3,576.5 3,097.9 2,929.4
- 42.9 42.2 43.4 196.5 55.8 5.9 -
8,268.0 9,373.7 9,054.9 7,238.2 7,311.3 7,104.4 6,145.0 5,882.9
1,043.8 740.8 1,047.9 349.7 1,167.6 1,037.5 882.2 832.6
- - - - - 119.0 - -

38.4 64.4 59.9 41.1 24.1 22.4 23.2 18.7
226.9 243.9 215.6 94.6 - - - -
- - - - 3.3 0.6 1.0 0.5

- - - - 2.1 - - -

- - 99.8 99.8 - - - -

4,236.1 5,107.0 4,856.8 4,537.3 3,883.9 3,572.1 2,784.8 2,471.3

5,545.2 6,156.1 6,280.0 5,122.5 5,081.0 4,751.6 3,691.2 3,323.1

2,722.8 3,217.6 2,774.9 2,115.7 2,230.3 2,352.8 2,453.8 2,559.8

1,701.3 2,195.0 1,847.5 1,300.9 1,412.5 1,519.9 1,268.3 1,323.5

1,021.5 1,022.6 927.4 814.8 817.8 832.9 1,185.5 1,236.3

2,722.8 3,217.6 2,774.9 2,115.7 2,230.3 2,352.8 2,453.8 2,559.8

M : 1 SEESERSEEEEBRBRIMEEEBEE -

2. HBENEHENRS  WRMUAESSDATABEARKEREIZ R -

W TRARAF —O-WE-—O-—RFFH
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KEF GP GROUP

NETEIFT EKENR &

'n|

Catalyzing the Growth of Future-Fi
HERRTEER

KEF GP Group excels in creating world-acclaimed speakers and speaker drivers.
Our comprehensive capabilities, spanning research and development,

product design, engineering, manufacturing, marketing, and sales, deliver

an immersive sound experience that resonates with a growing audience.

KEF GP Group £ &t AN ZEBRNEERRHE T TARREM - KPR HUEE
MREERE EMRET - T2 BiE - mHHENEHE  BRATEEFEEEINEA
FHRER  CERBIERARTERE -
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KEF LS60 Wireless offers immersive High-Fidelity
audio experience at fingertips
KEF LS60 Wireless € MEABRESZERBEF IR

KEF manufactures with craftsmanship and
acoustic precision

KEF LB TEITEBESE

KEF XIO soundbar: a 5.1.2 wireless High-Fidelity
Spatial Audio system delivering transcendent
cinematic experience

KEFX10 &#6:5.1.2 BESEEZTERHK
RSB REER

{

C-Music by Celestion BA28, the preferred
busking amplifier
C-Music by Celestion BA28 — #iBE&X EE S =

Celestion speaker driver brings powerful music to
global live performances

Celestion BEFAZHRASEHNTRERTH



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TEMES

Navigating Resilience Amid Global
Challenges

The financial year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2025”) unfolded against a
backdrop of global economic uncertainties. Trade policy and supply chain
uncertainty reached levels not seen since the COVID-19 pandemic, while
persistent inflationary pressures and geopolitical tensions further complicated
the operating environment. The United Nations (“UN") also recently revised its
global GDP growth projections down to 2.4% in its \World Economic Situation
and Prospects Mid-Year Update - a decline from the 2.9% forecast in 2024 -
while describing the world economy as “at a precarious moment.”

Despite these challenging headwinds, Gold Peak demonstrated exceptional
resilience, achieving robust revenue growth of 5.8% and significantly
improved profitability with profit before finance costs and share of results
of associates increased by 9.9%. Our strategic investments in a diversified
manufacturing footprint, brand development, and breakthrough innovation in
rechargeable battery technology have proven invaluable in navigating current
challenges while positioning us to capture emerging opportunities in high-
growth markets.

Results Summary

The Group delivered revenue of HK$6,851.3 million in FY2025, representing
growth of 5.8% compared to the financial year ended 31 March 2024
(“FY2024”"). More significantly, our profit before finance costs and share
of results of associates increased by 9.9% to HK$359.5 million, driven by
disciplined cost management and improved operational efficiency. Gross profit
margin expanded by 90 basis points to 29.4%, reflecting enhanced product
mix, effective commodity management, and optimal factory utilization.

Profit attributable to equity holders for FY2025 stood at HK$30.4 million,
translating to basic earnings per share of 2.9 Hong Kong cents. The Board has
proposed a final dividend of 1.0 Hong Kong cent per share. Combined with
our interim dividend of 1.5 Hong Kong cents, this brings the full-year dividend
to 2.5 Hong Kong cents per share. This represents a payout ratio of 86.2%,
demonstrating our confidence in the Group’s financial position and future
prospects.

Strategic Positioning and Market Response

The evolving global trade landscape has validated our long-standing
strategy of geographic diversification. The effective U.S. tariff rate increased
substantially in April 2025, though the recent agreement to pause the
145% China tariff permanently provides significant relief as trade tensions
persist. Our diversified manufacturing footprint across Southeast Asia has
proven to be a crucial competitive advantage in this environment. With our
manufacturing facilities around the globe - two in the UK, four in Malaysia,
two in Vietnam, one in Thailand, and together with our China operations - we
maintain significant flexibility in our supply chain.
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In response to the U.S. tariff, we are actively implementing several strategic
initiatives: switch production capacity in Southeast Asia to serve the U.S.
market and use our China production primarily for European and Asian
markets; streamline supply chains to meet country of origin requirements while
maintaining cost competitiveness; and increase our sales efforts on emerging
Asian markets. Based on recent years’ average, products directly exported
from China to the U.S.represent only approximately 13% of our Group’s global
revenue. \\ith these proactive measures in place, we are confident in our
ability to manage tariff impacts while maintaining our competitive position and
profitability.

Our Battery Business demonstrated particular strength in this challenging
environment, with sales including primary batteries and GP-branded batteries
increasing by 6.8%, driven by market share gains in the Americas (+21.2%)
and Asia (+7.9%). Our sales growth in the Americas was driven by our
specialty and industrial battery segments, as we strategically focused GP-
branded consumer batteries on Asian and European markets where we have
established a strong retail presence.\IWhile our European battery sales declined
by 4.8% amid economic pressures, our comprehensive product portfolio -
ranging from value-driven Carbon Zinc batteries to premium Alkaline and
specialty batteries - enables us to serve diverse consumer needs across all
price segments. The UN’s projection of persistent global inflation at 3.6%
in 2025 supports our strategic positioning for the current market, as our
GP-branded products offer both affordable solutions for price-conscious
consumers and high-performance products for demanding applications.

In our Rechargeable Battery Business, sales of rechargeable batteries,
excluding GP-branded rechargeable batteries, achieved growth of 18.5%,
driven by increasing demand from industrial and private label. Geographically,
sales to the Americas grew strongly by 55.4%, Europe increased by 13.0%,
and Asia grew by 14.4%, validating our global market approach in this rapidly
expanding segment.

In the Audio Business, KEF achieved notable success through strategic retail
partnerships, securing premium placement with leading big-box retailers
across nearly 500 U.S. outlets. KEF sales grew by 7.0% overall, with particularly
strong performance in the Americas (+12.3%) and Asia (+5.0%). Celestion’s
7.2% revenue increase in professional speaker drivers was driven by growth
across all major markets - Americas (+10.4%), Europe (+5.6%), and Asia
(+7.1%). Third-party ODM (Original Design Manufacturer) manufacturing in
our audio business declined by 13.4%, due to the weak demand on certain
professional audio segment and we deploy more production capacity to our
KEF and Celestion brands. The continued growth in distribution network,
combined with our expanded network of KEF Music Galleries in major strategic
markets, including flagship locations in Tokyo’s high-end Aoyama district
and in London, alongside multiple experience centers across China, has
strengthened KEF’s brand visibility and consumer/trade engagement.

W TRARAF —O-WE-—O-—RFFH

EMEBBRIRRE LB ZBENR : SR
DHEREQRBEETS  XEFHPED
HEARBONFEENT S  BEHEELURE
FEENBANER  BRRISREBRFED
WhRE M ETBHHEENE - RIFOF
HFEHEE - EERTEH I XENERE
EEBERHRANIZ% - EBTHETELE
i HABREZBHSE  RERFHAN
BRIGED TR ©

EEERBRENRED  RANEHELR
REN  HEREE - RIMEUNGPRIEE)
#BR6.8% TEZERFEILEM+21.2%)H
DN(+7.9%) B T I5 0 ERIE & o Fdb RINAYEH
ERRTEHFENIXSHERNTE AR
HMIEGP M & EE AR M I 1 B TN A
BN - RACEEELTEHBRGEN - BF
HERBEN TN EMHEET 854.8% » M
2HNERES - EAEEERNRFEDE
SEBMEURSESL - ERMEHNETRE
BUOSHEENTREFR - BEEER2025
FERFEBRR3.6%  EEXFTRMEREE
MHSRBENL  BRAEMNNGPREERIE
ERHEEREKEEENSTR  THAE
REMENERRESHEER -

ERMOFTERESLT  TEHLNHEE REE
GPmMxEM) EH18.5%  TERARITEF
AR P HIRRIE M - WUbEETHE - BN
HISHE RS IE R 55.4%  BUNMEMN 2 Bl A
13.0%% 14.4% - 2ERMERHRHSENER
F& ML SRR MO SR E AR D ©

ETEEKAHE  KEFEBREZSESEBEN
RESMBIRENS T EEZE AR - BIF500K EE
ARESEFMEEENERRERMLE - KEFH
BEERIHE EF7.0% > FdtEIM(+12.3%)F 5
M(+5.0%)WREB L BEY o CelestionHE £
BREEENRMEETENSHIHEER - EM
(+10.4%) ~ BUMN(+5.6%) F1 2 M (+7.1%) » &
EEER7.2% HRSNEEFTEEAERE
5 SEEEBNNE=HFODM(RIHREH
EE) AETH13.4%  AEEMSEZHNE
BEFAEl FKEF I Celestionf b o 2 S48 4 HYFE
EER MERMPEIEXRBHEERNKEF
Music Gallery 85+ 0R% » BRERESH
SLEBMGEEEE  URTENZERRS
o E—HRFAKEFH RIS B E RRIFEH
BEANERBZEE -

19



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT conro

Innovation for Tomorrow

Our commitment to technological leadership spans all three business
segments, with substantial developments in rechargeable battery technology
representing our most significant innovation advance. GP Energy Tech Limited
(“GP Energy Tech”) has developed proprietary Nickel-Zinc (“Ni-Zn”) battery
technology specifically engineered for industrial battery system applications,
such as for data center uninterruptible power supply (UPS), where safety and
sustainability are paramount. Our Ni-Zn battery technology offers compelling
advantages to batteries of other chemistries: inherent non-flammability,
competitive power density, superior recyclability at over 90% recyclable
materials and manufactured at UL-certified “Zero \Waste To Landfill” factories,
and less floor space requirements.

To capitalize on the rapidly expanding market demand for sustainable and
non-flammable battery solution for data center backup power supplies, we
announced as an intent a landmark US$150.0 million investment in the Johor-
Singapore Special Economic Zone and plan to strengthen our manufacturing
in Dongguan, positioning us to serve Southeast Asia’s burgeoning data
center markets. GP Energy Tech’s achievement as the first Asian company to
join the international Zinc Battery Initiative demonstrates our visionary and
technological leadership to remain as a key player in the global sustainable
battery ecosystem.

KEF continues to push the boundaries of acoustics excellence, with our
patented technologies receiving strong market acceptance. During FY2025,
we expanded our wireless music system portfolio, addressing the growing
segment of consumers seeking premium audio experiences without the
complexity of traditional hi-fi systems. Strategic partnerships are accelerating
our market expansion - our collaboration with Lotus Technology Inc, earned
the prestigious EISA Award for Best In-Car OEM Premium Audio System
2024-2025. Our global partnership with Haier Smart Home has significantly
expanded, with KEF now co-engineering immersive audio systems across
multiple flagship television series, positioning us strategically in the global
smart television market.

Celestion marked its centennial year with recognition from the National
Association of Music Merchants and plans to leverage its legendary brand
heritage by introducing its first pro-sumer audio system in the financial year
ending 31 March 2026 (“FY2026"), creating new market opportunities beyond
professional applications.

In our Battery Business, we continue to enhance our product portfolio through
strategic R&D investments. Our ongoing improvements in Alkaline battery
formulations focus on extending performance in high-drain devices, while our
specialty battery range continues to evolve to meet the stringent requirements
of medical devices, safety systems, and industrial 10T applications. \We are
also pioneering sustainable packaging solutions, with over 80% of our battery
packaging now utilizing recyclable materials, demonstrating our commitment
to environmental responsibility while maintaining product excellence and
market relevance.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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Financial Strength and Asset Optimization

We significantly strengthened our financial position during FY2025.
The gearing ratio improved from 1.04 to 0.98, reflecting prudent capital
management and the successful issuance of US$11.0 million (HK$85.0
million) in perpetual subordinated bonds through GP Industries in September
2024. 1 would like to acknowledge the confidence shown by our directors
and senior management, who subscribed for US$4.0 million of these bonds,
demonstrating strong alignment with shareholder interests. Ve also secured a
S$$70.0 million sustainability-linked loan facility with Malayan Banking Berhad,
demonstrating lender confidence in our business model and sustainability
commitments.

Our asset optimization program progressed well, including the strategic
revaluation of industrial properties in China that generated a revaluation gain
net of deferred tax of HK$139.7 million. \We continue our efforts to optimize
our asset base, including divesting non-core assets when market conditions
improve. These initiatives not only strengthen our balance sheet but also
provide flexibility for future growth investments while maintaining the financial
discipline necessary to weather potential economic volatility.

Sustainability Leadership

Sustainability remains at the core of our operations and innovation. In FY2025,
our sustainability achievements reached new milestones: six of our facilities
achieved Zero Waste to Landfill validation - three Platinum and three Gold
validated facilities across China, Malaysia, and VVietham. This demonstrates
that sustainable practices can be implemented without compromising
productivity or quality standards.

GP Batteries and its battery facilities earned “EcoPartner” recognition from
the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, while GP Batteries has received
the “Wastewi$e Certificate” and “Hong Kong Green Organization” by the
Environmental and Ecology Bureau of the Hong Kong SAR.

\We continue to increase the use of recycled materials and shift to paper-based
packaging, with over 80% of our battery packaging now utilizing recyclable
materials and over 10% recycled content used in select battery models. Our
Rechargeable Battery Business represents a significant advancement toward
sustainable industrial battery solutions, with our Ni-Zn technology achieving
over 90% recyclability.

With the Board’s full endorsement, we are committed to achieving net-
zero Scopes 1 and 2 carbon emissions by 2050, underpinned by progressive
investments in renewable energy across our global manufacturing footprint.
We secured a HK$556.0 million sustainability-linked loan facility that
provides financial incentives tied to our environmental performance targets,
demonstrating lender confidence in our sustainability commitments. In the year
ahead, we will translate this ambition into actionable plans by integrating ESG
targets into group-wide strategies and performance appraisals.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT conro

Looking Ahead

While the current global economic environment remains challenging, we
approach the future with measured confidence. Economic disruptions can
unlock new opportunities for economies with established manufacturing
capabilities, and strong regional connectivity will continue to be our strategic
advantages.

Our diversified manufacturing footprint across what the UN refers to as an
“increasingly multipolar” global commerce landscape helps us weather near-
term volatility while capturing long-term growth opportunities. Our strategic
investments in Ni-Zn manufacturing capabilities position us to capitalize on Al
and rapid growth of data centers with mass production anticipated from the
latter half of 2025.

Significant regional opportunities lie ahead. In Asia, rising middle-class
populations and lower per-capita battery consumption present substantial
growth potential. In Europe, despite economic headwinds, our best-value
positioning continues to resonate with price-conscious consumers seeking
quality alternatives to premium brands. In the Americas, where we achieved
21.2% growth in FY2025, expanding demand for loT devices and industrial
automation creates sustained opportunities for our wide battery portfolio.

The rechargeable battery market presents our most compelling growth
opportunity. The rapid expansion of Al and growth of data centers, with
demand projected to increase by 165% by 2030, creates robust demand
for safe, reliable backup power solutions. Our pioneering Ni-Zn technology
positions us uniquely to capture this high-value industrial market
transformation.

In our Audio Business, KEF’s strengthened U.S. retail partnerships and
expanding global network of experience centers provide a solid foundation for
sustained growth, even amid economic uncertainties. The global loudspeaker
market’s growth, driven by smart home adoption and premium audio demand,
aligns perfectly with our wireless music systems strategy. Our expanding
partnerships in the rapidly growing smart television segment, combined with
Celestion’s centennial heritage and planned entry into pro-sumer audio in
FY2026, open significant new revenue streams beyond traditional markets.
The automotive and home entertainment “Sound by KEF” partnerships -
exemplified by the award-winning Lotus collaboration and our global alliance
with Haier Smart Home - position us to capture high-growth segments where
premium audio is increasingly valued.

While we anticipate continued business challenges caused by volatilities in
geopolitics and the global economy, we remain confident in our ability to adapt
and thrive. \We will continue to focus on investing in technology and product
development, further develop our brands and drive for operational efficiencies.
Our commitment to sustainability and innovation will remain at the core of our
business strategy.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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Appreciation

Navigating these dynamic times requires dedication, agility, and collective
commitment. On behalf of the Board, | extend my sincere gratitude to
our management team and employees worldwide for their unwavering
commitment and adaptability in what has been a challenging yet productive
year. My fellow Board members deserve recognition for their wise counsel and
steadfast support during this period of strategic development.

To our customers, suppliers, bankers, and shareholders, thank you for your
continued confidence in the Group. Your partnership enables us to invest
in innovation, expand our capabilities, and create sustainable value even in
uncertain times.

As we look to the future, | am confident that our strong foundation, clear
strategy, strategic innovations, and exceptional team position Gold Peak not
only to navigate current global challenges but to emerge stronger and capture
the significant opportunities that lie ahead. \We remain committed to our vision
of “Powering A Greener Tomorrow” while delivering sustainable returns to our
stakeholders.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express our heartfelt
thanks to Mr Victor Chong for serving the Board for three years. At the same
time, we would like to welcome Mr Christopher Lau and Mr Joseph Leung to the
Board during FY2025.

Victor LO Chung Wing
Chairman and Chief Executive
24 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR EREEE A

Kevy Highlights for FY2025

The Group’s operating earnings improved significantly.

« Revenue increased by 5.8% to HK$6,851.3 million

« Gross profit margin improved 90 basis points to 29.4%

« Profit before finance costs and share of results of associates increased by
9.9% to HK$359.5 million

. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is HK$30.4 million

- Basic earnings per share is 2.9 HK cents.

« Gearing ratio improved to 0.98 (from 1.04)

« The Board proposed payment of a final dividend of 1.0 HK cent per share

« Total ordinary dividend for the year of 2.5 HK cents per share, representing
an 86.2% payout ratio

Business Segment Summary

. Battery Business: HK$4,838.6 million revenue (+6.8% vyear-on-year
(“YoY”)), margin improved to 25.0%

- Rechargeable Battery Business: HK$432.4 million revenue (+18.5% YoY),
margin improved to 17.2%

+ Audio Business: HK$1,580.3 million revenue (stable YoY), margin improved
by 300 basic points to 45.0%

Overview

The Group’s operating earnings improved significantly in the financial year
ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2025”), generating a revenue of HK$6,851.3 million,
an increase of 5.8% compared to that of the financial year ended 31 March
2024 (“FY2024"), despite challenging global economic conditions. The revenue
growth was driven by strong performances in key business segments, with
the Primary Battery Business increasing by 6.8%, the Rechargeable Battery
Business growing by 18.5%, and the Branded Audio Business rising by 7.0%.
Geographically, sales increased in the Americas and Asia while sales in Europe
declined.
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The Group’s gross profit margin improved significantly by 90 basis points from
28.5% in FY2024 to 29.4% in FY2025, attributed to enhanced product mix,
stricter cost control measures, and better timing in commodities purchases.
Selling and distribution expenses increased by HK$20.1 million or 2.4% to
HK$865.9 million, primarily due to higher advertising and promotion expenses
to strengthen brand awareness in the Battery Business. Administrative
expenses increased by HK$43.8 million or 5.4% to HK$855.9 million, primarily
due to increased operational costs and research and development expenses
for new generation rechargeable batteries, partially offset by cost savings from
operational efficiency enhancements and expense control measures since
FY2024.

Other Operating ltems

Other operating income and other gains in FY2025 amounted to HK$124.2
million. Key components included government grants of HK$45.6 million
(FY2024: HK$32.8 million), product development and tooling income of
HK$18.3 million (FY2024: HK$19.6 million), a one-off gain on de-registration
of a dormant Malaysia battery subsidiary of HK$11.6 million, interest income
of HK$9.3 million (FY2024: HK$15.8 million), and exchange gain of HK$19.2
million (FY2024: HK$9.2 million).

Other expenses and other losses in FY2025 stood at HK$58.9 million, primarily
comprising a provision for the Group’s restructuring of HK$25.0 million and
property, plant, and equipment written off of HK$22.1 million, mainly related
to the write-off of Zhongyin (Niingbo) Battery Co Ltd.s aging machinery and
equipment.

The Group’s profit before finance costs and share of associates’ results
increased by 9.9% to HK$359.5 million, primarily due to the improvement in
gross profit margin.

Upon the completion of distribution in specie for the Rechargeable
Manufacturing Business by GP Industries Limited to its shareholders in
January 2024, GP Energy Tech Limited (“GP Energy Tech”), now directly held
under Gold Peak Technology Group Limited, is focusing on industrial battery
markets. Together with critical power backup applications, such as batteries
and battery solutions used for uninterrupted power supply (UPS) for the
rapidly expanding data center market, the business is classified as a new
reportable and operating segment, “Rechargeable Battery Business”, in our
financial statements disclosure to give investors a clearer understanding of its

performance for FY2025.
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The Group’s total share of attributable loss and impairment loss of XIC
Innovation Limited (“XIC Innovation”, together with its subsidiaries “XIC
Group”) for FY2024 was HK$408.7 million. The Group has no such loss in
FY2025 after reclassifying XIC Innovation as equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“OCl”) as of 31 March 2024. Any
change in the related fair value will not affect the profit or loss of the Group

since then.

Shareholder Returns

Profit attributable to equity holders for FY2025 was at HK$30.4 million,
translating to basic earnings per share of 2.9 Hong Kong cents based on the
weighted average of 915,226,359 shares in issue. The Board has proposed
a final dividend of 1.0 Hong Kong cent per share. Combined with the interim
dividend of 1.5 Hong Kong cents per share, this results in a full-year dividend
of 2.5 Hong Kong cents per share. This represents a payout ratio of 86.2%,
demonstrating the Group’s commitment to rewarding shareholders while

maintaining funds for future growth opportunities.
Battery Business
Performance Overview

The Battery Business, including sales of primary batteries and GP-branded
batteries, recorded revenue of HK$4,838.6 million in FY2025, an increase of
6.8% compared to FY2024, mainly driven by increased demand for cylindrical

battery and coin button cell products.

Geographically, the Americas recorded strong growth of 21.2%, driven
by specialty and industrial battery applications; Asia increased by 7.9%,
supported by both consumer and specialty batteries segments; while Europe
decreased by 4.8%, impacted by economic headwinds affecting consumer

spending.

The gross profit margin of the Battery Business improved from 24.6% in
FY2024 to 25.0% in FY2025, driven by lower commodity costs, improvement
in product mix, and enhanced factories utilization. The improvement in revenue
and gross profit significantly contributed to the increased profit contribution
from the Battery Business in FY2025.
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Other Operating ltems

In FY2025, the Group recognized a one-off gain of HK$11.6 million on the
de-registration of a dormant Malaysia battery subsidiary. During FY2024,
the Group reversed an impairment loss of HK$45.3 million related to the
40%-owned AZ Limited, and the share of the land disposal gain amounted
to HK$23.3 million from Changzhou Lithium Batteries Limited, an indirect
associate of the Group.

Market Conditions and Competitive Landscape

The rapid expansion of Internet of Things (“loT”) and smart home technologies
presents significant growth opportunities for our battery portfolio, particularly
coin cells and specialty batteries. This expansion is driving unprecedented
demand for compact, long-lasting power solutions across diverse applications,

including smart locks, sensors, wearables, and connected health devices.

Americas

The Americas market represents a strategic growth area for our specialty
battery portfolio, with revenue increasing by 15.8% in FY2025. Unlike our
consumer battery strategy focused on Asia and Europe, our Americas
presence targets high-value industrial and loT applications where technical
specifications and reliability command premium pricing. The region’s robust
demand for coin cells and specialty batteries is driven by the expanding
loT ecosystem, medical devices, and industrial automation. Our established
relationships with OEM customers and distributors and our reputation for
quality and consistency position us well to capture continued growth in
these specialized segments where competition is less price-sensitive than in

consumer markets.
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Europe

The Russia-Ukraine war continues to significantly impact the European
economy, contributing to a slower recovery from COVID-19, the energy and
cost-of-living crisis, and supply chain disruptions. Inflation spiked due to rising
energy prices, prompting interest rate hikes by the European Central Bank.
Although inflation is moderating, the economic outlook remains uncertain, with

the risk of recession and sluggish growth looming.

Such conditions present challenges and opportunities for GP’s consumer
battery business. While the cost-of-living crisis undoubtedly impacts
discretionary spending, our comprehensive product portfolio, ranging from
value-driven Carbon Zinc batteries to premium Alkaline and specialty
batteries, enables us to serve diverse consumer needs across all price
segments. Given its strong brand recognition, consistent quality, and
competitive pricing compared to global premium brands, GP’s consumer
batteries are well-positioned to meet the needs of both value-conscious
consumers and those seeking high-performance solutions.

Asia

The Asia-Pacific region continues to lead global growth in [oT and smart
home adoption, China, Japan, and South Korea are at the forefront of this
transformation, driven by rapid urbanization, rising disposable income, and
strong consumer enthusiasm for connected technologies. The region’s loT
device base is creating substantial demand for coin cells and specialty
batteries across applications ranging from smart health monitors to home

automation systems.

This technological revolution presents compelling opportunities for GP’s
battery portfolio. Our long-established manufacturing and distribution
presence across key Asian markets provides significant competitive
advantages in serving this rapidly expanding demand. As Asian consumers
increasingly adapt smart home ecosystems, the need for reliable, affordable
battery solutions is projected to increase substantially. GP’s comprehensive
range - from affordable Carbon Zinc to premium Alkaline - resonates
particularly well with the region’s diverse consumer base. Our extensive
retail partnerships ensure product availability across both traditional and
e-commerce channels, where smart device purchases increasingly occur.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

B

BEHFHEHBRNRCBELEAFE  BH
COVID-19ME R ERZIE - B EMEFHAESR
Ul RIS - R REIRER LIk - BIRE
o REBMNFRBITRESFNE - BEBRAM
BN REASNATEE  RREBMERZ
NRREMAFI

ELBERNAGPHEEE EMER TR T BB
B BELTRAREERSE T IXERXY
EM2ENERAS  HREREONRESHE
SEMNBESHIFESD - FRMEHRET
BERNSHRLEERER - GPRENBRAER
E BENRERB2HSHREEAFRIMEN
EE SHHEBESHUTREERBRLEEE
MNERSUEBRAENEFERLTE AR
M IBEN

EED)

DAMEBRESIERRYBRANERRENE
R PE - BAMBERENLH AR - JXE
WABRRHEBEHEERMNWAUEZR » ©F
LR SR LR AR BRI o SRNE YR A B
WREHEEREENRIXEEDLLRARERE
A HENAEMNSESMELREATR -

BREVHEE - HPIRAUREEMNERHHHRE
MOHENRAERHEREZRFRER/TEED
BREEZ  BEMRBSDNEBEBREER
BERRES  HUFEERAENEMBRE R
WEREFHERIRIEM - GPHEZEERRS - £
HENBRESHISENREEM  HRFEZ
WESECKEEEER - BERABERL &
MEZNEZERHASRRERTERNETSD
BREHERE -

30



Rechargeable Battery Business
Performance Overview

The revenue of the Rechargeable Battery Business (excluding GP branded
rechargeable batteries) for FY2025 was HK$432.4 million, an increase
of 18.5% compared to FY2024. The increase was mainly attributed to a
rise in demand from industrial customers. In geographical terms, sales to
the Americas, Europe, and Asia increased by 55.4%, 13.0%, and 14.4%,
respectively.

Gross profit margin increased from 15.0% in FY2024 to 17.2% in FY2025,
mainly due to enhanced operational efficiency and lower material costs from
RMIB depreciation.

The increase in revenue and enhanced operational efficiency contributed to
increased profitability of the Rechargeable Battery Business in FY2025.

Market Conditions and Competitive Landscape

GP Energy Tech, the Group’s rechargeable battery division, has developed
proprietary Nickel-Zinc (“Ni-Zn") battery technology specifically engineered
for industrial battery solution applications, representing a strategic expansion
into high-growth industrial battery markets distinct from our traditional
consumer battery business. The convergence of artificial intelligence (“Al”)
proliferation and digital infrastructure expansion is driving unprecedented
demand for such applications. Goldman Sachs Research projects global data
center power demand will surge by 50% by 2027 and escalate to 165% by
2030 when compared to 2023 levels, with Al workloads representing the
primary growth catalyst. Al's share of global data center power consumption is
forecast to nearly double from 14% currently (approximately 8 GW) to 27% by
2027 (approximately 23 GW), creating exponential demand for critical backup

power solutions.

Beyond data centers, large-scale energy storage requirements are
accelerating across industrial segments, including telecommunications
infrastructure, manufacturing facilities, and grid-scale installations. The global
industrial battery market is experiencing robust expansion as enterprises
prioritize Uninterruptible Power Supply reliability and grid independence amid
increasing energy costs and supply volatility. The safety concerns of Lithium-
ion batteries, including thermal runaway risks and complex fire suppression
requirements, are driving demand for inherently safer and non-flammable

alternatives that maintain comparable performance characteristics.
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The stringent safety and sustainability requirements of next-generation Al-
dedicated data facilities align precisely with Ni-Zn battery advantages:
inherent non-flammability, high power density, less floor space requirement,
and superior recyclability, hence making it a value-driven sustainable battery
solution alternative. Ni-Zn batteries deliver over 90% recyclability through
established recovery process. This sustainability advantage addresses
growing ESG mandates as data center operators seek environmentally
responsible solutions without compromising operational performance.

The Asia-Pacific region represents exceptionally strategic growth
opportunities for GP Energy Tech’s Ni-Zn battery technology. Major
technology enterprises, including Google, Amazon, and regional BigTech
leaders such as Tencent, are rapidly expanding data center operations
across Southeast Asia, with Malaysia’s Johor region emerging as a major

infrastructure hub.

Strategic Expansion and Industry Leadership

The Group has accelerated its strategic expansion through focused
investments targeting high-growth industrial markets. In February 2025, Gold
Peak announced an intent as regards a landmark US$150 million investment
intent in the Johor-Singapore Special Economic Zone to establish a state-of-
the-art Nickel-Zinc battery manufacturing facility and advanced R&D center.
This investment signifies GP Energy Tech to serve the rapidly expanding
Southeast Asian data center and industrial energy storage markets with locally
manufactured solutions. The phased investment plan anticipates pilot line

production commencing from the latter half of 2025.

In March 2025, the Group strengthened its domestic capabilities through a
Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement with the Dongguan Investment
Promotion Bureau. It established Dongguan as our integrated development
base for sustainable energy solutions within China’s growing industrial energy
storage sector. This dual-hub strategy enables optimized market access
across Asia-Pacific’s most dynamic growth regions.

GP Energy Tech has recently achieved a significant industry milestone by
becoming the first Asian company to join the reputable Zinc Battery Initiative
(ZBl), a program of the International Zinc Association. This validates our
technological leadership and market positioning within the global sustainable
battery ecosystem.
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Audio Business
Brand Performance

The Audio Business recorded revenue of HK$1,580.3 million in FY2025, stable
compared to FY2024.

While the market segment is seeing a double-digit decline, KEF’s sales
increased by 7.0%, with sales in the Americas increasing by 12.3% and sales in

Asia increasing by 5.0%. Sales in Europe declined by 0.6%.

Celestion’s professional speaker driver business grew by 7.2%, with
sales in the Americas, Europe and Asia increased by 10.4%, 5.6% and
7.1% respectively. The brand’s centennial year momentum bolstered this
performance. Celestion celebrated its 100th anniversary in 2024 with the
launch of the commemorative Celestion 100 retro guitar speaker, inspired by
the original designs that powered rock and roll legends including The Beatles
and Queen. The guitar speaker category demonstrated particular strength with
21% growth as the market stabilized post-COVID, contributing significantly to
Celestion’s overall performance.

The Professional Audio Manufacturing segment’s 13.4% decline in external
customer revenue reflects our strategic decision to allocate more production
capacity to the KEF and Celestion brands while some external professional
audio customers are projecting weak demand due to the challenging market
conditions. This shift, however, enhances overall Group profitability and
operational focus. Notably, our commitment to operational excellence was
recognized when our electronics and acoustics factories in Huizhou, China, and
Nakhon Pathom, Thailand, jointly received a “Quality at Source Award” from

Fender, a major long-term customer of the Group.
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Market Conditions and Competitive Landscape
Market Conditions

The global loudspeaker market demonstrates robust growth potential. This
expansion is driven by the convergence of smart home technology adoption,
rising disposable incomes in emerging markets, and increasing consumer
demand for premium audio experiences across multiple touchpoints, from
home entertainment to automotive applications. The proliferation of streaming
services and high-resolution audio content further accelerates market growth,
as consumers seek hardware that delivers superior sound quality.

The market is experiencing a fundamental shift toward wireless and smart
speaker solutions, with the standard loudspeaker segment maintaining
dominance, while smart speakers are projected to grow. This evolution aligns
perfectly with KEF’s strategic focus on wireless music systems and connected
audio solutions. North America remains the largest market where KEF has
established a strong retail presence, while Asia Pacific is expected to be
the fastest-growing region, validating our expansion strategy through new
experience centers in Tokyo, London, Chengdu, and Beijing.

Consumer preferences are increasingly sophisticated, with growing demand
for high-fidelity audio systems that combine superior acoustic performance
with seamless connectivity and aesthetic design. This trend is particularly
pronounced in the premium segment, where KEF competes, as consumers
view high-end audio systems as lifestyle investments rather than mere
electronics purchases. The automotive audio segment presents exceptional
growth opportunities, with luxury vehicle manufacturers increasingly
partnering with premium audio brands to differentiate their offerings, a trend

evidenced by our successful collaboration with Lotus Technology Inc.

The market’s resilience in the professional audio segment is evidenced by
strong performance in key segments despite broader market challenges. The
guitar speaker category, a cornerstone of Celestion’s business, demonstrated
robust recovery with 21% growth as live music venues reopened and
musicians resumed touring post-pandemic. This resurgence in live
performance, combined with sustained home recording demand established
during COVID-19, creates a favorable environment for both professional
and prosumer audio equipment. Our manufacturing flexibility across the UK,
Thailand, and China positions us optimally to serve these recovering markets
while navigating evolving trade dynamics.
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Strategic Initiatives

The Group is executing a multi-faceted growth strategy to strengthen KEF’s
position as a global premium audio leader and expand Celestion’s reach
beyond professional markets. Central to this strategy is the rapid expansion
of KEF brand experience centers, which serve as immersive touchpoints for
consumers to discover our acoustic innovations. Following the successful
launch of our KEF Music Gallery in Tokyo’s high-end Aoyama district in 2023,
we accelerated our retail presence in FY2025 with the opening of KEF Music
Studio Chengdu and our global flagship KEF Music Gallery London. Additional
experience centers across China will further solidify our presence in key
strategic markets where affluent consumers seek premium audio experiences.

Strategic brand partnerships are driving significant value creation and market
expansion. Our collaboration with Haier Smart Home’s luxury brand Casarte
introduces KEF’s acoustic excellence to high-end television systems under
the “SOUND BY KEF” label, with international rollout planned across multiple
TV models. This partnership positions us strategically within the global smart
television market, which is projected to reach US$451.26 billion by 2030, as
premium, integrated audio becomes a key differentiator for consumers. The
partnership with Lotus Technology Inc. has yielded exceptional results, with
the Lotus Eletre electric vehicle featuring the KEF Reference audio system
winning the prestigious EISA Award for Best In-Car OEM Premium Audio
System 2024-2025, displacing a European combination that held the title
for three consecutive years. This collaboration extends to Lotus’s innovative
Theory 1 concept car, where KEF co-designed revolutionary binaural
audio headrests, demonstrating our capability to pioneer next-generation

automotive audio experiences.

Distribution expansion remains a key priority, with KEF achieving strong
brand status in the U.S. home speaker market through premium placement
with leading big-box electronic retailers across nearly 500 outlets. Our
strengthened partnerships with major U.S. retailers provide unparalleled
access to American consumers. In parallel, Celestion is preparing to leverage
its centennial heritage by launching its first pro-sumer audio system in FY 2026,
creating a new growth vector that capitalizes on the brand’s legendary
reputation among audio enthusiasts while opening doors to the broader pro-
sumer market.
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Innovation continues to drive market differentiation across our audio brands.
Celestion’s centennial year was marked by heritage celebrations and
significant technological advancement with the commissioning of a new U.K.
production line dedicated to manufacturing the TSQ range of large-format
premium professional audio speakers. The flagship TSQ 24 inches woofer has
generated significant market interest, demonstrating Celestion’s ability to
leverage its century of expertise to meet evolving professional audio demands.
This U.K. manufacturing expansion also provides strategic tariff flexibility,
complementing our Thailand production capabilities to ensure uninterrupted

service to global markets regardless of trade policy changes.

Profitability

Bolstered by an optimized product mix and an increased proportion of higher-
margin branded acoustics products, the Audio Business saw its gross profit
margin increase significantly by 300 basis points, reaching 45.0% compared
to FY2024. The rise in profitability in FY2025 was attributed to both enhanced

product mix and revenue growth.

Other Industrial Investments

This business segment primarily comprises the Group’s investments in
Meiloon Industrial Co,, Ltd. (“Meiloon”), Shinwa Industries (H.K) Limited and
Wisefull Technology Limited (“Wisefull”). The profit contribution from these
investments increased from HK$34.1 million for FY2024 to HK$44.7 million
for FY2025, primarily driven by improved performance in the share of results of

Meiloon and Wisefull.

XIC Group Status

The Company’s 39.13% indirect equity interest in XIC Innovation, which was
HK$267.8 million as of 31 March 2024, was classified as equity instruments at
fair value through OCI. Since then, any fair value changes of XIC Group will be
recognised in OCI and will not affect the Group’s profit or loss.

Based on the valuation report prepared by an independent external valuer, the
carrying amount of the Company’s interest in XIC Innovation as at 31 March
2025 was fully impaired, after considering the additional impairment on certain
assets of XIC Group based on updated information obtained up to the date of
the final results announcement, and a fair value loss of HK$267.8 million was
recognized in OCI of the Group during FY2025.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

EEFENAFEDRMNSERMENTSED -
CelestionW B FEHEZEEANRMES - £
RERATHEESR  EFRETSQRIIMNAE
BnEXRTEEER - HETSQ 24MEZFHEER
25T mEHNEZEE - BRCelestionF| A
BFEEXARMETH R CNEXTETRNEE
h e EERRAEEERFREBIEBESENE
EM S ERENEERBEEER  BRERE
SRS - METBEBREZIRTE -

BFIEED

ERCLERASENSENRESTEERLHIN
TET  FEEBNERNREEREAS00EEEZ
45.0% @ BRI ERIEZEANERBAESHER
ERERT -

Hitn TEIRE

HEBTEEEEBNEETEROBRAA ([
B BUIXRARABDVREENHZBERAE (B
ERR]) 2RE - HEBBAEMBEFEN
3410BEBTIRERFEL 47088 TERAAH
XEMEENZOERDEARE °

KA RIE AR

20245 3A 318 - AABFTFZERIAI39.13%
BERECIRER2.678FBT - ZEERBER
AFESAHMEERSNRATA o 1t
ZEMAIEENEMATESDESEAMEE
WEFER  TEHEAEEESR -

RIZ\ L SMERRT (AN (G ERE - R 20255 38
31H AR FEZEM AN REREED 280
B WXBEZEETERBEAFEXREAMA
ESNEmEREEARASEELEENEL
BE - AEEEAFERR2.678RB TN A FE
B8 WHAHEEYE

30



Operational Sustainability Excellence

The Group’s commitment to sustainable manufacturing achieved another
landmark milestone. Following our two Malaysian battery facilities in Tampoi
and Senai became the first in Malaysia to receive UL’s Zero \Waste to Landfill
(“ZWTL”) Platinum validation in December 2023, the plant in Dongguan, China
also gained the Platinum recognition in March 2025. This validation requires
100% waste diversion from landfills, represents the highest achievement in the
Z\WTL program, and demonstrates the feasibility of zero-waste manufacturing

at an industrial scale.

Our journey to Platinum validation showcases continuous improvement in
environmental performance. Starting with Silver validation in 2019 (90-94%
diversion), progressing to Gold (95-99% diversion), and ultimately achieving
Platinum status (100% diversion). These facilities have implemented
comprehensive waste management strategies, including enhanced recycling
programs, battery scrap reduction initiatives, and robust waste segregation
systems. Employee engagement through awareness campaigns has been
crucial in fostering a culture of environmental responsibility throughout our
operations.

This achievement is part of our broader sustainability strategy across our
manufacturing network. Currently, a total of six of our facilities have achieved
Z\WTL validation: apart from the three Platinum-validated plants mentioned
above, there are three facilities which have gained Gold validation in China
(Dongguan), Malaysia (Tebrau), and Vietham. These validated facilities
represent a significant portion of our global battery production capacity,
demonstrating that sustainable practices can be implemented without
compromising productivity or quality standards. The operational learnings from

these facilities are being applied across our entire manufacturing network.
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Capital Resource and Liquidity of the Group
Capital Base Strengthening Initiatives

During FY2025, the Group strengthened its capital base through several
key initiatives: (i) GP Industries issuing perpetual subordinated bonds of
an aggregate principal amount of US$11,000,000 (HK$85.0 million); (ii)
transferring specific portion of industrial complex and vacant land and
buildings of the Group’s unused factories located in China with carrying
amount of HK$420.0 million to investment properties, recognizing a
revaluation gain net of deferred tax of HK$139.7 million in OCI; and (iii)
enhancing the earnings with the profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for FY2025 of HK$30.4 million. The total positive effect of these
measures on the net assets of the Group for FY2025 was HK$255.1 million.

Financial Position

During FY2025, the Group secured a 3-year sustainability-linked loan facility
of S$70 million (HK$406.0 million) with Malayan Banking Berhad (Maybank).
At 31 March 2025, the Group’s net current liabilities were HK$159.4 million
(FY2024: HK$17.5 million).

The increase in net current liabilities was due mainly to the increase in loans
repayable within one year after reclassification of non-current loans to current
liabilities, the funding of capital expenditures, and the repayment of term loans

and loan interest with cash and short-term borrowings.

Considering the Group’s internally generated funds and available banking
facilities, the Group has sufficient resources to settle its current liabilities as

they become due.

The Group’s gearing ratio, defined as the ratio of the Group’s consolidated net
bank borrowings to shareholders’ funds and non-controlling interests, was
0.98 at 31 March 2025 compared to 1.04 at 31 March 2024. The current ratio,
calculated as the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was 0.96 at 31
March 2025 (FY2024: 1.00).
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Outlook

Global economic conditions remain challenging, with highly uncertain
macroeconomic and environmental challenges, including persistent
inflationary pressures, high interest rates, and geopolitical uncertainties.
Rapidly changing import tariffs of the U.S. have negatively impacted global
consumer spending and strained the Group’s near-term earnings. Despite
these pressures, the Group has demonstrated resilience. Our diversified
manufacturing footprint across Southeast Asia positions us to weather current
trade disruptions more effectively than competitors heavily reliant on single-
country production.

Our exposure to China-U.S. trade conflicts remains manageable, with
approximately 13% of our global revenue derived from products directly
exported from China to the U.S. based on recent years’ averages. Although the
recent 90-day pause on the 145% China tariff is now said to be permanent,
Fitch Ratings notes that “US-China tariff de-escalation does not signal trade
normalization”. The U.S. effective tariff rate remains significantly higher than
that in 2024, underscoring the importance of our geographically diversified
operations.

To address these uncertainties, the Group continues to monitor tariff
developments closely while implementing several strategic initiatives. \We
are further enhancing production capacity in Southeast Asia to serve global
markets, optimizing our China facilities primarily for Asian and European
customers. The UN’s projection of persistent inflation at 3.6% globally in
2025 also validates our GP brand’s comprehensive product portfolio, ranging
from value-driven Carbon Zinc batteries to premium Alkaline solutions, as
consumers seek quality products across all price segments. Our commitment
to sustainable growth is further evidenced by the S$70 million (equivalent to
HK$406.0 million) sustainability-linked loan facility secured with Maybank,
which provides financial incentives tied to our environmental performance

targets.
In the Battery Business, our consumer battery portfolio is well-positioned

to benefit from households’ increased price sensitivity amid cost-of-living

pressures.
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In the Rechargeable Battery Business, the Group’s pioneering leadership in
Ni-Zn technology for data center and large-scale UPS backup applications
positions us strategically to capitalize on rapidly expanding market demand.
Our announced strategic investments in Malaysia and China manufacturing
facilities will provide the production capacity and geographic positioning

needed to serve these high-growth industrial markets.

In the Audio Business, KEF’s expanded partnerships with leading U.S. retailers
provide stable distribution channels despite market volatility. Celestion’s
planned introduction of its first pro-sumer audio system in the financial year
ending 31 March 2026 (“FY2026") opens new growth avenues, leveraging over

100 vears of professional audio excellence.

Assets Optimization

The Group intends to accelerate divestment of non-core assets, including
vacant land and unused factories in China. If property market conditions
are unfavorable, the Group will generate rental income before completing
disposals. This initiative will strengthen the Group’s net asset position, secure

deleveraging targets, and provide additional financial flexibility.

Summary

While the UN warns that “downside risks dominate” the global outlook, with
potential for further growth deterioration if trade conflicts persist, we approach
the future with measured confidence and enter FY2026 with considerable

momentum.

By maintaining financial discipline, focusing on innovation, and leveraging our
diversified manufacturing capabilities and footprint, adaptable supply chain,
and strong market position, the Group remains well-positioned to navigate
these challenging times while continuing to deliver long-term value to all

stakeholders.

Brian LI Yiu Cheung
Vice Chairman and Executive Vice President
24 June 2025
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EVENTS & ACHIEVEMENTS
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In February 2025, the Company submitted a Letter of Intent to invest
approximately US$150 million for setting up a cutting-edge Nickel-Zinc
battery manufacturing facility and R&D centre in the Johor-Singapore Special
Economic Zone (JS-SEZ) in Malaysia for the expansion of its sustainable
energy solution business.

The Group received “BDA Brand Award 2025 - Grand Award of the Year” from
the Hong Kong Designers Association, which recognizes our commitment to

brands, design, innovation, and sustainability.

Environmental, Social and Governance

GP Batteries has secured the EcoVVadis COMMITTED Badge.

A factory in Thailand under GP Electronics & Acoustics Co,, Ltd. received
“Green Industry Level 2 - Green Activity” certificate from the Department of
Industrial \Works, Thailand.

A battery factory in Dongguan, China was upgraded to Platinum Validation
of UL Zero Waste to Landfill Platinum, following 2 battery plants in Malaysia
attaining Platinum Validation last year.

GP Batteries and 2 factories in China were named “EcoPartners” of the
BOCHK Corporate Low-Carbon Environmental Leadership Awards by
Federation of Hong Kong Industries.

GP Batteries was presented the “Wastewi$e Certificate - Good Level” and
recognized as a “Hong Kong Green Organization” by Environmental Campaign
Committee, HKSAR for its achievements in multiple environmental aspects,
particularly in reducing waste, energy, air emission, noise impact and carbon

footprint.

GP Batteries was awarded “100% HK Branding Award - Greater Bay Area
ESG Sustainable Corporate Award” organized by Greater China Association
of Branding Industry to recognize its continued efforts in advancing ESG

practices to achieve sustainable development.

Two battery factories in China and Malaysia have gained “ESG Award for
Safety Culture - Silver Award” while other 2 battery factories in Malaysia
and Vietnam were presented “Bronze Award” by Institute of Safety & Health

Practitioners.
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Brands, Products and Collaborations

The flagship KEF Music Gallery London and KEF Gallery Beijing were opened
in June and November 2024 respectively to further expand the global brand
presence. KEF Music Gallery London was honored as “2024 CEDIA Smart
Home Awards: Highly Commended Best Showroom/Experience Centre - KEF
& Nucleus AV” by CEDIA.

Lotus Eletre with KEF Reference Audio System, the co-brand partnership
between Lotus and KEF, was acclaimed as “EISA In-Car OEM Premium Audio
System 2024-2025" by EISA, UK.

KEF LS50 Meta was named “Best Standmount Speaker £ 800-1000", while
LS50 Wireless Il and LSX Il LT were named “Best Speaker System £ 1500-

3000” and “Best Speaker System £ 750-1500" respectively at What Hi-Fi?
Awards 2024 by What Hi-Fi? Sound & Vision, UK.

KEF Reference 5 Meta, LS50 Meta and LS60 Wireless were presented “Hi-Fi+
Loudspeaker Hall of Fame Awards” by HiFi Plus, UK.

The “Alkaline 21” promotion campaign by GP Battery Marketing (HK) Limited

has been recognized with 8 awards:

. DigiZ Awards 2024, HK: Gold Award for “Best Digital Marketing
Strategy”, and 2 Bronze Awards for “Best Influencer Strategy” and “Best

MarTech Team”

. Brand Marketing Awards 2024, China: Gold Award for “Conversion

Optimization” and Bronze Award for “Integrated Marketing”
. Golden Flag Award, China: Gold Award in “Entertainment Marketing”

. Digital Media Awards 2024, China: Silver Award in “Best Use of Integration”

. SHIAF Awards 2024, China: Bronze Award for “Scenario Marketing”
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGREEE

Executive Directors

PITES

Victor LO Chung Wing aged 74 BN 74

GBM, GBS, OBE, JP GBIM, GBS, OBE » X4+
Chairman and Chief Executive FEFREH

Executive Director HITESE

First appointment as Chairman and Director BREZEEEERES

30 June 1977 (appointed Director)
1 April 1990 (appointed Chairman)

Last re-election as Director
15 September 2022

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)
47 years and 11 months

Board Committee(s) served on
Nomination Committee (Chairman)

Remuneration Committee (MMember)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)

Bachelor of Science in Product Design, the Institute of
Design of lllinois Institute of Technology, U.S.

Honorary Doctorate, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Present directorships in other listed companies

GP Industries (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

None

Other principal commitments

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Court (Honorary Chairman)

PMQ Management Company Ltd (Director)

Culture Commission of Culture, Sports and Tourism Bureau of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (Member)

1977%6H 308 (EFHFEH)
199048 18 (FEHFLE)

LREEES
2022%9H 15H

EEESTH (#2025%6H 24H)
47F 118 A
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FMEEE HS)

BEEREEER
XEFNFEISRERRESEL
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BRNEM ETATHEES
GPI ¥ (FE#F#E)

BESFAREMEHTATHEES

Hitt =W

BRETARBBEHESS KELR)

TRISEERRATE EF)

ERBERALBERKRERILEZES
Z8)

Background and other working experience
Mr Lo is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of GP Batteries. He is also
the Chairman of GPETI and KGG.
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Brian LI Yiu Cheung aged 71

FIEE 715

DBA DBA

Vice Chairman and Executive Vice President BIEERMITEIEH
Executive Director HITESE

First appointment as Director BREEES

21 April 2015 2015% 48 21H

Last re-election as Director EREREE

27 September 2023 2023% 94 27H

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

10 years and 2 months

Board Committee(s) served on

Sustainability Steering Committee (Co-Chairman)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)

Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering,
The University of British Columbia, Canada

Master in Global Business with Dean’s Honour,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Doctor of Business Administration degree,
City University of Hong Kong

Honorary fellow, City University of Hong Kong

Fellow of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers

Present directorships in other listed companies
GP Industries (Executive Vice President and

Executive Director)

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

None
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Other principal commitments

Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association (Executive \ice Chairman)

Hith F =S
BEBETXERE FHAER)

Background and other working experience

Dr Li is a Director of GPETI and KGG. He has been engaging in the electronic
engineering and manufacturing industry internationally and in China for over
45 years. He is a council member of the Hong Kong Electronics Industry
Council of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries and a member of the
followings:

- The Co-operative Education Centre of City University of Hong Kong

- The Advisory Committee for the Department of Electronic Engineering of

The Chinese University of Hong Kong
- The Industrial Advisory Committee for the Department of Industrial
Engineering and Decision Analytics of The Hong Kong University of

Science and Technology

- The Electronic and Information Engineering Programme Board of Hong
Kong Institute of \Vocational Education
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT conro)
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Michael LAM Hin Lap aged 63 MBI 633
Managing Director EEIAETE
Executive Director PITEE

First appointment as Director BEREXES

1 April 2019 2019%F 48 1R

Last re-election as Director ErREEES

27 September 2023 2023%F 94 27H

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

6 years and 2 months

Board Committee(s) served on

Sustainability Steering Committee (Co-Chairman)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)
Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering,
The University of New South \Wales, Australia

Present directorships in other listed companies

GP Industries (Vice Chairman, Executive \/ice President and
Executive Director)

Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company (Chairman)

Meiloon Industrial Co., Ltd. (Authorised representative of a director
(Famingo Pte Ltd))

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

BIETESTH (20255 6H 24R)
6% 2{E A

HEESRZESE
URERRBEREE BELE)

BEREEER

BN ERET ASSRITREL
HRREM EHARHEIES

GPI¥ GTEE - FIEERIITHEE)
Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company (%£/£)
EXEIXRODERLR EERENE

(Famingo Pte Ltd))

BESFAREM LT ATHIEES

None i

Other principal commitments Hitt EZR
None i
Background and other working experience Hith & FE

Mr Lam is the Director and Co-President of GP Batteries. Mir Lam first joined
the Group in 2001 and was transferred to a global energy management group
following the disposal of the Group’s electrical business in 2007. He re-joined
the Group in 2014.
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Waltery LAW Wang Chak

FCCA,FCPA,CIA

aged 62

ELO 3 3 e
ELE e2m
FCCA,FCPA,CIA

Group Chief Financial Officer EEY AR
Group Chief Risk Officer EEEBEELH
Executive Director PITEF

First appointment as Director BHRERES

1 July 2021 20214 78 18

Last re-election as Director EREEARAES

2 September 2024 2024 9H 2H

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

3years and 11 months

Board Committee(s) served on

Sustainability Steering Committee (Member)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)

Bachelor of Science (Economics) and Master in Financial Economics, London
School of Economics and Political Science, University of London, UK

Certified internal auditor, the Institute of Internal Auditors

Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales

Present directorships in other listed companies

RITESTH (#2025 6H 24H)
3F11MEA

HEEEREEE
URHERRBEZEE (KS)
BEREEER
RERBRBRABE
MR £
BRBAMETE QNS EIMAILEED
BHARSFHAE BESHAQEN
REMREBH ST EMHEEREE

BEBREBELTR

BREREM EHARHEIES

GP Industries (Executive Director, CFO, CRO and Senior \/ice President, GPI¥ GITEE  HHKEH  EREEED
Finance and Corporate Development) REUBRPEZRSREEER)

Meiloon Industrial Co,, Ltd.(Authorised representative of a director EXBRTITHEROBERLT EFEEAE
(Famingo Pte Ltd)) (Famingo Pte Ltd))

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years  BESFANEM EHATHEIES

None i3

Other principal commitments Hih = ZHH

None i3

Background and other working experience HitE =

Mr Law is a Director of GP Batteries, GPETI and KGG. Mr Law has over 35 ZEHhEHBEILEM - GPEEFRRHLBERE R KGG

years of experience in global fund raising and floatation exercises, mergers and
acquisitions, corporate financial advisory, corporate restructuring, investors
relations, financial due diligence, and financial audit.

SIBHRIEERLF —O—ME-O=—RFFH

B - b ERBBER LT - 6118 - DERE
B oX54 REERRF - UBERES
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT conro)

EENSREEREW

Christopher LAU Kwan aged 45

Senior Advisor to Chairman, Global Strategies

BI85 45

TEEAREBE GRBERE)

Executive Director HITESE
First appointment as Director BEREXES

1 April 2024 2024% 48 1H
Last re-election as Director ERERRES
2 September 2024 2024%9H 2H

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

1year and 2 months

Board Committee(s) served on

None

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)
Bachelor of Science in Accounting and Finance, Stern School of Business,
New York University, US.

Present directorships in other listed companies

None

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years
eCargo Holdings Limited (NMon-Executive Director)

GP Industries (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Other principal commitments
Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association (Director)

15th Nanjing Political Consultative Conferences of China (Member)

Economic Affairs Committee, HKCPPCC (Provincial) Members Association
(Vice-chair)

Nanjing (H.K) Association (Vice-president)

Programme and Fundraising Committee, The Dragon Foundation
(Vice-chair)

Hong Kong Baptist University (Honorary Court Member)

Hong Kong Academy of Ice Hockey (Director)

BIETESTH (20255 6H 24R)
1528 A

HEEERESE
EEREEER
EEBNARBLEHERETREMEL

REREM LT ATHEES
im

BESFAREMETARHIES

RLEHERATE GEHITES)
GPI¥ BUHHITES)

Hitt EZ MK

EEPELAONS 22)

TEARBAHEERERTEIEEES
ZE5)

BEARBHEEHESRERZSS
(BHEEE)

BRERRE (FEFER)

EEESTBNERZET FIE)

BRRERBHERG REZS)
HEEBIKBINRER (RE)

Background and other working experience

Mr Lau is a Director of GP Batteries and managing director of XK Capital
Limited. Mr Lau has over 15 years’ leadership experience in corporate finance,
shipping, logistics and e-commerce technology.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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Joseph LEUNG aged 64 RZHE e
Executive Director PITEF

First appointment as Director BHRERES

1 January 2025 202518 1H

Last re-election as Director EREEAES

NLA. TEH

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

5 months

Board Committee(s) served on

Sustainability Steering Committee (Member)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)

Bachelor of Science degree in Economics and Master of Science in Business
Administration (Marketing), both from V/irginia Polytechnic Institute and
State University, U.S.

Present directorships in other listed companies

Farcent Enterprises Co., Ltd (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

Lam Soon (Hong Kong ) Limited (Executive Director)

RITES{TH (#2025 6H 24H)
58 A

HEEERESE
URHERRBEEEE (KS)

EEREXER
ZESYRTETEREMNIABRBREE+
RIFEE (MHE) |t

BREREM EHARHEIES

AL FEERDERDE BUHHTES)

BESFAREM ETARHEES
MIE (B8 BRLR GTES)

Other principal commitments Hith = ZHH
None i
Background and other working experience HitE =

Mr Leung is the Senior Advisor to Chairman, Organization & Global Strategies
of GP Industries Limited, an Executive Director of KGG, Deputy President of
KEF Audio Group and Chairman of GP Batteries Consumer Sales, China. Mr.
Leung has more than 35 years’ international experience of management and
marketing of global brands in multinational consumer product companies.
Prior to joining Gold Peak, he was the group managing director and executive
director of a listed company in Hong Kong.

NL.A. - not applicable

SIBHRIEERLF —O—ME-O=—RFFH

REERCGPIEETESHER EBRRRE
B%) « KGGEE + KEF Audio GroupBIZAH X
RLBHTETSETEBERE - RELEERR
SFEMEERRRMETSEHLR  £%
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT conro)

EENSREEREW

Karen NG Ka Fai aged 44 REKME 44
CFA CFA
Non-Executive Director FHTEE

First appointment as Director BEREXES

17 June 2015

Last re-election as Director
2 September 2024

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)
10vears

Board Committee(s) served on
Audit Committee (Member)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)
Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science,
Massachusetts Institute of Technology, U.S.

Present directorships in other listed companies

Techtronic Industries Company Limited (/ndependent Non-Executive Director)

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

None

Other principal commitments

\WYNGA43 Social Investment Ltd. (Director)
WYNG Foundation (Trustee)

MIT Club of Hong Kong (President)

2015564 17H

EREERES
2024598 2R

REESTH (R20259 68 24R)
10%

HEEERESE
BENEES HE)

EEREEER
ZEMBEIZERETIERTEKNZES

BEREM EHTARHEIES
RIRBXERNE FUHHTES)

BESFARHEM ETARHEES
H{t = RIS

WYNG43 Social Investment Ltd. (%)
WYNG Foundation (FFZA)

MIT Club of Hong Kong (%)

Background and other working experience

Ms Ng managed transactions in Asia for global financial institutions, and
possesses more than 10 years of experience in investment in the region. Ms
Ng is the daughter of the late Mir Andrew Ng, an Executive Director of the
Company from 1984 to 2014.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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LUI I\Iling \Wah aged 87

ABAE g7z

SBS, JP,PhD SBS ' K¥#4+ > PhD
Independent Non-Executive Director HUHHTES
First appointment as Director BREXES

1 December 1995

Last re-election as Director
27 September 2023

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)
29 year and 6 months

Board Committee(s) served on
Audit Committee (Chairman)
Nomination Committee (Member)

Remuneration Committee (Member)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)

Master in Metallurgy, University of New South \WWales, Australia
Doctor of Philosophy, University of Saskatchewan, Canada
Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors

Present directorships in other listed companies

AV Concept Holdings Limited (Independent Non-Executive Director)

L.K. Technology Holdings Limited (/ndependent Non-Executive Director)

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

None

Other principal commitments

The Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association
(Honorary Chairman)

The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong
(Honorary President)

The Federation of HK Shandong Community Organizations

19955 125 1A

EREERES
2023%9A 278

REESETH (R202596A 24R)
29 6f8 A

HEESRZESE
BREEE (T/F)
REZEE HE)
FMHESS HS)

BEREEER

BN RET AR A EE L
MERDEREBELE L
BEBEEEEERER
REREM ETHARHEES

AV Concept Holdings Limited

B HBITES)
HYREEBERDR BUHFHTES)

BESFAREMETARHEES
im

FAs

Hth F ERAS
BRETXEE (FEFER)

ERTERBHSE FEER)

BRBLRHERE KEZ/E)

(Honorary Chairman)
Shandong University, China (Advisor Professor) FEILRAKE EEEHR)
Background and other working experience HingE

Dr Lui has extensive experience in the electrical and electronics industry. He is
the managing director of Keystone Electronics Co. Ltd.

SIBHRIEERLF —O—ME-O=—RFFH
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT conro)

EENSREEREW

Frank CHAN Chi Chung aged 71 BRAETE 713
FCCA,FCPA,CPA FCCA,FCPA,CPA
Independent Non-Executive Director HIHHTES
First appointment as Director BEREXES

16 July 2004 2004% 78 16H
Last re-election as Director EREELRES

27 September 2023 2023%F 94 27H

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

20vyears and 11 months

Board Committee(s) served on
Audit Committee (Member)
Nomination Committee (Member)

Remuneration Committee (Chairman)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)

The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (Fellow)

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (Fellow)

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and \Wales (Fellow)
Certified Public Accountant - Hong Kong

Present directorships in other listed companies and principal commitments

Techtronic Industries Company Limited (Executive Director)

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

BIETESTH (20255 6H 24R)
205 1118 A

HEEERES

BEREEE OJIE)
REEES HE)
FEsE FE)

BEEREXER
RERFLARSTAE ERES)
BBEHAE ERES)
AREBESTEAALE ERES)
BRYESTED

BENEM ETARHEES
AIRBEXEBRAR GTES)

BESFAREM LT ATHIEES

None i

Other principal commitments Hitt EZR
None i
Background and other working experience Hith & FE

Mr. Chan has extensive experience in corporate affairs and financial

management.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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CHAN Kei Biu aged 77 PRESE 77
PhD, MIH PhD, MIH
Independent Non-Executive Director HUHHTES
First appointment as Director BREXES

14 July 2005 2005%F 74 14H
Last re-election as Director EREEARES

2 September 2024 2024%9H 2H

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

19 years and 11 months

Board Committee(s) served on
Audit Committee (Member)
Nomination Committee (Member)

Remuneration Committee (Member)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)
Bachelor degree in Electrical Engineering and Doctorate degree,

both from Queen Mary College, University of London, UK

Present directorships in other listed companies

None

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years

None

Other principal commitments

The Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association (Honorary Chairman)

The Hong Kong Association for the Advancement of Science and Technology
(Honorary president)

The Hong Kong Mould and Product Technology Association

REESETH (R202596A 24R)
19F 1118 A

HEESRZESE
BREEE HE)
REZEE HE)
FMHESS HS)

BEREEER
RERBABBHERERERIREES LR
HE2

REREM LT ARHEES
BESFARHM ETARHEES
Hith TR

ERETXRE REER)
BRNKIGES FEER)

BBEARERNERE EELE)

(Honorary president)
The Hong Kong Federation of Innovative Technologies and Manufacturing BEAFREREEERSAS
Industries (Professional Advisor and Committee Member) (BEREEIREE)
Background and other working experience HingE

Prof Chan has extensive experience in the electrical and electronics industry.
He is the Chairman and Senior Managing Director of Surface Mount

Technology Limited.

SIBHRIEERLF —O—ME-O=—RFFH
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT conro)

EENSREEREW

Timothy TONG \WWai Cheung

PhD, FASME, FHKEng, SBS, BBS, JP

aged 71

BRE 71x
PhD, FASME, FHKEng, SBS, BBS » K4+

Independent Non-Executive Director HIHHTES
First appointment as Director BEREXES

1 April 2019 2019F4A 1R
Last re-election as Director EREELRES

2 September 2024 2024%9H 2H

Length of service as Director (as at 24 June 2025)

6 years and 2 months

Board Committee(s) served on
Audit Committee (Member)

Academic & Professional Qualification(s)

Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering,
Oregon State University, U.S.

Master’s and Doctorate in Engineering, the University of California,
Berkeley, U.S.

Fellow of the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, the Hong
Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences and the International Thermal

Conductivity Conference

Present directorships in other listed companies

AMTD IDEA Group (/INED?)

AMTD Digital Inc.(Chairman of the board and INED*)

Freetech Road Recycling Technology (Holdings) Limited
(Non-Executive Director)

GP Industries (/INED*)

Past directorships in other listed companies over the preceding five years
Xiaomi Corporation (/NED*)

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

BIETESTH (20255 6H 24R)
6% 2{E A

HEEERESE
BENEEE KE)

BEREEER
SEBBRM L KEHM T RS L

EEMNABHRRIRIEBTRIEL
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BREREREEEREE
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Other principal commitments
Airstar Bank Limited (/INED*)
AMTD Digital Solutions Power Pte. Ltd.(/INED*)

AMTD Foundation (Chief Executive Officer, half-time)
Applaud Digital Solutions Pte. Ltd.(/NED?)

Gravitation Fintech HK Limited (/NNED?)
Research Grants Council of Hong Kong and Council of
Hong Kong Laureate Forum (Chairman)
The Global STEM Professorship Scheme Assessment Panel
of the HKSAR Government (Member)
Council of the Hong Kong Federation of the Youth Groups (Member)

Hith = B

REWRIT BUHHTES)

AMTD Digital Solutions Power Pte. Ltd
BUHBITESE)

MRESE B EB)

Applaud Digital Solutions Pte. Ltd.
BUHFBITESE)

SIHERMBRDT BUHHTES)

MERRBEBEEWELZEE (T/F)

BRBERA [REHARNEAGE] E8)

BREFHSE EFELS)

Background and other working experience

Prof Tong has over 30 years of teaching, research and administrative
experience in universities in the US and Hong Kong. Prior to serving as
president of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2009 to 2018, he was
the dean of the School of Engineering and Applied Science at The George
\Washington University, US.

INED* Independent Non-Executive Director

W TRARAF —O-WE-—O-—RFFH

HitEE
EHREBEXEREBSHAEHHE - LM
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT conro)

EENSREEREW

Senior Mlanagement (ot

Charlton KWWONG Yiu Cheung aged 59, joined the Group in 2017. He is
currently Director and Co-President of GP Batteries. Mir Kwong is a veteran
in global commerce and industrial operations. He has held senior roles in
several leading Hong Kong-listed corporations, driving business growth
across multiple sectors, managing global sales networks in key markets, and
overseeing high-volume industrial operations. Mir Kwong holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Sunderland, UK, and

an MIBA from the City University of Hong Kong.

Edward LAM \Wai Man aged 56, joined the Group in 2009. He is currently
Executive Vice President of GP Energy Tech International Pte. Limited. Mr
Lam has held more than 20 years of senior executive positions from the
semiconductor and battery industries in various corporations, specializing in
business management, manufacturing and strategic investment. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Electronic and Structural Materials Engineering
from University of Oxford, UK.

Edmund LEE Tak Yue PhD, MIBA, CCMI, FHKIoD, FRSA, aged 59, joined
the Group in 2022 and is currently General Manager and Head of Group
ESG Initiatives of the Company. He is also a Director of GP Energy Tech
International Pte. Limited. Dr Lee has a broad range of leadership roles and
extensive management experience gained in science-based, design-led
and innovation-driven organizations across public and private sectors. He
is a Companion of Chartered Management Institute, a Fellow of the Roval
Society for the Encouragement of Arts, Manufactures and Commerce, and
a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Dr Lee graduated from King'’s
College London, UK with a Bachelor’s degree in Microbiology and PhD in
Biotechnology. He also holds an MIBA degree from the University of Warwick,
UK.

Grace LO Kit Yee aged 53, joined the Group in 2002 and is currently Deputy
Managing Director of the Company, and the President of KEF Audio Group
under GP Acoustics International Limited. Ms Lo graduated from Northwestern
University, U.S. and holds a Master of Design degree from lllinois Institute of
Technology, U.S. as well as an MBA degree from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. She is the daughter of Mr Victor Lo Chung Wing.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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Alan LO Yeung Kit aged 45, joined the Group in 2021 and is currently Head
of Corporate Development and Strategic Investment, Asia of GP Industries
Limited and Executive VVice Chairman of GP Energy Tech International Pte.
Limited, which is the Group’s rechargeable battery business including Nickel
Metal Hydride batteries and Nickel Zinc batteries. He has served on a number
of government committees, institutions and non-profits including Harbourfront
Commission and Business Facilitation Advisory Committee, and Retail and
Tourism Committee of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce. Mr
Lo graduated from Princeton University, U.S. with a Bachelor’s degree in
Architecture. He is the son of Mr Victor Lo Chung Wing.

Note: In alphabetical order of the Senior Management’s last names

W TRARAF —O-WE-—O-—RFFH
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERHRE

A. EEERRAIRER A. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINICIPLES AND PRACTICE

SLRREEERAT (ZWURRIHAAE]
BERHEWBAAGER [FEE]) £/ (£33
RIS TES]) BERFNCEERFTIRNAIE
REBEE EAEEHEWEE  BAEENR
HHFECERRAZHEE AATEESS
BRENTREER -ESRCEREZEMNDRER
HERREF  UEREREEEAESHEEEN
E - BEME  RERHE TREREASLH
BIRER (RR]) B9fEE -

RAB-—HSEMSBE UREERBEMIE
SIMER  FTEHREMBLCEMOLEESR
B BRESTEYDERSMNERKY  LHE
B AR R EANRERRRST -2 -

REEEREE (CEERRE]) HIAEER
EZE 20259 38 310 IEBTBEE ([ 202581 B &
El) ABTHLEEAEBRER  UREBT
FAEIHNRIRAE  UIRABBHERZ T
BRAE (MR BRA]) #H EmRAl
(LR AL sECIE %A~ (XS
SBSFAL) FrEmMsERER @ER) -

RABCEMBERTEBTEEEARTRME
B R B R AR - tEmBE R EE AT RIS 5D
AR EEC.2. URBRID » RARSURE EF RATH
HENABEERD - TEHB-ARME - R
BE <P AR CEC2. MRWIEHE - BEAQRTNY
% BERWEAKBE  BRATEERERE
SE75E [EFERITHAE] —8 -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

The board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Gold Peak
Technology Group Limited (“GPG” or the “Company” and together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) aspires to the highest standards of
corporate governance as the Board firmly believe that good corporate
governance supports long-term value creation and is key to the
integrity of the Group and essential to the long-term sustainability of
the Group’s operations and performance. The Board has implemented
comprehensive corporate governance policies and procedures to
ensure greater corporate transparency, accountability, performance and
integrity across the Group and to protect and enhance value of GPG’s
shareholders (the “Shareholders”).

The Company has been constantly reviewing and enhancing our
corporate governance framework by referring to market trends as well
as guidelines and requirements issued by regulatory authorities and aims
to achieve governance excellence in all respects and to be in line with
international and local corporate governance best practices.

This Corporate Governance Report (“CG Report”) sets out the GPG’s
corporate governance framework and practices that were in place
throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2025”) and
adherence to the principles and provisions of the code provisions, and
adopted the recommended best practices, where appropriate, set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
C1 to The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange” or
“HKEX").

The Company has complied, in all material aspects, with the principles
and provisions set out in the CG Code, except for the deviations from
code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, which provides that
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The details of the
deviation from code provision C.2.1, including the Company’s position,
considered reasons and explanations, are set out in the section headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” on page 75 of this CG Report.

o8



A. EERRAIRER @ A. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICE (continued)
ERERRE

AR B 20268 B 53k ([ 2026F F3 ) A
B ADBRNREERRBUT ¢

Corporate Governance Framework
As at the date of the Company’s annual report for FY2025 (“AR2025"),
the Company’s corporate governance framework is as follows:

SILBHERR
Gold Peak’s Shareholders

BB
Independent Auditors

REZRAE Nomination Committee 2ER Board of Directors EREREE Audit Committee
1EHITESM 1 Executive Director and u 11BEE: 11 Directors: 1%3#ITEZE 1 Non-Executive Director
3B/ 3 Independent 6EHITES - 6 Executive Directors, Mag®L and 4 Independent
FHITES Non-Executive Directors 1EFHITES 1 Non-Executive Director FHITES Non-Executive Directors

MAELHIKFHTESE and 4 Independent
B Chairman B Non-Executive Directors B Chairman
L Victor LO Chung Wing IZEEES LUI Ming Wah

3 Chairman

g Victor LO Chung Wing
HMEEE Remuneration Committee |
1ZHITESEM 1 Executive Director and
3EB/YL 3 Independent B AHRBR Sustainability REpELt AREE
FHITEE Non-Executive Directors Management BRZEE g;enimi‘gee Internal Audit Risk Management

. 4ZHITESER 4 Executive Directors and
E3 Chairman | 45 EEE 4 Members of Management
PRAER Frank CHAN Chi Chung
bAE 35 ! BEXRE Co-Chairman
Core Business Units | | Z#&# R ##3z Brian LI Yiu Cheung and
Michael LAM Hin Lap
| | |
b e N 2= Hit T2 8E
Rechargeable Battery Batt?i\;m B%Jisg;ness Aud;#Bu#s;}iiess Other Industrial
Business Investments
EREEIL Corporate Strategy and Culture

TR B HEEZFRMHE - ER[HERR
2R BREERBERERL  £EZZ2F
5 Bffr > SHAMENER  BRRERE
B RALERE]NES o ARRBIREL
ERANA - UAmNMZERAER - NEHRE
HEZMEERBR -BNEEL  FAEEE
LR RERR - RRRREMISDERE TR
mHEE -

FLAMAEBNROES - REENEE i
EREAREME  URETHERRAES -
HERESARES IRENESRRB AN
WAAAT2026F ERE  HEREARS -
SRS TN 20255 78 K AT LB A A F 48
2 o

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

GPG endeavours to seize clean technology opportunities and
consistently implements its mission of “achieving a carbon transition and
enhancing the quality of life by embracing green energy, modernising
its manufacturing facilities, and producing safe, reliable, environmentally
friendly, and cost-effective products”. The Company is committed to
optimising resource utilisation and aiming for carbon reduction and zero
waste. The Group promotes its corporate culture in alignment with its
core values and vision, which enables the Group to implement its long-
term strategies and create sustainable value for its shareholders and
other stakeholders.

More information about the Group’s core vision, overview of the
Group’s ESG performance and achievement of significant milestones
in sustainability and ESG practices is set out in the Company’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Report for FY2025 (“2025 ESG
Report”) which is expected to be available on the Company’s corporate
website by late July 2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT conro)

TEERBE @

B. EE/ B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BEERAR

E2R (E3RJAEZ)) NEIEEHREKEE
MEEERERE BEERISEEAKEERE
BHYBREARARPEE -

EZSRABT-—ERE  BEAEITES H
T-ERESRIRE)  —BFITEBERESR
BYFHPITES - SESNEH NN 20265 F
REASE00E  ETREAHEEE £HMLE
MRARETESREREA  UARAMEERE
MEZER - R2025F FHAH - ILRKE

Board Composition

The principal focus of the board of directors (the “Board” or the
“Directors”) is on the overall strategic development of the Group. The
Board also monitors the financial performance and the internal controls
of the Group’s business operations.

The Board currently has 11 members, comprising six Executive Directors
(“EDs”) (one of whom is the Board Chairman), one Non-Executive
Director (“NED”) and four Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“INEDs”). The profile of each Director which includes key information
regarding academic qualifications, directorships and chairmanships held
in other listed companies, and other principal commitments, is set out on

ERMAERKREZBEEE pages 43 to 55 of AR2025. The composition and key objectives of GPG'’s
Board as at the date of the AR2025 comprises:
FEBE
BEER Board of Directors Key Objectives
HiTES Executive Directors - BEARRAZEEE LR RHEEEHLES
BN TEFRER Victor LO Chung Wing (“Mr. Victor LO”) EL IR NSRS EMNEE  BEREEB
([1TH#E#]) (Chairman & Chief Executive (“CEO”)) BEGAN  AIFNTEERESEREEN

TR FIEEFLTE/AEE Brian Ll Yiu Cheung
(Vice Chairman & Executive \/ice President)
MEEY - BB Michael LAM Hin Lap (Managing Director) — EBREEMNKRE BEAATBEELEWNE
BEE  FEUBER Waltery LAW \Wang Chak W OMEBMANSEUSEHESKERE  H
(B4 ) REFRERE (Group Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) & ZTHERNABEENEARESERGREMS
A (B EERH]) Group Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”)) B mmoiRREes -

REIAKID -

Pz} Christopher LAU Kwan
(R 2024%F 48 1R EZT) (appointed with effect from 1 April 2024) - Aims to create value for Shareholders
RZiE Joseph LEUNG and provide leadership by setting the
(FA2025F 15 1R EZ ) (appointed with effect from 1 January 2025) strategic directions and performance of

GPG together with the Management to

FHITES Non-Executive Director achieve long-term success for the Group
SRE Karen NG Ka Fai through value creation, innovation and
sustainability.

BAEMITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

BEE LUI Ming \Wah - Oversees the performance of the Group
fR A Frank CHAN Chi Chung for accountability to Shareholders by
PR L i CHAN Kei Biu ensuring that the necessary financial,
BEE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung operational and human resources are

in place for the Company to meet its
strategic objectives, which are supported
by an adequate and effective system of
internal controls and risk management.
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. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Delegation to Board Committees

To ensure smooth operations, facilitate decision making and ensure
proper controls, the Board is supported by committees (the “Board
Committees”), namely the Audit Committee (“AC”), Nomination
Committee (“NIC”), Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and Sustainability
Steering Committee (“SSC”). Each Board Committee comprises at least
four members, a majority of whom are INEDs, except for the SSC. Each
of these committees (except for the SSC) has its respective terms of
reference, all of them are posted on the HKEx’s and the Company’s
websites. Details of the Board Committees are set out below.

The current composition and key objectives of the Board Committees
are set out as follows:

TERR - ABHNEE

Board Committees Composition
ENZEE BRE - 2E BUSHTES)
(bERKE REE FHTESE)

IBFHTESN  RER BUAHTES)
AEBUFNITES) REE BUFATES)
ERE BUHHTES)

Audit Committee LUl Ming \Wah (Chairman) (INED)
(5 members, Karen NG Ka Fai (VED)
1NED & Frank CHAN Chi Chung (INED)
4INEDs) CHAN Kei Biu (/NED)
Timothy TONG Wai Cheung (/VED)
REZRE BhR ZE HTER)
(4%H8 BRE BUHFHTES)
SERUFHITES REB By H#HTER)
MIBHTES) RER BUFHTER)

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

Key Objectives, Role and Function

- BYEZRETEALEHBEREENEENEERAGER  URNABEEREREERL
WRRMERBNM

- EEZRIAKENEEECARREINERERERTZRASENTERAR -

- BILmRAIES.21%

- Assists the Board in the discharge of statutory and other responsibilities relating to
the integrity of the financial statements of the Group and reviews the adequacy and

effectiveness of the internal controls and risk management systems.

- Considers the key risks of the Group under a risk management framework which takes into
account the strategic objectives and risk appetite of the Group.

- Complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

- BRETESRAE ARNES URFESNBUM 6 EFRENEARLES B
EERHEEETE

- BHESRARESR ESRZEEREINRE -

- BEMHASNTEEEE GFE3) NEfE:E-

- HENEZESRASZACEE  BEER SHEANER  LEREE -

ol
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EERZEEENEE @ Delegation to Board Committees (continued)

EZRZEE K& TERR - ABHDEE

Board Committees Composition Key Objectives, Role and Function

Nomination Vlictor LO (Chairman) (ED) -
Committee LUI Ming Wah (INED)
(4 members, Frank CHAN Chi Chung (INED)
3INEDs & 1ED)  CHAN Kei Biu (/VED)

FHZRE REW - K BrEHiTES) -

(4EHE - BHE BUEHTER)
SEBUKHTES RER BUAHTESR)
MIBHTES)  BOR GI7ES)

Remuneration Frank CHAN Chi Chung (Chairman) -
Committee (INED)
(4 members, LUI' Ming Wah (INED)
3INEDs & 1ED)  CHAN Kei Biu (/VED)
Viictor LO(ED)

URERRESREE TIRE BELIR) GITEE) -

(88AE WY (BEZE) G{TEE)
AEYTEEN  BRE GITEP)

4EEEE) RuE HITEE) -

REHR
&2

MEX -

AEH FEA)

Sustainability Brian LI Yiu Cheung (Co-Chairman) (ED) -
Steering Michael LAM Hin Lap (Co-Chairman) (ED)
Committee Waltery LAW Wang Chak (ED)

(8 members, Joseph LEUNG (ED)
4EDs & Charlton KWONG Yiu Cheung -
4 Managements) Grace LO Kit Yee

Edward LAM Wai Man

Edmund LEE Tak Yue (Convener)

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Assists the Board in its succession plan through the review of board size, composition
and mix, and the recommendations on the independence of Directors, appointment, re-
nomination and retirement of Directors.

Assists the Board in the evaluation of the performance of the Board, the Board Committees
and the Directors.

Reviews the succession plan for the CEO and KMPs (not being Directors).

Develops and reviews the board diversity policy, including targets, plans and timelines and
monitor progress.

RHREEESRRTEBASHNHH  SRTTEENFMER  EATERERRERRS -
B DRBUARRATHHINHE - YEALANENRREERZHRETE -

Reviews and determinates the remuneration of the Board and the KMPs, including setting
appropriate remuneration frameworks, aligning with talent management framework and
policies to reflect a performance-based remuneration system that is balanced between the
current and long-term objectives of the Company.

BHESREEARENTRERREE  QRRRAR  THERRTINEBEN  URHE
NEEERBZNME

FEASENTRERRRENE  AORANRE HERELRE IERS UHERERER
UREMRATEREREEARDRRNBBNRETHERR ; UK

BHESREERAANIEZHZ2REESE o

Assists the Board in the review of the Group’s sustainability issues including climate risks,
sustainability initiatives and related performance as well as emerging corporate governance
trends and practices;

Reviews the Group’s approach to sustainability reporting, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG”) framework, key ESG targets and long-term sustainability
that contribute to the Company's performance and reputation as a global corporate citizen;

and

Assists the Board in the oversight of the Company’s workplace safety and health matters.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Delegation to Board Committees (continued)

The Board and Board Committees conduct meetings regularly, with the
Board meeting held at least four times a year. A total of seven Board
meetings were held in FY2025. At the regular Board meetings, the Board
agenda includes updates by Management on the Group’s strategic
initiatives and implementation status, updates on the Group’s latest
investments and developments, and the review of the Group’s financial
and operational performance.

The focus of the seven Board Meetings in FY2025 was set out as
follows:

(i) two meetings were scheduled to review and approve the Group’s
financial results for half-year ended 30 September 2024 and
FY2025;

(i) two meetings were scheduled to review the Group’s quarterly
operational performance, as well as review the Company’s strategic
directions and initiatives; and

(iii) three meetings were scheduled to review the Group’s financial and
operational performance and review and approve the change of
Board composition and change of Company Secretary.

The Company’s Articles of Association allow for the meetings of its
Board and the Board Committees to be held via teleconferencing and
video-conferencing. The Board and the Board Committees may also
make decisions by way of circulating written resolutions.

Directors who were unable to attend any meetings of the Board or
the Board Committees, were provided with the meeting materials
and encouraged to raise discussion points or queries with the Board
Chairman or respective Board Committee Chairmen or Management.
The Board is of the view that the contributions of each Director should
not be focused solely on his/her attendance at meetings of the Board
and/or the Board Committees. A Director’s contributions should also
extend beyond the confines of the formal environment of such meetings,
through the sharing of views, advice, experience and strategic networks
which would further the interests of the Company. The Directors,
whether individually or collectively, also engage with Management,
heads of the Group’s business units and departments and the Group’s
external consultants in order to better understand the challenges faced
by the Group and the input of the Directors, through such engagements,
provide invaluable perspective to Management.

Although the Board may and has delegated some of its responsibilities
and functions to the Board committees and principal divisions,
it acknowledges that it remains ultimately accountable for the
performance and affairs of the Company.
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Delegation to Board Committees (continued)

Management has an obligation to supply the Board and Board
Committees with adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it
to make informed decisions. The information supplied must be complete
and reliable. To fulfil their duties properly, Directors may not, in all
circumstances, be able to rely purely on information provided voluntarily
by Management and they may need to make further enquiries.
\Where any Director requires more information than is volunteered
by Management, that Director should make further enquiries where
necessary. So, the Board and individual Directors should have separate
and independent access to the Company’s Senior Mlanagement.

All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials. These papers and related materials should be in a form and
quality sufficient to enable the Board to make informed decisions on
matters placed before it. Queries raised by Directors should receive a
prompt and full response, if possible.

Minutes of Board and Board Committee meetings, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, should record in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by
Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of
minutes should be sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively, within a reasonable time after the Board meeting is
held. The minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

Each Board member is entitled to have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary and, upon reasonable request and in
appropriate circumstances, seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expenses, to assist them perform their duties to the Board.

None of the members of the Board have any connections (including
financial, business, family relationships and other material/related
relationships) with each other during the year under review.

The following are the changes to the composition of the Board and its
Board Committees (except for SSC) during the period from 1 April 2024
to the date of the AR 2025:

(i) Mr. Christopher LAU Kwan was appointed an ED with effect from 1
April 2024;

(i) Mr.Victor CHONG Toong Ying retired as an ED with effect from 1
September 2024; and

(iii) Mr.Joseph LEUNG was appointed an ED with effect from 1 January
2025.

Mr. Christopher LAU Kwan and Mr. Joseph LEUNG obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27 March 2024
and 27 December 2024, respectively, and they have confirmed they
understood their obligations as a director of the Company.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board’s Role and Responsibilities

The Board’s primary function is to assume responsibility for leadership
and control of the Company. The Directors are collectively responsible
for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. Other duties of
the Directors include but not limited to maintaining effective control
of the Company, giving specific strategic direction to the Company,
reviewing, approving and monitoring the fundamental financial and
business strategies, plans and major corporate actions, ensuring that
the Company complies with the relevant laws, regulations and codes
of business practice, ensuring that the Company communicates with
Shareholders and the relevant stakeholders transparently and promptly
and monitoring the overall corporate governance functions of the
Company.

All Directors are subject to the same legal duties under all applicable
laws and the Listing Rules. They are required, in the performance of their
duties as Directors, to act honestly and in good faith in the interests of
the Company as a whole, avoid actual and potential conflicts of interest
and duty, apply reasonable care and diligence, and make decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company. The Board contains a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business. The Board includes a
balanced composition of EDs and NEDs (including INEDs) so that there
is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement. Board practice is in place so that any
changes to the Board composition (if any) can be managed without
undue disruption.
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Board’s Role and Responsibilities (continued)

The corporate governance function of the Group is collectively
performed by the Board. The Board acknowledges overseeing the
corporate governance function of the Group collectively and agreed to
comply with a specific written terms of reference. During the year under
review, the Board has reviewed and monitored the following corporate
governance functions:

the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
made recommendations;

- the training and continuous professional development (“CPD”) of
Directors and senior management;

- the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

- the code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; and

- the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
CG Report.

The Board oversees the business affairs and performance of the
Company and the Group, and is responsible for shaping the strategic
direction, performance and business operations of the Group. It provides
leadership and overall guidance by setting goals and objectives of the
Company together with Management to achieve long-term success for
the Group through value creation, innovation and sustainability.

\While all Directors are fiduciaries who exercise due diligence and
objectively discharge their duties and responsibilities in the best interest
of the Company, the Board has Directors of different designations with
different roles:

(i) EDs are members of Management who are involved in the day-to-
day running of the business. They work closely with NEDs on the
long-term sustainability and success of the businesses. They provide
insights and recommendations on the Group’s operations at the
Board and Board Committee meetings;

(i) NEDs do not participate in the business operations. They participate
in Board meetings to bring an independent judgement to bear on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct and constructively
challenge Management on its decisions and contribute to the
development of strategic goals and policies. They may participate in
the review of Mlanagement’s performance in achieving the strategic
objectives as well as the appointment, assessment and remuneration
of the EDs and key management personnel (“KMP”) (not being a
Director). NEDs scrutinize the Group’s performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring performance
reporting. NEDs take the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise;
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. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board’s Role and Responsibilities (continued)

(iii) According to Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least every three
years at the AGMI. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-appointment
or re-election; and

(iv) INEDs are NEDs who are unrelated to any of the EDs and fulfill the
conditions to be considered “independent” as set out in the Listing
Rules and the CG Code and deemed to be impartial by the board,
and have similar duties of the NEDs, and additionally provide an
independent and objective check on the Board and Management.
The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules requiring a sufficient number of independent and
qualified NEDs in the Board.

In addition to statutory responsibilities under Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies
Ordinance”), the Board’s principal functions are:

(i) to approve the Group’s strategic plans, significant investment and
divestment proposals and funding decisions;

(ii) to review the Group’s financial performance and key operational
initiatives;

(iii) to ensure necessary financial, operational and human resources are
in place to meet the Company’s goal;

(iv) to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the framework and
process for internal control and risk management for safeguarding of
Shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets;

(v) to review the recommendation by the Audit Committee (“AC”) on
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system,
financial and audit related matters and the appointment/removal of
the external auditors of the Company (“External Auditors”);

(vi) to review and decide the nominations recommendation by the
Nomination Committee (“NC”);

(vii)to review and endorse the recommendation of framework of
remuneration for the Board and KMPs by the Remuneration

Committee (“RC”);

(viii) to assume responsibility for good corporate governance, setting the
right 'tone at the top’ in its policies and decision; and

(ix) to commit for integrating sustainability in key aspects of the Group’s
business and operations.
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Board Process and Effectiveness

The Board should meet regularly, and Board meetings are held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The Board
Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors. Notice
of at least 14 days has been given to all Directors for all regular Board
meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the
agenda if necessary.

Agenda and accompanying Board papers in respect of regular Board
meetings are sent in full to all Directors within reasonable time prior to
the meeting. These should be sent in a timely manner and at least 3 days
before the intended date of a Board or Board committee meeting (or
other agreed period).

Board Orientation, Training and Development

The Company provides new Directors with orientation programmes
to familiarize them with the business of the Group and its governance
practices. Such orientation programmes include visiting the Group’s
principal factories and meeting with the Management of various
business units. Newly appointed Directors are informed, among other
things, the roles, obligations, duties and responsibilities as a member
of the Board and Board Committees, the Group’s principal business,
the Company’s governance practices and process, internal control
and risk management system. New Directors are also expected to be
familiar with the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the roles
and responsibilities as a director of a HKEx-listed company. With effect
from 1 April 2026, a first-time Directors who have no prior experience
as a director of a listed company, must complete no less than 24 hours
of CPD sessions within 18 months of the date of their appointment
and a first-time Directors who have served as a director of an listed
company on an exchange other than HKEx within three years prior to
their appointment must complete no less than 12 hours of CPD training
within 18 months of the date of their appointment, to acquire relevant
knowledge of what is expected of a HKEx-listed company director.
This being a mandatory requirement under the CG Code for financial
years on or after 1 July 2025 (the “Mandatory Training”). Completion
of the Mandatory Training, which focuses on comprehensive training
of company directors on compliance, regulatory and corporate
governance matters, should provide the first-time Directors with a broad
understanding of the roles and responsibilities of a director of a HKEx-
listed company under the requirements of the Companies Ordinance, the
Listing Rules and the CG Code.

The Board recognizes that it is important for Directors to undergo CPD
training/development. All Directors are routinely provided with updates
on developments in the Group’s operating environment, particularly
on relevant new laws and regulations and changing business risks,
corporate governance practices, ESG/sustainability, risk management
and financial reporting standards which are relevant to the Company
and/or the Directors by professional advisors, auditors, Management and
the company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”).
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Orientation, Training and Development (continued)

Members of the AC were also provided with regular briefings from
the External Auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) on
applicable Accounting Standards and a session on Board Oversight of
Sustainability Reporting and ESG during the year. The External Auditors,
in presenting its annual audit plan to the AC, also highlights the important
changes in relevant financial reporting standards. In addition, Directors
who have professional qualifications also attend trainings in accordance
with the CPD or education requirements of the relevant professional
bodies. The NC and the Board are kept informed of the training sessions
attended by the Directors during the year. As part of the NIC’s annual
assessment of the skill set of the Board and the Board Committees, the
NC would also recommend further training for the Directors in specific
areas, if required, to supplement the regular updates/briefings provided
to the Directors from time to time. No such training was recommended
by the then NC during the year.

Further to the training courses/programmes and briefing updates,
Directors are also at liberty to approach Management should they
require any further information or clarification concerning the
Company’s operations.

Key Matters Reserved to the Board’s Approval

Key matters which are specifically reserved for approval by the Board

include the following matters:

(i) Decisions over the strategic direction, plans and performance
objectives of the Group;

(i) The Group’s risk appetite and risk tolerance for different categories
of risk, as well as risk strategy and policies for material risk

management;

(iii) Financial results announcements, annual reports and audited
financial statements;

(iv) The Group’s financial objectives and annual budget;

(v) Major investment or acquisition/disposal proposals, exceeding
certain material limits;

(vi) Shares issuance;
(vii) Corporate and financial restructuring;
(viii) Dividend policy and payouts;

(ix) Board and KMPs succession plans and nomination/appointment of
Directors;
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Key Matters Reserved to the Board’s Approval (continued)

(x) Overall sustainability and climate-related strategies, including
material topics and reviews of the progress and performance of the
Group’s ESG commitments and strategy and

(xi) Connected Transactions exceeding certain limits.

Management is fully apprised of such matters which require the
approval of the Board or the Board Committees. For operational
efficiency, the Company also has a structured approval limits matrix
which sets out the delegated authority to various levels of Management
to approve operating expenditures up to pre-determined limits.

Conflict of Interests

The Board acts in good faith and in the best interests of the Company
by exercising due care, skills and diligence, and avoiding conflicts of
interest. Directors, who are in any way, directly or indirectly, interested
in a transaction or proposed transaction, declare the nature of their
interests in accordance with the Companies Ordinance and the
Company’s Articles of Association, and in the case of any conflict of
interest (actual or potential), recuse themselves from participating in the
deliberation and abstain from decision making on such transactions, with
abstention duly recorded within the minutes and/or the resolutions of the
Board and/or the Board Committees.

In case the Board is of the opinion that the conflicted Director
participation is necessary to enhance the efficacy of such discussion
and his/her participation is permitted, the conflicted Director excuses
himself/herself for an appropriate period during the discussions to
facilitate full and frank exchange by the other Directors, and shall in any
event recuse himself/herself from the decision making and to abstain
from voting in relation to the conflict- related matters.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter should be dealt with by a physical Board meeting
rather than a written resolution. INEDs who, and whose close associates,
have no material interest in the transaction should be present at that
Board meeting.

Each Director is also required to submit details of his/her associates for

the purpose of monitoring connected transactions and related parties
transactions (“RPTs”) annually.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Company Secretary

Company Secretary is the key adviser to the Board on corporate
governance and other regulatory compliance matters, and plays an
important role in supporting the Board by ensuring good information
flow within the Board and that Board policies and procedures are
followed. Any selection, appointment or dismissal of the Company
Secretary would be approved by the Board. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on governance
matters and facilitating induction and professional development of
Directors. The Company Secretary reports to the Board Chairman and
all Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and all applicable law, rules
and regulations, are followed. The Company Secretary should be an
employee of the Group and have day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s
affairs. The principal responsibilities of the Company Secretary include,
but are not limited to, the following:

- assisting the Company develop and maintain a sound and effective
corporate governance framework to ensure compliance and good
corporate governance practices;

- keeping abreast of the developments in laws, rules and regulations
that may affect the Group’s business and operations, and briefing the
Board on these developments;

- ensuring that the Board members receive CPD in relation to the
Group’s business developments and any applicable laws and
regulations; and

- providing compliance advice to the Board in the decision-making
process, and ensuring full compliance.

Mr.LEUNG Chi Fung is appointed as the Company Secretary effective 1
January 2025 to succeed Mr. Louis WWONG Man Kon, who retired as the
Company Secretary on the same day. Both Mr. Louis WONG Man Kon
and Mr. LEUNG Chi Fung have complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules by obtaining no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year under review.
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EERNEERESTE:
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Board and Board Committee Meetings

The attendance (including both physical and virtual meetings) of the
Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), and
meetings of the Board, the AC, the NC, the RC and the SSC as well as the
frequency of such meetings held during FY2025, is disclosed in the table
as follows:

EZRZRE
Board Committee Meetings
THERR 20245 %
ESREH REZEE FHEeE BEZEE RRASAE
Board 2024
Meeting NC RC SSC AGM
0255 ERTHEREYY 7 2 2 3 2 1
Total Number of Meetings held in FY2025%
025FEHREHEEREY
Number of meetings attended in FY2025%
#iTEs: Executive Directors:
Efg Viictor LO 17 NA. 212 3/3 NA. 1
FgH Brian LI Yiu Cheung m NA. NA. NA. 22 1
MEL Michael LAM Hin Lap 5/7 NA. NA. NA. 212 1
BLE Waltery LAW Wang Chak 17 NA. NA. NA. 1/1 1
g% Christopher LAU Kwan
(B2024%4E 1R EZf) (Appointed with effect from 1 April 2024) 7 NA. NA. NA. NA. 1
228 Joseph LEUNG
(B2025% 15 1R EZf) (Appointed with effect from 1 January 2025) mn NA. NA. NA. mn NA.
FRI- Victor CHONG Toong Ying
(B2024% 95 1HEEM) (Retired with effect from 1 September 2024) 3/3 NA. NA. NA. NA. 1
FumES: Non-Executive Director:
R5E Karen NG Ka Fai 17 212 NA. NA. NA. 1
BukamES: Independent Non-Executive Directors:
e LUl Ming Wah 17 212 212 3/3 NA. 1
BEE Frank CHAN Chi Chung 6/7 212 212 3/3 NA. 1
BHE CHAN Kei Biu 6/7 212 212 2/3 NA. 1
ERE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung 6/7 212 NA. NA. NA. 1

N.A. - not applicable & A

BiEE

1 BHNEELRENRESHEAUEZESNEES

Notes:

EREEZRAESZREEERE BERME) HE

(1) The total number of meetings held and attendance of Directors refer to the

number of meetings held and attended by that Director during the respective

BOIRHEENERRE - Directors’ tenure as a member of the Board or a Board Committee, as the case
may be.
2. BR2024FFERRBFREN - A ATHR20255F (2) Save for the 2024 AGM, no other general meeting was held by the Company
EREETHEMBRAE - during FY2025.
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20250 B EEEREEENITERE Summary of Work done of Board Committee in FY2025
R20258 R FERBEZEAREAHN  EE/E The Board Committees have performed the following work FY2025 and
EEEHITUTIE: up to the date of this report:

EERZEE

R 202581 B BN E £ 20255 F 47 H HifI TIFHE

Board Committees Summary of work performed in FY2025 and up to the date of AR2025

BREES

Audit Committee

WA REBAEB20250 B FENRFRE  UHESRIE

ERRZEAEEEE 2024598 300 LB NP S - UHESHMAE
HUENEZ MO FERTEE - SHERER

BN EE - WHRGMNTFERATHEIERE

BAADR EREER ABEEERR

BAADRABETRENERL - BEDE g¢ERSRERE
ZEINBELEMEEEZRANESRZEERINBENEENAR - EEBNREURETHREE
HEEROBRAR B EROBRE

MERBINELBENNFEN - URFERBRZEET RN E BB RBE LI
ZREIAHESN LN R I T IR

ZEENZEIMNERBEAERRBF RS RIS |

EEREERFENERTENMNELEMEE  NRESHER  FHEENEENRZEMBHNEMEES
HNEE

BANAPBFERNEAEESH RUBREBEEFNER  ETERERKEH - BIIREREERT RS |
BERRAARBRTNEEECRRERESR &
BANADREFEEEATUARAMERREERENER

reviewed and considered the annual results of the Group for FY2025 for the approval by the Board;
reviewed and considered the interim results of the Group for the 6 months ended 30 September
2024 for the approval by the Board;

approved the External Auditors’ scope, plan and fees of the annual audit;

met with the External Auditors and discussed their major findings in the annual audit;

reviewed the Company’s risk management and internal control systems;

reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function, covering the financial,
operational and compliance controls;

considered the effectiveness of the External Auditors giving due consideration to the quality and
contents of their reports to the Board Committee, feedback from Management and compliance
with relevant regulatory, professional requirements and their independence;

considered the safeguard of External Auditors’ objectivity and assessing independence in
proposed engagement in respect of audit related and permissible non-audit services;

considered and approving non-audit services to be provided by the External Auditors;
considered recommendation of the re-appointment of External Auditors for Shareholders’
approval in AGM;

met with External Auditors in the absence of management to discuss matters relating to audit fees,
issues arising from audit and other matters the auditor raised;

reviewed the adequacy of the resources, staff qualification and experience, training programmes
and budget of those relating to Group’s accounting and financial reporting function for the financial
year;

determined and reviewed the Company’s current corporate governance policy and practice; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and other legal and regulatory
requirements.
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20258 BEEEEREZEENITERE @ Summary of Work done of Board Committee in FY2025 (continued)
EEREEY R 20258 B FE EE Z2025F £ HEAN TEHE
Board Committees Summary of work performed in FY2025 and up to the date of AR2025
REEZEE - BRAEZIRZEE  REBEK REFBNWEFREL UREZF/NEE - ABRER
— REBCEMRADEIASMGAMBNELRIESIFEB L P TESNE LY  URAAEBLFHATESHR
SR ;

A AT+ A

— REARDNEBEHE  REREEFRAMENFR - 15 - KR ERREEANR - B THEREOES
iR

- BEENZEIENZEAESRELRE R

- ZREERELHE -

Nomination - reviewed the Board diversity policy, the nomination policy, procedures and criteria for nomination
Committee of Directors and the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- assessed the independence of INEDs against the criteria and guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and concluded that all INEDs had complied with the criteria;

- reviewed, assessed or made recommendations to the Board the composition of the existing Board
members with reference to their age, sex, experience, qualification and expertise against the
business scope of the Company;

- made recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors; and

- considering the Board succession plan.

eI ES S - BARRBTESKSREEASNFHBROESRETRN RES |
- AMEEITESHRR

- BDESRNFNTESNRBEIIFITESREFMNERS

- B ZENEBRREIVTESKSREEENHNTE

- EBHTESNRBESOERRRBERTESNGTH &

- REHEMEHFHIR EERSREEEREROER) YAEZRRBES -

Remuneration - reviewed and recommended the Board on the remuneration policy of the EDs and senior
Committee management of the Company;

- assessed the performance of the EDs;

- making remuneration recommendations of NED and INEDs of the Board;

- reviewed, considered and recommended the remuneration package of the existing executive
Directors and senior management;

- recommending the terms of the EDs’ service contracts and adjustment of remuneration of the EDs;
and

- reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the other remuneration means including the
granting of share awards to the senior management.
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Summary of Work done of Board Committee in FY2025 (continued)

EERZEEE 20258 B F EfI B £2025F £ A HIN TEHE

Board Committees Summary of work performed in FY2025 and up to the date of AR2025

AFERREES - FAKENITHERRERRFERREESENESRREMENER  SFEER A SRR IFEEEE RSB &
ZEE HEERENEER

— BRI ERREREN B REEEMR - LUHE2060F A1 B IR E 1% $1E 280 F TR

- RAEEBBEURBESPNESSHRADIHE  BRE  HEREAFEHER

- AREZRSRTRASRMRE  HEREHFI UHFALEENIFERRIGE-—TER R
- FHARZEREENRE HERE/RE  UHESRILE -

Sustainability - Updated the Board on the Group’s sustainability and climate related reporting matters, including

Steering

update from consultancy on climate-related risk identification and gaps on reporting;

Committee - Laid groundwork to formulate sustainability strategies and goals towards achieving Net Zero for

Scopes 1 and 2 by 2050;

- Identified initial opportunity for colleagues across business units and functions to contribute

towards ESG;

- Offered ESG training to Directors and senior executives, and spearheaded further progress on the
Group’s sustainable development; and
- Reviewed and considered the ESG report of the Group for the approval by the Board.

EERER

RABBARAE-NEEEE BRALER
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Currently, the Company adopts a single leadership structure: Mr.
Victor LO is the Board Chairman and CEO of the Company. The Board
Chairman and CEO remains involved in significant corporate matters,
including overall operations of the Group, matters of strategic nature and
governance of the Board.

As the Board Chairman, Mr. Victor LO is the most senior executive in
the Company to provide leadership to the Board. He holds at least one
annual meeting with NEDs (including INEDs) without the presence
of other EDs. He promotes a culture of openness and debate by
facilitating the effective contribution of NEDs in particular and ensuring
constructive relations between EDs and NEDs.

Mr. Victor LO is responsible for the effective function of the Board and
exercise control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow
of information between Management and the Board, these include
ensuring:

(i) the Board’s effectiveness through his leadership;

(ii) drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board meetings,
including matters proposed by the other Directors;

(iii) Board meetings are held when necessary and to approve the
meeting agenda;
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Chairman and Chief Executive (continued)

(iv) the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner;

(v) all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at the Board
meetings;

(vi) adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable
contained in the Board papers are circulated to the Board members
in a timely manner;

(vii) Directors with different views can voice their concerns and allow
sufficient time for the discussion of the issues;

(viii) Board decisions fairly reflect board consensus;

(ix) monitoring communications and relations within the Board and
between the Board and Management to facilitate constructive
dialogue;

(x) all Directors make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs
and acting in the best interest of the Company;

(xi) appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the board as
a whole and

(xi) good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and the compliance with the guidelines set out in the CG
Code.

As the CEO, Mr. Victor LO leads the member of the Executive Committee
(“ExCo”), which comprises the EDs and Management, and is responsible
for the Group’s overall management, including overseeing the Group’s
operation, setting directions for new growth areas and developing
business strategies. He plays an instrumental role in developing the
business of the Group and has been providing the Group with strong
leadership and vision.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Deviation from code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code

The current single leadership structure of the Company deviates from
code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code which stipulates that the
chairman and CEO to be separate persons to ensure an appropriate
balance of power, increased accountability, and greater capacity of the
Board for independent decision making.

The Board considers that the present structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
Management of the Group as the Group’s principal businesses are run by
different boards of directors. The Board has also considered Mr. \/ictor
LO’s roles as Chairman and CEO and the strengths he brings to such a
role by virtue of his stature and experience. The Company is of the view
that combining the roles of Chairman and CEO brings about exceptional
leadership and clear accountability and unequalled depth of knowledge
to deal with the Group’s strategic challenges and growth opportunities.
The existing single leadership arrangement is effective and appropriate
for the Group after taking into consideration the nature and scale of
the Group’s businesses, and there are sufficient safeguards against an
uneven concentration of power and authority in a single individual. The
Board is satisfied that one person is able to effectively discharge the
duties of both positions. There is sufficient independent representation
on the Board and Board Committees which provide diversity of thought
and an independent and objective element to the Group and strategic
level decision making.

Furthermore, as discussed under the section headed “Key Matters
Reserved to Board’s Approval” of this CG Report, the Company has
adopted internal guidelines setting forth matters that are specifically
reserved for the Board'’s decision and approval, including (a) nomination/
appointment of Directors; and (b) major investment or acquisition/
disposal proposals.

As such, whilst the Chairman and CEO of the Company is the same
person, the Board is of the view that the governance practices currently
in place by the Company and there is sufficient independence in its
exercise of objective judgment on business affairs of the Group, in
compliance with the intent of the CG Code, in which no one individual
has unfettered powers of decision-making, notwithstanding that
the roles of Chairman and CEO are not separate. The Board, with the
assistance of the NIC, continues to review the role of the Chairman and
CEO as well as the composition (including the independence) of the
Board to ensure that it does not impede the principles of independence
and objectivity in decision making.
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Multiple Board Representations and Time Commitments

Each Director is required to declare his/her board representations as
soon as is practicable after the relevant facts have come to his/her
knowledge and confirm annually to the NC as to whether he/she has
any issue with competing time commitments which may impact his/
her ability to provide sufficient time and attention to his/her duties as
a Director of the Company. When considering the re-nomination of
Directors for re-election, the NIC takes into account the competing time
commitments faced by Directors with multiple listed company board
representations and/or other principal commitments. An analysis of the
directorships (which includes directorships by groups and executive
appointments) held by the Directors is reviewed annually by the NC.

Based on the analysis, the Directors’ annual confirmation and the
Directors’ commitments and contributions to the Company, which are
also evident in their level of attendance and participation at Board and
Board Committee meetings for FY2025, the NIC is satisfied that all
Directors are able to carry out and have been adequately carrying out
their duties as Directors of the Company, as well as sufficient time and
attention are given to the affairs of the Company.

The new Rule 3.12A of the Listing Rules, which will apply to CG Reports
and annual reports in respect of financial years commencing on or after
1 July 2025, requires an INED must not concurrently hold more than six
Hong Kong-listed companies’ directorship (“Overboarding INED”). As
a transitional arrangement, an Overboarding INED as at 30 June 2028
must comply with this requirement by the conclusion of the earliest
AGM held on or after 1 July 2028 by any of these Hong Kong-listed
companies.

The NC noted that including the directorship held in the Company,
the number of listed company board representations currently held by
each of the Directors ranged from one to four in number (including the
Company), which is lower than the requirement of the new Rule 3.12A of
the Listing Rules.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Complete, Adequate and Timely Information and Access to
Information

Management prepares monthly management accounts and business
analysis, which are reviewed by the ExCo. Prior to each meeting,
members of the Board and the Board Committees are provided with the
meeting agenda and the relevant papers submitted by Management,
containing complete, adequate and timely information to enable full
deliberation on the issues to be considered at the respective meetings.
The ExCo is in attendance at such meetings, whilst the External Auditors
and professional advisors who can provide additional insight into the
matters for discussion are invited as required to attend the relevant
meetings.

Management provides the Board with a summary of the Group’s key
financial information each month. During quarterly Board meetings,
management presents to the Board quarterly updates on the Group’s
financial performance including an analysis of the same, with material
variances between the comparative periods disclosed and explained, to
enable the Board to make a balanced and informed assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospect. In addition, Management
also provides the Board with further information or ad hoc reports as
and when required. Board members are consulted or updated with
latest developments of the Group with regular management meetings,
circulation of discussion papers and informal meetings such as
discussions via tele-communications.

The Board and the Board Committees are free to request for further
clarification and information from Management on all matters within
their purview.

Directors’ Independence and Level of Independence of the Board

As at the date of the AR2025, the Board comprises 11 members. Based
on the NIC’s recommendation and pursuant to requirements under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and provisions of the CG Code, the Board
has determined four of them, to be INEDs, providing a strong and
independent element on the Board to exercise objective judgement.
No alternate Directors have been appointed in respect of any of the
Directors.

\When reviewing the independence of the INEDs, the NC has considered
the applicable Listing Rule and the guidelines for independence set out
in provision of the CG Code and its accompanying Practice Guidance
(collectively, the “Independence Guidance”). As part of the consideration
of the INEDs’ independence, the NIC has also taken into account the
following:

(i) total number of shares in the Company held legally or beneficially by
the Director;

(ii) other directorships;
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Directors’ Independence and Level of Independence of the Board
(continued)

(iii) annual declarations regarding their independence;

(iv) disclosures of interest in transactions in which they have a direct/
indirect interest;

(v) their abilities to avoid any apparent conflicts of interest especially by
abstaining from deliberation on such transactions;

(vi) their abilities to maintain objectivity in their conduct as Directors;
and

(vii)their abilities to objectively raise issues and seek clarification as and
when from the Board, Management and the Company’s external
advisors on matters pertaining to their area of responsibilities
whether on the Board or on the Board Committees.

Each of the INEDs on the NC recused himself/herself from the NIC’s
deliberations on his/her own independence.

Pursuant to provision of the CG Code, the NC and the Board take into
account the existence of relationships or circumstances, including those
identified by the CG Code, Practice Guidance and Listing Rules that are
relevant in determining whether a Director is independent.

All Directors are required to disclose all relationships or appointments
which may impair their independence to the Board on a timely basis
and complete an annual declaration in the form of a self-assessment
questionnaire which sets out the circumstances where a Director is
deemed not to be independent, and submit it to the NIC for final review.
The NC and Company Secretary are responsible to collate the results
and report to the Board.

None of the INEDs are currently employed or have been employed at
any time during the past two financial years by the Company or any
of its related corporations. They also do not have immediate family
members who are currently employed or have been employed at any
time during the past two financial years by the Company or any of its
related corporations, and whose remuneration is determined by the
RC. For the purpose of determining independence, the INEDs have also
provided confirmation that they are not related to the Directors or to
any Shareholders holding 5% or more interest in the Company. The NC
is satisfied that there is no other relationship which could affect their
independence. The Directors undertook a review of their independence,
with each INED abstaining from participating in his own review by
the Board and had concurred with the NC’s determination of the
independence of the INEDs.

80



B. EER®

EEBUMRESZRELMEKE @

M08 BEFE REZESHESWE LM
ETTHEERS  YHHER AL CET
(REERTA) - EBIESD R (EHRA) 8938
T BUFPTESEARTRMDPALEERE
#m BRATRRSEHBUMRREENE
e

EZRRBEREZESETNEERTER - R
RERTRNWAEB L FHITESIRBIAL

R20255FFHAM - BAERLE - REBEE
HMREELEBEREZEZBE - HEBTEF
HITEZNFHCRTBBAF - HELHRAUE
3.13AKBIE AR 20255 78 1B 2 & HHBEHN
MRFENEEEARMERFR - LB FY
TEENENRENF BHIATDLHABEREBY
FHTESERZERY UIBBRESE) FEN
BHER (BESFHBIFITES]) - £
HRz2ZWMATBRRABYL - FZHBR2E
MREEZFNBIFNITESWRERIFIT
B GrBN) - AILBEEAES  E=F
RENEBCERAERBIFITES - B
MEHTESANS (EHRA) THEMB %
BIE o

FCETRAD RAE I ISARKIE AN FHBIER
RO REERER  HtEHEEE  REEEEN
BREECETEERIBIFANTES  E0H
EHE2028F 38 310 LW BFENRREF X
BER -

ESRMEMET

ESRERRFHRERE - ABRAR - URKRHE
EEXAE  RERERSTHINGTE - UIE
ARAEBEE -EZREBAREESEER
Bh BEMERREZANAESRENESA
BHAEBXEBRZREZNRIN - £ - BBK
EERETENES  SRRAE  XHRREN
ESEREBRER  AESRTRBURES
MR UEFEHFERREAEHIRE

RARCEFIITESRBUFNITESITLE
FE REZEE  BENEHA=F - BEAR
BAARESERMINAEERRAFAS L
WEREREREIE -

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Independence and Level of Independence of the Board
(continued)

For FY2025, the NC has conducted its annual review of the Directors’
independence and concluded that the Company had complied with
provision of the CG Code, the Practice Guidance and the Listing
Rules. The INEDs did not have substantial interest in the shares of the
Company and were not in foreseeable situation that could compromise
their independence of thought and decision.

The Board, based on the result of the annual review conducted by the
NC, is of the view that all INEDs of the Company are independent.

As at the date of the AR2025, each of Mr. LUl Ming \Wah, Mr. Frank
CHAN Chi Chung and Mr. CHAN Kei Biu has been an INED for an
aggregate period of more than 9 years from the dates of their first
appointments. New Rule 3.13A of the Listing Rules, which will apply to
CG Reports and annual reports in respect of financial years commencing
on or after 1 July 2025, imposes a hard cap on of INED’s tenure for nine
years (calculated from the later of the company’s listing date and the
INED'’s first appointment date) (“Long-serving INEDs”), after which
they are no longer considered independent. After that period, the Long-
serving INED may continue as a director if redesignated as a non-
executive director (not independent); or reappoint as an INED again after
a three-year cooling-off period, provided that the INED satisfies other
independence requirements under the Listing Rules.

The new Rule 3.13A of the Listing Rules will be subject to phased
implementation over a transition period of six years and so Mr. LUl Ming
\Wah, Mr. Frank CHAN Chi Chung and Mr. CHAN Kei Biu may continue to
be INEDs at least until the conclusion of the AGM for the financial year
ending 31 March 2028.

Board Mlembership and Succession

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the needs of the business of the Company. The Board,
through the delegation of its authority to the NIC, has used its best
efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the
background, experience and knowledge in technology, business, finance
and management skills critical to the Group’s business and that each
Director, through his/her unique contributions, brings to the Board an
independent and objective perspective to enable balanced and well-
considered decisions to be made.

The Company has entered into a letter of appointment with each
of the Non-Executive Director and the Independent Non-Executive
Directors pursuant to which they are appointed for a specific term
of 3 years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGM in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Association.
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Nomination Policy

The nomination policy sets out the criteria and procedures for the
selection, appointment/re-appointment of Directors of the Company.
The NC reviews the composition of the Board at least annually and
makes recommendations to the Board on the changes of the Board.
Proposed candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary information
in order for the Board to assess their suitability. The Board shall ensure
that the procedures of nomination, selection and appointment/re-
appointment are in compliance with the Listing Rules, the Companies
Ordinance and the Company’s Articles of Association. The NC reviews
the nomination policy on a regular basis so as to ensure its effectiveness.

Nomination of Directors

The NC reviews the nomination of the relevant Directors for election/
re-election of Directors annually. \When considering the nomination
of Directors for election/re- election, the NC takes into account
their independence, contribution to the effectiveness of the Board
(which includes their participation and candour at Board and Board
Committee meetings) as well as their time commitment especially
for Directors who have multiple board representations and/or other
principal commitments. The recommendation of the NC on the annual
nomination of the Directors for election/re-election is submitted to the
Board for decision and thereafter tabled at the AGIM of the Company for
consideration and approval by Shareholders.

Selection, Appointment and Re-appointment of Directors

The NC is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
Board appointments, overseeing the Board and Senior Management’s
succession and leadership development plans and conducting annual
review of Board diversity, Board size, Board independence, and
Directors’ commitments.

Board Succession Planning

The Board believes that orderly succession and renewal are achieved
as a result of careful planning, where the appropriate composition of
the Board is continually under review. In this regard, the Board has put
in place a formal process for the renewal of the Board and the selection
of new Directors so that the experience of longer serving Directors can
be drawn upon while tapping into the new external perspectives and
insights which more recent appointees bring to the Board’s deliberation.
The NC leads the process and makes recommendation to the Board on
the appointment of new Directors and re-nomination of Directors.
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. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Process for appointment of new Directors

(i) NC reviews annually the balance and mix of skills, knowledge,
experience, diversity of profiles (including gender and age) and
Board size which would facilitate decision-making. In this review,
the NC would also take into account the needs of the Company,
the competencies of the Board and service tenure spread of the
Directors.

(ii) Inlight of such review and in consultation with Management, the NC
assesses if there is any inadequate representation in respect of any
of those attributes and if so, determines the role and the desirable
competencies for a particular appointment.

(iii) The NC will in all cases take into consideration the following
objective criteria identified as necessary for the Board and Board
Committees to be effective:

- Integrity

- Independent mindedness

- Able to commit time and effort to carry out duties and
responsibilities effectively

- Track record of making good decisions
- Experience in high-performing companies
- Financial literacy

(iv) External help may be used to source for potential candidates if need
be. Directors and Management may also make collective skills and
recommendations.

(v) NC meets with the short-listed candidate(s) to assess suitability and
to ensure that the candidate(s) is/are aware of the expectations and

the level of commitment required.

(vi) NC makes recommendations to the Board for approval.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Process for re-nomination of retiring Directors
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, not less than one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office at the
Company’s AGM every year, and a Director appointed by the Board after
the last AGM shall only hold office until the next AGM.. If eligible, these
Directors may submit themselves for re-election.

NC reviews each Director’s eligibility, independence, contribution
and performance (such as attendance, preparedness, participation
and candour), with reference to the results of the assessment of the
performance of the individual Director by his/her peers and his/her
tenure.

NC makes recommendations to the Board for approval.

A. Retirements and Re-nominations

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Victor LO, Mr. Michael LAM Hin Lap (“Mr. LAM”),
Mr. LUI Ming Wah (“Mr. LUI”) and Mr. Frank CHAN Chi Chung (“Mr.
CHAN?") shall retire from the Board as Directors by rotation at the
2025 AGM and, being eligible, they have offered themselves for re-
election. In accordance with Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Joseph LEUNG (“Mr. LEUNG”), who was appointed
to the Board on 1 January 2025, shall hold office until the 2025 AGIM
and shall then be eligible for re-election. At the 2025 AGM, ordinary
resolutions will be proposed to re-elect Mr. Victor LO, Mr. LAM and
Mr.LEUNG as EDs and Mr. LUl and Mr. CHAN as INEDs.

The NC has reviewed the abovementioned Directors’ eligibilities,
contributions and performance, and taking into account the results of
the recent peer assessment, are of the view that the Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and
have been able to discharge their duties as Directors effectively.
The Board, at the recommendation of the NC, approved the re-
nominations of Mr. Victor LO, Mr. LAM, Mr. LEUNG, Mr. LUl and Mr.
CHAN, at the upcoming AGIVI.

The Company has not appointed any alternate Director.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Process for re-nomination of retiring Directors (continued)

B. Determining Independence of Directors
The NC is tasked to determine the independence of the Directors.
The NIC determines the independence of a Director when he or she is
appointed, and review at least annually the Directors’ independence
according to the Provision of the CG Code. Please refer to the
discussions under section headed “Directors’ Independence and
Level of Independence of the Board” of this CG Report for further
details of the results of the annual review of independence of the
INEDs.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his independence. The NC has reviewed such
confirmations and assessed the independence of each of the INEDs
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered
each of them to be independent. The Board adopted the view of the
NC and accordingly considers all the INEDs to be independent.

Board Development

The NC reviews the training and development of the Directors to ensure
that Directors receive appropriate development on a continuing basis,
to perform their roles on the Board and where applicable, the Board
Committees. The Directors are provided with updates and/or briefings
to assist them to properly discharge their duties. The briefings are
conducted either internally with invited speakers, or externally, at the
Company’s expense.

The NC is also responsible for ensuring that new Directors with no
prior experience as a director of a HKEx-listed company to undergo
Mandatory Training to ensure that new Directors are aware of their
duties and obligations, and the details of which are set out in the
paragraph under the subject heading “Board Orientation, Training and
Development”in this CG Report.

In respect of continuing professional development, the Company wiill
provide an induction package including necessary information and
briefings for newly appointed Directors and Directors are encouraged
to participate in professional development courses and seminars to
ensure that they are aware of their responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. Ongoing professional training
had been and will be offered to all Directors to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills as directors of a listed company.
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Board Development

During FY2025, all the Directors have participated in continuing
professional development relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate governance in the following manner:

ShERsER,

g/

BEEE e
THEIBIE External
training/
Attending
In-house Materials Seminars/
training Reading Briefing

A& Self Study
#l4R including

HITES: Executive Directors:

B Victor LO v v v

et Brian LI Yiu Cheung v v v

WA Michael LAM Hin Lap v v v

BLE Waltery LAW Wang Chak v v v

215 (52024F 47 1A RZE) Christopher LAU Kwan v v v
(Appointed with effect from 1 April 2024)

2218 (B2025F 18 1HEEME) Joseph LEUNG v 4 v
(Appointed with effect from 1 January 2025)

FHTES: Non-Executive Director:

RRE Karen NG Ka Fai v v v

BUFHITES: Independent Non-Executive Directors:

BEAE LUl Ming Wah v v v

BRAER Frank CHAN Chi Chung v v %

FREE CHAN Kei Biu v v v

BERE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung v v v

Bt EE - Notes:

(1): ESESZ TIHINBEEBBRMNARIEI - (1): The Directors received in-house training provided by external counsels.

(2: ESWRHERE(ETRA) REMEERENRHE (2): The Directors received readings on topics such as update on the Listing Rules
o URER A REBENE MR EEREN and other statutory requirement and other relevant topics relating to listed
#o companies.

(3): ESSNMHHE  FiF  WHEN NGRS AT (3): The Directors attended seminars, meetings, forums and/or briefings on

EIEAEHERRE TERE  ANEE  BRERE topics such as sustainability, industries development, internal control, risk
REERR - management and professional development.
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. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The NC is responsible for examining the size and composition of the
Board and Board Committees which comprise Directors who as a
group provide the appropriate balance and mix of skills, knowledge,
experience, and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age, so as
to avoid group think and foster constructive debate.

\With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company recognises that diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. The Company has adopted a diversity policy
(the “Diversity Policy”) which sets out the framework for promoting
diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’s composition, the
Diversity Policy requires the NC and the Board to consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, nationalities, ethnicity,
cultural background, educational background, experience, skills,
knowledge, independence and length of service.

RIE2025F F3REMBAMNER : Based on the information as at the date of the AR2025:
Independence
B Designation YiTE=s FHTEE BUFHTES
ED NED INED
EEYN No. of Directors 6 1 4 11
HESHFMEIL % of Total No. of Directors 55% 9% 36% 100%
BAK
HRIZ Tk Gender Diversity Total
5l Gender B gy
Male Female
EZAY No. of Directors 10 1 11
HESBENE AL % of Total No. of Directors 91% 9% 100%
A
FERAAR Age Group Total
S51ERUT 515%-6575; 6657 -755% > 755
FiR Age 51 & below 51-65 66-75 >75
EEAY No. of Directors 2 3 4 2 11
FESHENEIL % of Total No. of Directors 18% 27% 37% 18% 100%
INEDs’ Directorship with the
BUFHTESRADRANEE Company
5-9F >0f
F5 Year 5-9 >9
BUFHTES AR No.of INED 1 3 4
EELFHTESLHEANEIL % of Total No.of INED 25% 75% 100%
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)
The gender ratio of the Group’s workforce as at 31 March 2025 are as
follows:

7z
Female
Bt
Work force %

WAZEHWE Office Staff
5= Director 91 9
SREEE Senior Management 78 22
g Manager 62 38
FEREAM Officers and Others 55 45
tEBE Production Staff 40 60
BRTHE Overall Average 47 53

B ZE 2025538 31R » AEBY47% K 53%H
BT BESHEER) 2SRt BT
MRS T EEFHE - AARBEEETETINS
BRERES Tt - FERREERBE AR
BIRTHE TRMEMZE - BIIMBEBREE -
EHWPIFEMRNE THERSSEAE  WE
B - SEESFERMRITESH - WHK
BSPRMRIR A RERR - RARMEETHRE
BEHERREMESTENHERRES - BHM
RILLBIR B A OMFE - F2HA QT 2025

AR Z
FRE  HERERRS °

e
=

ESsRueEE

[EES T

REMAER

ABER

3BT GHE

EEM THEERNWIBENRIEHTE

[E\ P TR By R B
B BT
ERMERERM
RITMERMERE
B 8%, a5t

DRAERERE - HERER AN
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As at 31 March 2025, approximately 47% and 53% of the Group’s
employees (including senior management) were male and female,
respectively, which is a reasonable balance of gender diversity among
employees. The Company will continue to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment,
training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. Employees of all genders in each
department have the opportunity to participate in decision-making
and reinforce gender equality awareness through training, publicity
and other activities and eliminate gender stereotypes and prejudices
in the workplace to ensure that all employees are provided with equal
opportunities for career development based on their abilities and
performance. Further details of gender ratio and labour force, please
refer to 2025 ESG Report of the Company.

BatE
Directors’ Skills Matrix %
Business and Strategic Planning 100
Leadership and Management 91
Human Resources 73
Corporate Finance/Mergers and Acquisitions 36
Manufacturing and Branding of Consumer/Industrial 64

Products

Risk Mlanagement and Internal Control 45
Digital and Technology 45
Legal and Regulatory Compliance 36
Banking and Finance Management 36
Audit/Finance/Accounting 36
Corporate Governance and ESG/Sustainability 100

83



B. EER®

EERZTIEBE @

RN RTIGCESRRESREZESNERRA
B WEFRESRREYER BREZEEH
ZRED) K REZESHREAHRERER
EERZUEMBENBERKBRER  ZEST
{LWATEAE  UWEBEERNRESEAS -
BEZTBER  EEESIMENRELRAELE
RREZESEFZENEBEZERBENE
2 WRBREERAE -

REZESHEFZESTCEENERIFR - I
EEERTRRAZTICRE  UBRREAN
o REZEEHRBEVECRTEASENAE
LBREZRZ U BEMNZ L) - REE
EENEER—HRA  RERBAEBHEN
BEREZRERRENCRNELRE - BRE
BERHER EEREAREE -

REBAEEERNBERME - EBERRE
REEZRNESRESSNARSEBMELT
ETENTER EETRHEREEET—ZR
5 BRNESRABKESRNRESREES
WRBEAREEEBE  TABRIFNEF
B BEAES KR e TENR - HXE
% MRFMBRBFETE  AUXFALAER
HEW B SN UHEERNBE - (EEZRMR
WREMEAE - EEENREZEGHTHE
BHEHAE  URERRHEBENENZE -

BUEENEN  BEABEMER  RAEMNA
E-FEAEMETRARNEENESMEIFERL -
LUk B = REAGEIBISE AR - 8N 20265 F
RWEASHEEL0E - ESHEADAFRMNF
BHNEZRREEF 10 RIBIEN[ESR
BREBRADAREBENRRS 2R 8D -

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

\When reviewing and assessing the size and composition of the Board
and Board Committees and making recommendations to the Board
annually including the appointment/re-appointment of Directors, the NC
will consider all aspects of diversity based on targets and timelines set
for promoting and achieving diversity on the Board to arrive at an optimal
balanced composition of the Board. As prescribed under the Diversity
Policy, the final decision on the selection of Directors will be based
on merits against objective criteria and targets considered by the NC
annually and recommended to the Board for approval.

The NIC will monitor the implementation of its Diversity Policy and
review the Diversity Policy from time to time as appropriate, to ensure
its effectiveness. The NC will continue its identification and evaluation
of suitable candidates to ensure there is diversity (including gender
diversity) on the Board. The NC and the Board agreed that there was
no need to set a specific target for ethnicity/nationality so long as
the candidates provide distinguishing qualities that complement and
expand the skills and experience of the Board as a whole.

Having considered the scope and nature of the Group’s operations, the
requirements of the businesses and the need to avoid undue disruptions
from changes to the composition of the Board and Board Committees,
the Board, in concurrence with the NC, is satisfied that the current
board size and the existing composition of the Board and the Board
Committees provide for diversity in line with the Diversity Policy with a
good balance of age, educational background, experience, skill, industry
knowledge, professional qualifications, gender and length of service,
which serve to support the Company in achieving its strategic objectives
and sustainable growth and development, fosters constructive debate
and facilitates effective decision making. The Board and NC wiill
constantly examine its size with a view to determining its impact upon its
effectiveness.

The profile of each Director which includes key information regarding
academic qualifications, directorships and chairmanships both present
and those held over the preceding three years in other listed companies,
and other principal commitments, is set out on pages 43 to 55 of the
AR2025. The details of Directors’ shareholdings in the Company can be
found under the section on “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s interests
in securities of the Company and its associated corporations” on pages
130 and 131 of the Directors’ Report.
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20268 BN EHIE E 20255 £ HHiZ it Diversity Targets and Progress in FY2025 and up to date of the
BEMER AR2025
FRZiEH
Age Diversity
Big BINERECORUATHNESFERSHEN  UANIESFHRESIZECORZEABE -
R R2024F 48 IR ZFEE LA ERN2025F 1A IR ZFR X BEERES% - N2026F F3R A i F #2655

LUTHESE DL AA45% (20249 BEFE © 45%) °
BEERMRARZZAFEBEEFUER  YEEARERFENREA - ESRSEUBEEFHBEEZ -

Targets Increase age diversity of the Directors with ages below 65, with majority of the Directors in the 51 to
65 age group range.

Progress After the appointments of Mr. Christopher LAU Kwan on 1 April 2024 and Mr. Joseph LEUNG on 1
January 2025 as Directors, the percentage of Directors with ages below 65 was 45% as at the date of
AR2025 (FY2024: 45%).

The Board will continue to maintain this target for the next three to five years and prioritise the
appointment of younger candidate(s). The Board has continued to maintain this target.

RIS R

Gender Diversity

BE LHEBLHTDR20%

ER BZE202553A31H - KM EREESEELLAINRI% -

SRETRADESRZEMESENES  ESREEEFNERRS EoFREESAMNLEARLFIZES
20%%E25%

REZESSHLBHER
(a) MREAIELSEESHESREGHREA  BEFNPEREENBLIEREA
(b) ENEHFNESRHER  SEREFLMHREAUEEZE S R

(c) REZEZRRENER  FEEREERNLMERRLA -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025 9@



B. EER®

B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

A 20258 B EFE Z2025F £k A 2tk Diversity Targets and Progress in FY2025 and up to date of the
BEMER @ AR2025 (continued)

HRIZ R

Gender Diversity

Targets Not less than 20% female Directors

Progress As at 31 March 2025, the proportion of female Directors is approximately 9% of the total number of

EENEEFH

Directors.
With reference to the recommendation by the Council of Board Diversity for listed companies, the
Board will actively strive to achieve a 20% to 25% female representation on the Board over the next 3
to Syears.

The NC will strive to ensure that:

(a) if external search consultants are used to search for candidates for Board appointments, the brief
will include a requirement to also present female candidates;

(b) when seeking to identify a new Board member, female candidates will be requested and included
for consideration; and

(c) female representation on the Board be continually monitored over time, based on the targets set by
the Board.

Tenure of Appointment of Directors

BiR

ER

Targets

Progress

EHNESNEAFH

R20245F 48 1R RELIELRERN2025F 1B IR EZARZELERIITESR - FHIRAEFNESH2024
B EE Y 10%38 = 20255 F 7 H B 27% ©

RBREARKIEAEBETLELRRRVENNKE ELXRBEERTZEFALRESRENISK -

Refresh the tenure of appointment of Directors

After the appointments of Mr. Christopher LAU Kwan on 1 April 2024 and Mr. Joseph LEUNG on 1
January 2025 as EDs, tenure of Directors below 5 years increased from 10% in FY2024 to 27% as at

the date of the AR2025.

To avoid an abrupt loss of members with extensive experience and core competencies that are crucial
to the Group, the Board will continue to pace the retirement of its Directors as needed.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

20268 BN EHIE E 20255 £ HHiZ it Diversity Targets and Progress in FY2025 and up to date of the

BEMNER @

AR2025 (continued)

REEZ R
Skills Diversity

BE HREMNMBZOEEE  SRERE B TSHMFTETENR - HEM - REHNFETEEBRNREN
FETHABEEHEMEHmNREA o
R ZREERRIIERENR 20200 N FEEZEBHITES ©
BIBEEN2024F 48 IR EZRE > RNEERE ME YARAKEFEEREAEHREERIGFEZ LR
RLBREEN2025F 18 IREZE > EEBEER AN IREEEE R TIGHEES ERGRIEISFWERL
%ﬁ‘ o
Targets Broaden and strengthen the core skill set, source for candidates with extensive knowledge and
experience in investment, Battery, Rechargeable Battery and Audio industries knowledge, branding
and legal aspect relevant to the Battery, Rechargeable Battery and Audio industries.
Progress Mr. Christopher LAU Kwan and Mr.Joseph LEUNG were appointed as EDs during FY2025.
Mr. Christopher LAU Kwan, who was appointed on 1 April 2024, has more than 15 years of extensive
experience in corporate finance, shipping, logistics and e-commerce technology.
Mr. Joseph LEUNG, who was appointed on 1 January 2025, has more than 35 years’ international
experience of management and marketing of global brands in multinational consumer product
companies.
EERRRA Board Performance
FHEFIFHE R EE Assessment and Evaluation Process
REZEENARKRMUNESRAESR 5 The NIC has been tasked to assist the Board to develop a performance
REZEEENEREEHEENTEIESR  IHE& evaluation framework for the Board, Board Committees and individual
MIZENHEBE TG » DMERLREESHIR Directors, proposed performance criteria and assist in the conduct
EER - REAZERHESRARHETESR of the evaluation, analyses the findings and reports the results to the
REEEREZEEEZNEREESCER MG Board. The NC together with the Board, has established the assessment
BF IWKEFYHESZR BEZREZESZX process of the effectiveness of the Board and each Board Committees,
BREESZERETTME - EX/AEEFE and the contribution from each individual Director and will conduct the
ANBALHESRR  EERZESREZET assessment of the performance of the Board, each Board Committee
FKFTL o and the contributions from each individual Director, on an annual basis.

The Board has not engaged any external facilitator to conduct the
performance evaluation of the Board, the Board Committees and the
Directors.
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B. EER @ B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

EEREXA @ Board Performance (continued)

FHEFITHE R E @) Assessment and Evaluation Process (continued)
EERNEIACEBEEEBRTERSEE The evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board had been conducted
7 UERMBESER  FIMEKAREZEES by means of annual self-assessment questionnaires to be completed
EEREEZRAENTHRBEELR - FEHES5 by all Directors using objective and appropriate criteria which are
HEERERREAZESTEIESHER (R recommended by the NC and approved by the Board. The responses
BRME) ° to these self-assessment questionnaires are presented to the NC

Chairman or the Board Chairman, as the case may be.

EEETFIEE Board Evaluation Criteria
EERMNBERTEEETEEREIE The self-assessment questionnaires evaluation criteria of the Board
include:

BHEMMEEEHERE

Self-assessment questionnaires evaluation criteria
EERH () E=RMAR ;

(i) MEZRREENEM
(i) BTESREE
(iv) ESRMWHEEN  ERRESRZEESRTEFLER A
(v) EZRNTHARE -
The Board (i) composition of the Board;
(ii) information provided to the Board,;
(iii) conduct of Board meetings;

(iv) accountability of the Board, including whether the various Board Committees are functioning
properly; and

(v) the Board’s standards of conduct.
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B. EER @ B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
BEERXA @ Board Performance (continued)
FHEFIFHE T @) Assessment and Evaluation Process (continued)
EFFEEE @ Board Evaluation Criteria (continued)
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The self-assessment questionnaires qualitative criteria used by the NC
to evaluate the Board covers five key areas relating to Board structure,
the Board’s review of the Company’s strategy and performance, Board’s
oversight on the Company’s governance, including risk management
and internal controls, and the effectiveness of the Board Chairman
and Board processes. The quantitative criteria used to evaluate the
overall Board performance comprises performance indicators which
include a comparison of the Group’s performance (including segmental
performance) for the financial period under review against the Group’s
performance for the corresponding period in previous years, and other
indicators such as the Company’s share price performance over a
historical period.

\When assessing the overall Board performance, the NC takes into
consideration the feedback from individual Directors on areas relating
to the Board’s qualitative criteria as stated above and the result of the
quantitative assessment. The results of the overall evaluation of the
Board by the NC, including its recommendation for improvements, if any,
are presented to the Board.

Effectiveness of the Board

Based on the summary of findings of the evaluation for FY2025 together
with the feedback and recommendations from each Director, the NC
and the Board concluded that the overall performance of the Board were
consistently good in all aspect and met their performance objective for
FY 2025 and no major issues or findings that required the attention of the
Board have been identified.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Packages and Framework

The RC reviews and recommends to the Board the remuneration
packages or policies for the EDs, CEO and the KMIPs after considering,
among other things, the performance of the Group, the individual
Director/KMPs. No Director individually decides or is involved in the
determination of his/her own remuneration. The RC’s recommendations
are submitted for endorsement by the Board.

In carrying out the above-mentioned duties, the RC shall, inter alia:

(i) to consider all aspect of remuneration (including director’s fees,
salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, share-based incentives and
awards, benefits in kind and termination payments) and should aim to
be fair and avoid rewarding poor performances;

(ii) to determine if the level and structure of remuneration of the Board
and KMPs are appropriate to the specific role and circumstances
of each Director and KMPs, and recognizes their performance,
potential and responsibilities, and are proportionate to the sustained
performance and value creation of the Company, taking into account
the strategic objectives of the Company;

(iii) to measure performance of Directors and KMIPs who are in control
function principally based on the achievement of the objectives of
their functions;

(iv) to consider reliable, up-to-date information on the remuneration
practices of other companies and the relevant market benchmarks.
Such information can be obtained by commissioning or purchasing
any appropriate reports, surveys or information or through the
appointment of external consultants. These will be at the expense of
the Company, subject to the budgetary constraints imposed by the
Board;

(v) to ensure that a significant and appropriate proportion of EDs’ and
KMPs’ remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to corporate
and individual performance. Performance-related remuneration is
aligned with the interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders
and promotes the long-term success of the Company;
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Packages and Framework (continued)

(vi) to ensure remuneration of the INEDs is appropriate to the level
of contribution, taking into consideration factors such as efforts,
time spent and responsibilities, and that INEDs are not over-
compensated to the extent that the independence of the INEDs may
be compromised; and

(vii) to evaluate if remuneration is appropriate to attract, retain and
motivate Directors to provide good stewardship of the Company and
KMPs to successfully manage the Company for the long term.

The RC will also review the Company’s obligations under the service
agreement entered into with the EDs and KMPs that would arise in
the event of termination of these service agreements. This is to ensure
that such service agreements contain fair and reasonable termination
clauses which are not overly generous. The RC aims to be fair and avoid
rewarding poor performance.

Level and Mix of Remuneration of Directors and KIVIPs

The remuneration policy for the EDs and KMPs adopted by the Company
generally comprises a basic salary and a variable bonus that is linked to
the performance of the Company and individual ED or KMPs. Currently,

the Company does not have any share option or incentive share scheme.

The following factors are considered with reference to the Remuneration
Policy when determining their remuneration packages:

» balanced scorecard of relevant financial and non-financial objectives
including appropriate risk and compliance objectives, differentiated
by performance

« general business and economic conditions

« changes in appropriate markets such as supply/demand fluctuations
and changes in competitive conditions

« individual contributions to the Group

» right behaviours aligned with the Group values, culture and conduct
expectation

« retention consideration and individual potential
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Level and Mix of Remuneration of Directors and KIVIPs (continued)
No individual Director or KMP is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Group to
reclaim incentive components of remuneration from the EDs and KMPs
in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of
misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Company
should be able to avail itself to remedies against these personnel in the
event of such breach of fiduciary duties.

The remuneration structure of the EDs and KMPs is reviewed annually
by the RC to determine whether it is effective in attracting, retaining
and motivating them. The review includes comparisons against
available industry information compiled by the Group’s human resource
department.

An annual review of the remuneration package of the EDs, CEO and
KMPs are carried out by the RC to ensure that the remuneration of the
EDs, CEO, and KMPs after taking into consideration,among other things,
their performance and that of the Company, and the market averages.

The EDs are paid a nominal Directors’ fees. The Company advocates
a performance-based remuneration system for EDs and KIVIPs that is
flexible and responsive to the market, comprising a base salary and other
fixed allowances, as well as variable performance bonus which is based
on the Group’s performance and the individual’s performance such as
management skills, process skills, people skills and business planning
skills. This is designed to align remuneration with the interests of
Shareholders and link rewards to corporate and individual performance
so as to promote the long-term sustainability of the Group.

Policy in Respect of Nlon-executive Directors’ Remuneration

The fee structure for the NEDs (including INEDs) is determined after
taking into account factors such as, the NEDs’ respective roles and
responsibilities on the Board and Board Committees, the changes in the
business, corporate governance practices and regulatory rules and level
of contributions including attendance and time spent at and outside
the formal environment of the Board and Board Committees meetings.
Each NED’s remuneration comprises a basic fee and an additional fee
for services performed on Board Committees. Each Board Committee
Chairman is also paid a higher fee compared with the members of the
respective Board Committees in view of the greater responsibility
carried by that office. No equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements is granted to INEDs by the Bank to ensure their
objectivity and independence.

The Directors’ fee structure is regularly benchmarked with comparable

listed companies to ensure that their remuneration is fair and
appropriate.
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Policy in Respect of Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration (continued)
The current scale of Director’s fees, and fees for chairmen of the Board
Committees, namely, AC, NC, RC and SSC, are set out below:

The structure of fees payable to NEDs for FY2025 is set out as follows:

BEES

Fees per annum

BT
Appointment as/attending: (HKS)

(B 18€) (Basic fee)

Board of Directors 253,000

£33

Chairman
8542

Fees per annum

ERAESRESEHENEMES
Additional fee for appointment to Board i b
Committee member: (HKS)

Audit Committee 50,000
Nomination Committee -
Remuneration Committee 40,000
Sustainability Steering Committee -

Information relating to the remuneration of Directors on a named basis
for FY2025 is set out in Note 9 under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s remuneration and Five Highest Paid Employees” on page
204 to 206 of the Group’s AR2025.

Related Party Transactions (“RPTs”)

During FY2025, the Group entered into certain transactions with “related
parties” as defined under the applicable accounting standards. Related
party transactions are disclosed in note 41 to the Group Consolidated
Financial Statements on page 250 of the Group’s AR2025.

The continuing connected transaction in relation to the master supply
agreement from Light Engine Group was expired on 31 March 2024.

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any
transaction with interested persons and has set out the procedures for
review and approval of the Company’s RPTs.

The AC conducted a review of the Group’s RPTs to ensure that the
transactions were in accordance with the Listing Rules and properly
disclosed in the AR2025. The AC is satisfied that other than those
reported to the AC, there were no material contracts involving
the interests of the Directors, the controlling Shareholders or their
associates. The AC is therefore satisfied over the adequacy of internal
controls relating to the identification, evaluation, review, approval and
reporting of RPTs.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board aims to present a clear, balanced and comprehensible
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects in the
annual and interim reports to the Shareholders, and make appropriate
disclosure and announcements in a timely manner. Before approval of
any financial or other information, Management should provide sufficient
explanation and information, including budget, management accounts
and background information relating to matters to be brought forward
to the Board, to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment
of financial and other information put before the Board for approval. In
addition, Management provides all Directors with regular updates giving
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties under rule 5.01 and Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the profits and
cash flows of the Group. In the preparation of financial statements,
International Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing
Rules have been adopted, the appropriate accounting policies have
been consistently used and applied, and reasonable judgements and
estimates are properly made. The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue in business. Accordingly,
the Board has prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports, announcements, financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules, and reports to the regulators as well as information required to be
disclosed pursuant to other statutory requirements.
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External Auditor and Audit Quality Evaluation
The Company’s External Auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, has
confirmed to the AC that they are independent with respect to acting
as external auditor to the Company. The work scope and responsibilities
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu are stated in the section entitled
“Independent Auditor’s Report” to the AR2025.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the AC on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the External Auditor.

An effective audit not only provides independent assurance on whether
an entity’s financial statements are free from material misstatements (i.e.
give a true and fair view), but may also identify weaknesses in internal
controls of the audited entity. The purpose of an audit is to enhance
users’ confidence in the credibility of financial statements, which contain
reliable and relevant information for investors and other stakeholders
to make informed decisions. \While the primary responsibility for audit
quality rests with External Auditors, the AC in the interests of investors
and other external stakeholders, plays a pivotal role in monitoring how
auditor enhance and maintain audit quality.

The AC underwent the annual evaluation of the Company’s External
Auditors Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, from an audit quality perspective
for the financial year. The following factors of have been taken into
account by AC:

« governance and leadership;

« compliance with relevant ethical requirements (including but not
limited to independence);

» industry knowledge and technical competence;

« engagement performance and resources;

« communication and interaction with the AC; and

« monitoring process.

Based on the evaluation results, the AC considered Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, as the Company’s incumbent auditor, maintained audit

quality that was sufficient and appropriate for the Company’s audit
engagement.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY ANID AUDIT (continued)

Evaluation of External Auditors

During FY2025 and as in past years, the AC reviewed the annual audit
plans and reports prepared by External Auditors, discussed on the
planned audit scope, materiality in auditing, significant risks and areas
of audit focus, internal control plans, involvement of internal specialists,
timing of audit and audit quality indicators.

In respect of the audit quality indicators, the AC reviews, in particular, the
following areas: audit hours spent, experience of the team, adequacy of
training received by the team, results of internal and external inspection
of their work, compliance with independence requirement, quality
control, staff oversight, and staff attrition rate.

The AC undertook a review of the independence and objectivity of the
External Auditors, their approach of the audit work, their proposed audit
fees as well as the non- audit fees awarded to them.

The AC plays a pivotal role in approving the remuneration of auditors.
The AC ensures audit fees are not at a level that compromises audit
quality and considers key factors including the nature, size, and
complexity of the audit as well as market competition in assessing the
reasonableness of audit fees.

The AC would award such fees, commensurate with the demands of the
engagement, as would ensure that sufficient resources with appropriate
expertise and experience will be allotted to enable the audit to be
performed in accordance with professional standards and applicable
legal and regulatory requirements.

The AC has assessed the reasonableness of the audit fee in following
aspects:

« size and structure of the Group in terms of: (i) total assets, revenue
and net income; (ii) number and relative significance of subsidiaries
and associated entities; (iii) number of geographical locations where
the Group conducts business; and (iv) lines of business operated by
the Group;

- nature and complexity of the Group’s businesses in terms of: (i)
nature of the Group’s principal activities; (ii) effectiveness of the
Group’s financial reporting and internal control over financial
reporting; (iii) whether computer-aided audit tools are expected
to be used and technology specialists should be involved; and (iv)
whether the Group’s businesses are diversified in terms of number of
business segments;
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY ANID AUDIT (continued)

Evaluation of External Auditors (continued)

The AC has reviewed all non-audit services rendered and fees charged
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and its member firms and is of the
opinion that such services received would not affect the auditor’s
independence. During FY2025, the aggregate amount of fees paid and
payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and its member firms is as follows
(excluding fees paid or payable by the Group’s associates):

20258 B EE
FY2025

2024 B EE
FY2024
LERRE L& RBE
MBS B
T#x % of FE T % of
HKS$’000 Total Fees HK$'000 Total Fees

EEE - BERS ST Audit fees to Deloitte Touche

ETER Tohmatsu 7,669 59% 7,376 65%
EEHEBUNNLE AT Audit fees to Deloitte member firms

ZRBETER outside Hong Kong 4,490 34% 3,387 30%
ETEREE Total Audit Fees 12,159 93% 10,763 95%
ERTE R (BEBBR  Total Non-audit Fees (both Hong Kong

H 8RR and its member firms) 932 7% 518 5%
BRBE Total Fees 13,091 100% 11,281 100%

FETRBEITERRR  HEREARE - BHK
BB R o

AATCRMZEEN R RBBER - HAKE
HSEERT R EBRESE - UFSEAER
ERRADNBNEEERRA - ABRFEAR
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Non-audit services were mainly ESG reporting, tax management and
consultation.

The Company has adopted an auditor’s non-audit services policy to set
parameters for the Group’s non-audit services engagements consistent
with applicable laws, regulations and the Company’s corporate
governance principles. The policy is applicable to the External Auditors
including (i) any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm; or (ii) any entity that a reasonable and
informed third party having knowledge of all relevant circumstances
would reasonably consider as part of the audit firm nationally or
internationally.

In order to maintain the independence of the External Auditors the
engagement of the auditor in relation to non-audit services shall be
subject to the approval by the AC. The AC may approve exceptions
when it determines that such an exception is in the best interests of the
Company and it is determined that such an exception does not impair
the independence of the auditor.

For the purpose of the AC’s approval of any non-audit services to be
provided by the External Auditors the auditor shall provide a written
statement to the effect that such non-audit services do not impair its
independence.
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Evaluation of External Auditors (continued)
\When accessing the auditor’s independence or objectivity in relation to
non-audit services, the AC would consider:

« whether the skills and experience of the auditor make it a suitable
supplier of non-audit services;

« whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that there is no
threat (or any such threat will be reduced to an acceptable level) to
the objectivity and independence of the audit because the auditor
provides non-audit services;

» the nature of the non-audit services, the related fee levels and fee
levels individually and in total relative to the audit firm; and

« the criteria for the compensation of the individuals performing the
non-audit services.

The AC is responsible for monitoring the independence of the External
Auditors to ensure true objectivity in the financial statements, reviewing
scope of non-audit services and approving fees payable to the auditor.
The AC shall report to the Board on any matters where action or
improvement is needed in relation to non-audit services provided by the
auditor.

The AC has reviewed the nature and the service charges of non-audit
services performed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during FY2025 and
considered that these non-audit services have no adverse effect on the
independence of the auditor.

The AC would regularly review the implementation and effectiveness of
the auditor’s non-audit services policy to ensure that the policy remains
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both current regulatory
requirements and good corporate governance practice, and will also
discuss and consider any revisions that may be required.

During FY2025, the AC has conducted the review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the auditor’'s non-audit services policy, and
concluded that the policy was implemented effectively.

The AC has recommended to the Board, the re-appointment of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, as External Auditor taking into consideration the
Audit Quality Indicators Disclosure Framework published by Accounting
and Corporate Regulatory Authority.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY ANID AUDIT (continued)

Evaluation of External Auditors (continued)

On the recommendation of the AC, the Board approved the re-
appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the independent External
Auditors at the forthcoming AGM for Shareholders’ approval.

The AC has full access to, and has the full co-operation of Mlanagement
and staff. It also has full discretion to invite any Director or any member
of Mlanagement to attend its meetings.

. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Risk Mlanagement Framework

The Board is aware that a sound system of risk management and internal
control should be embedded in the operations of the Group and form
part of its culture. This system should be capable of responding quickly
to evolving risks to the business arising from factors within the Group
and changes in the business environment. It should include procedures
for reporting immediately to appropriate levels of management any
significant risk management and control failings or weaknesses that
are identified together with details of corrective action being taken. The
Board has therefore established the necessary risk governance structure
to ensure the effective execution of its risk management framework,
policies and processes.

The Board has overall responsibility for the governance of risk, including
determining the risk strategy, risk appetite and risk limits, as well as
the risk policies. All matters pertaining to the management of strategic,
external and preventable risks are the responsibility of the AC.

The Group has established terms of reference within the AC to oversee
enterprise risk. The AC is responsible for defining the level of risk which
the business can take in pursuit of its strategic objectives. The AC also
has direct oversight for the proper setting up and maintenance of an
enterprise risk management (“ERM”) programme which is managed by
the Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”).
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Risk Mlanagement Framework (continued)

The Company maintains an adequate and effective system of internal
controls (including financial, operational, compliance and IT controls)
and risk management systems to safeguard stakeholders’ interests and
the Group’s assets. This contains a IC Manual and an ERM Programme,
which provides the appropriate level of risk consideration and
mitigation. These documents also take into consideration the leading
elements for proper internal control established by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisation for the Treadway Commission (“COSQO”) as
well as the work performed across the financial period by the Internal
Audit Department (“IA Dept”) and other assurance providers. These
documents are reviewed by the AC and the Board annually and any
decision making which entails going beyond the risk boundaries
established under the defined risk governance of the Group is to obtain
explicit Board approval.

The Board establishes the level of risk appetite and risk tolerance which
is to be conformed within the pursuit of the business objectives. The
Group has risk policies which define how ERM is operationalised within
the Group and cover responsibilities for ERM, reporting requirements
and the risk assessment process.

The AC with their direct oversight for ERM across the Group, ensures
that Management devises, implements and maintains adequate and
effective internal control systems, including financial, operational,
compliance and information technology controls, which are relevant to
the various businesses within the Group and address the risk exposures
accordingly. The Group takes a stance to mitigate and reduce the level
of risk exposure for preventable risks. This is done by providing direct
accountability to the risk owners and the CRO to track and manage the
residual risk to acceptable levels. The ERM programme caters for this
and ensures that regular monitoring of risk management activities are in
place.

The CRO is responsible for ensuring that the Group risk profile is up-
to-date and reflects the potential and relevant risk exposures to the
business. Strategic risks are considered during the risk governance
exercise and the Board takes an active role in determining how to
manage, avoid or build contingencies for such external and strategic
matters. All other risks are considered during periodic risk assessment
exercises. In such exercises, prevailing and potential risks are reviewed
and the risk profile is adjusted based on a collective assessment of the
impact and likelihood of these risks (conducted in accordance with the
Group’s risk management programme for the financial year), as well
as the effectiveness of controls in place to address them. The AC is
periodically apprised of the changes to risk profile and any major risk
exposures that are insufficiently covered by existing business practices
or future strategic initiatives.
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D. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

Risk Mlanagement Framework (continued)

The Board has, with the assistance of the AC, evaluated the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems (“RMICS”) on an ongoing basis. There is already an established
process in place for the Board to drive the Group’s propensity for taking
risk and the minimum risk management activities that are expected to
be conducted. There is also a formal ERM programme which allows
Management to communicate the key changes to business risk to the
AC and thereon the Board. This enables the prioritisation of resources
and efforts to address the more pertinent and critical risks to the
business.

Aside to this, the Board works with the AC and Management to set
up organisational objectives, defining strategies to achieve them and
establishing the necessary governance risk management and control
frameworks to manage the risks to their achievement.

The Three Lines Model

Management’s responsibility to achieve organisational objectives
comprises both first and second line roles. The first line roles are
primarily responsible for managing organisational risks through
designing and implementing appropriate mitigating controls, rests with
operational management who own and manage risks. First line roles
most directly aligned with the delivery of products and/or services to
clients of the organisation, and include the roles of support functions.

The second line comprises risk management and compliance functions,
which is being headed by the CRO, to help build and/or monitor the first
line. Second line roles provide assistance with managing risk, facilitates
monitoring and early detection of plausible risks. These are brought
to the attention of the AC where needed, to assign and re- deploy
resources to counter the risk exposure.

Risk management functions are designed to facilitate and monitor the
implementation of effective risk management practices by Management
throughout the organisation, assisting risk owners in defining target risk
exposure and providing adequate risk reporting. The principal purpose
of compliance functions is to monitor compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. It is common for multiple compliance teams to operate
within an organisation, with responsibility in areas such as health and
safety, human resources, legal, supply chain, environmental or quality.
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. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

The Three Lines Model (continued)

As a final line, the Group also maintains an in-house Internal Audit (“IA”).
The principal function of the third line is to provide risk assurance.
IA provides assurance on the effectiveness of governance, risk
management and internal controls, including first and second line
controls. |A is independent of Management with a direct reporting line to
the AC.

External Auditors can also play an important role through their
considerations of the governance and control structure where this is
relevant to financial reporting.

The Internal and External Auditors, pursuant to their respective terms of
reference and appointment, report to the AC any audit findings relating
to internal controls, and the AC reviews the adequacy of the actions
taken by Management to address the recommendations of the Internal
and External Auditors.

The AC seeks assurance from all the above-mentioned parties and
holistically assesses if there are any material gaps or concerns and
highlights which would impact the ability of the Board to opine on the
state of internal control. Such an exercise is conducted annually.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for monitoring and reviewing
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s RMICS on a ongoing
basis. However, the Group’s RMICS implemented by the Management
and relevant parties of the Group are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. These business objectives includes: (i) efficiency
and effectiveness of operations; (ii) reliability of financial reporting; (iii)
compliance with applicable laws and regulations; and (iv) effectiveness
of risk management.

Directors and the Management actively engage in the risk assessment,
the review of response measures and the discussion with respect to
major issues.

The Board has conducted an annual review on the system of risk
management and internal control of the Group and its effectiveness
covering the financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions, in particular, considered the following factors:

(i) the changes, since the last annual review, in the nature and extent

of significant risks (including ESG risks), and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment;
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D. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

The Three Lines Model (continued)

(ii) the scope and quality of Mlanagement’s ongoing monitoring of risks
(including ESG risks) and of the internal control systems, and where
applicable, the work of its IA function and other assurance providers;

(iii) the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results to
the Board (or Board Committee(s)) which enables it to assess control
of the Group and the effectiveness of risk management;

(iv) significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified
during the period. Also, the extent to which they have resulted in
unforeseen outcomes or contingencies that have had, could have
had, or may in the future have, a material impact on the Group’s
financial performance or condition; and

(v) the effectiveness of the Group’s processes for financial reporting
and Listing Rule compliance.

Review Procedure for Systems Effectiveness

The Board makes a comprehensive assessment of the effectiveness of
RMICS annually. The Board has strictly implemented the supervision
function of RMICS in the following specific procedures:

(i) reviewed financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems of the Company;

(i) discussed the RMICS with the Management to ensure that the
Management has performed its duty to have effective internal
control and risk management systems. The discussion included
whether the resources, staff qualification and experience, training
and relevant budget of the Company in accounting, internal audit,
and financial reporting functions, as to whether their relevant
employee is sufficient or not;

(iii) considered major investigation findings on RMICS matters on its
own initiative or as delegated by the Board and research on the
management’s response to these findings; and

(iv) ensured coordination between the IA and External Auditors, and also

ensure the IA function is sufficiently resourced and properly in place
inside the Company, and review and supervise its effectiveness.
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Review Procedure for Systems Effectiveness (continued)

The Management takes responsibilities for implementing RMICS on an
on-going basis and reporting the implementation position to the Board
annually. The Mlanagement has primarily conducted the following works
in relation to risk management and internal control during FY2025:

(i) updated a unified risk framework and completed risk pool, and
carried out internal risk examination and risk assessments on a
regular basis;

(ii) carried out relevant activities to analyze and monitor the major risks,
in terms of strategic, operational, financial, marketing, technological
and compliance aspects, in responses to the recent changes in
business environment and relevant rules and regulation of the
battery, rechargeable battery and audio industries;

(iii) carried out quantitative risk management regularly with the aim of
optimising quantitative risk measurement indexes to support the risk
assessment and risk monitoring procedures;

(iv) conducted a review of internal control system through combination
of quantitative self-assessment by the business units and qualitative
evaluation by the IA department, so as to continuously monitored the
operation of the internal control systems; and

(v) established risk-oriented internal audit work, effectively carried out
the annual IA work in accordance with the approved internal audit
plan, regularly communicated with, and reported to, the Management
and the AC about significant findings from the annual IA work and
followed up the rectification matters.

The Board has received confirmation from Management on the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s RMICS. The Board
performed analysis and appraisal of the effectiveness and adequacy of
the RMICS of the Group through the outcome of the abovementioned
review performed by the IA department, considered and were of the
opinion that the Group has maintained adequate and effective RMICS
for FY2025.

The Board is committed to implementing an effective and sound risk
management and internal control system to safeguard the interest of the
Shareholders and the Group’s assets.

The IA department reviews and assesses the adequacy and

effectiveness of the Group’s RMICS. The results of risk management and
IA reviews as well as recommendations are reported to the AC regularly.
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D. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

Internal Audit

The IA function, which presently has a staff strength of six, is
independent of the activities it audits. In performing its responsibilities,
the IA department has organized and coordinated the Management
to identify and assess the risks exposed to the Group for the Board’s
consideration and motivate the Management to design, implement
and manage suitable internal control and risk management systems
to facilitate policies adopted by the Board. In addition to the IA
Department, all employees are accountable for the implementation
of risk management and internal control under each of scope of their
responsibilities.

The Head of IA’s primary reporting line is to the AC. The appointment,
resignation and dismissal of the Head of IA is reviewed and/or approved
by the AC. The Head of IA has unfettered access to the AC, the Board
and Management as well as all the Group’s documents, records,
properties and personnel relevant for the performance of audits and has
appropriate standing within the Company.

The AC assesses on a regular basis, the resourcing adequacy of the IA,
remuneration, performance evaluation and all outsourcing arrangements
entered into with external professional services providers (if any).

All members of IA including the Head of IA have the relevant
qualifications and experience. The Head of IA, is a Certified Internal
Auditor and holds professional certifications in internal auditing issued
by the Institute of Internal Auditors (the “lIA”). The IA is given sufficient
time and resources dedicated by Management to facilitate the proper
completion of internal audits and reporting of any material matters to the
AC.

The IA adopts the internal control framework established by COSO
when performing its work and the IA plan is developed through a risk
centric approach. The IA has adopted and conducts its IA reviews based
on the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal
Auditing (the “llA Standards”) of the International Professional Practices
Framework of the lIIA. This ensures that the IA maintains the appropriate
level of conformance to the attribute and performance standards of
an IA function. Members of the IA also undergo CPD training through
attendance at professional technical training sessions organised by
qualified external institutions and bodies.
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Internal Audit (continued)

The IA formally reports the findings from the |IA reviews conducted at the
quarterly AC meetings. On an annual basis, the AC reviews and approves
annual IA plan as well as any further requirements in professional
resources to conduct the required IA reviews. The key findings from the
IA reviews are also shared with the risk management team and the CRO,
to facilitate the necessary inclusion in the consideration of the Group’s
risks during the risk assessment process.

As part of the work done to provide the basis for the opinion on internal
control, the AC also assesses the findings of:

(i) the IA visits performed on the activities or entities within its scope;

(ii) the evaluation of the framework of risk governance; and

(iii) the assessment of adequacy of risk management and internal
controls over financial, operational and compliance risk as principally
managed by the first and second line roles.

The AC also evaluates any weaknesses or material non- compliance
identified by the External Auditors during the course of their financial
audit, and the effectiveness of remediation actions taken to address the
issues reported (if any).

The quality of the IA is regularly assessed to ensure compliance with the
IIA Standards.

The IA function has a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme
(“QAIP”) in place to ensure that its audit activities confirm to the IIA
Standards. As part of the QAIP, an external Quality Assurance Reviews
is carried out at least once every five years by qualified professionals
from an external organisation. In the financial year ended 31 March
2023, Ernst & Young (“EY”) was appointed to conduct the external
QAR, based on Standard 1312 - External Assessments of International
Professional Practices Framework of the IIA. The QAR covered the
attribute standards (attributes of the function and individuals that
perform IA) and the performance standards (which defines the nature
of 1A and provides quality criteria to measure the performance of these
services). Based on EY’s assessment, the IA function has been rated
to have conformed with the requirements of the IIA Standards in all
material respects.

The AC considers that the IA function is independent, effective and
adequately resourced.
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E. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS, COMMUNICATIONS WITH

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Shareholders’ Right - Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary
General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals

Pursuant to Article 68 of the Company’s Articles of Association and
Sections 566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance, Shareholders holding
at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a right
to vote at general meetings of the Company (the “Requisitionists”), may
request the Directors to convene a extraordinary general meeting of the
Company (“General Meeting”).

The written requisition must state the general nature of the business
to be dealt with at the General Meeting and must be signed by the
Requisitionists and sent to the registered office of the Company which
is located at 9/F, Building 12WV/, 12 Science Park \West Avenue, Phase 3,
Hong Kong Science Park, Pak Shek Kok, New Territories, Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary. The requisition may consist of
several documents in like form and may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the General
Meeting.

If the Directors do not, within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement, proceed duly to convene a General
Meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the date of the notice
convening the General Meeting, the Requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene a General Meeting. The General Meeting
must be called for a date not more than three months after the date on
which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a General
Meeting. Any reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionists by
reason of the failure of the Directors duly to a General Meeting shall be
repaid to the Requisitionists by the Company.

Shareholders’ Right - Procedures for Requesting Circulation of a
Resolution for an AGM

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, Shareholders may
submit a written requisition to circulate a resolution at an AGM if they:
(a) represent at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders
having a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the request
relates; or (b) are at least 50 Shareholders having a right to vote on
the resolution at the AGM to which the request relates. The written
requisition must: (a) identify the resolution of which notice is to be given;
(b) be signed by the requisitionists; (c) be sent to the registered office
of the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary; and (d) be
received by the Company not later than six weeks before the AGM to
which the request relates or if later, the time at which notice is given of
that AGIM. Shareholders are requested to refer to Sections 580 and 615
of the Companies Ordinance for further details.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONIS (continued)

Shareholders’ Right - Procedures to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director

The details of the procedure for Shareholders to nominate a person
to stand for election as Director are posted on the Company’s
website under the heading “Procedure for Nomination of Directors” at
www.goldpeak.com.

Shareholders’ Right - Enquiries to the Board

No procedure set in the Articles of Association of the Company is
available for any Shareholder to put forward an enquiry to the Board.
A Shareholder may, of course, at any time write to the Board at the
Company’s principal office at 9/F, Building 12\I/, 12 Science Park \West
Avenue, Hong Kong Science Park, New Territories, Hong Kong or by
email to ir@goldpeak.com. In relation to share registration matters in
Hong Kong, a member shall contact the branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, namely Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Shareholders’ Participation in General Meetings
The Company’s General Meetings are generally held physically in major
business districts in Hong Kong which are easily accessible by public
transportation, ensuring that Shareholders have the opportunity to
participate effectively and vote at such meetings.

Shareholders are informed of the meetings through notices sent to
them and via HKEx and made available on the Company’s website at
www.goldpeak.com, and reports or circulars sent or made available to
all Shareholders. In order to provide ample time for the Shareholders
to review, the notice of AGM, together with the annual report, is
announced via HKEx and the Company’s website fourteen days before
the scheduled AGM date. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the General Meetings to ensure a high level of participation and
accountability.

As part of the Group’s commitment towards environmental
sustainability, the Company will only distribute printed copies of the
notice of AGM and proxy form to its Shareholders. Printed annual report
will only be sent to Shareholders upon receipt of duly completed annual
report request forms.

All Shareholders, other than those who are considered the “Connected
Persons” in connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules)
subject to the approval by the Shareholders, are entitled to vote at
General Meetings. In addition, at a General Meeting, the Company
Secretary and representatives from the share registrar’s office are also
available to provide Shareholders with information on the rules that
govern the meeting, including voting procedures.
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E. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS, COMMUNICATIONS WITH

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ Participation in General Meetings (continued)

The rules for the appointment of proxies, including information that
voting will be conducted by way of poll, are set out in the notice of
General Meetings. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, if any Shareholder is unable to participate at the physical
meeting, he/she is allowed to appoint one or more proxies to attend
and, on a poll, vote on his/her behalf at the meeting through proxy forms
sent in advance. The proxy forms must be deposited at such place or
places specified in the notice or document accompanying the notice
convening the General Meetings at least 48 hours before the time set for
the General Meetings. The proxy form is sent with the notices of General
Meetings to all Shareholders. This will enable indirect investors, such
as banks and capital markets services licence holders which provide
custodial services, to be appointed as proxies to participate in the
physical meetings. Such indirect investors, where so appointed, will have
the same rights as direct investors to vote at the physical meeting.

Interaction with Shareholders

Shareholders are invited to submit questions they may have on the
motions to be debated and decided upon, to the Chairman of the
meetings prior to the General Meetings. Responses to substantial and
relevant questions submitted by Shareholders prior to the meetings are
uploaded to HKEx and the Company’s website prior to the events and
addressed at the General Meetings. The CEO and CFO of the Company
will give a presentation at the AGM, providing further elaboration to
Shareholders.

At General Meetings of the Company, Shareholders are invited to put
forth any further questions they may have on the motions to be debated
and decided upon, and are given the opportunity to communicate
their views and raise questions and discuss with the Directors and
Management on matters affecting the Company, and vote on the
resolutions at General Meetings. Each distinct issue is proposed as a
separate resolution. Such resolutions include matters of significance to
Shareholders such as, where applicable, proposed amendments to the
Constitution, the authorization to issue additional shares, the transfer
of significant assets, re-election of Directors, and the remuneration of
INEDs. The rationale for the resolutions to be proposed at the meeting is
set out in the notices to the meeting or their accompanying appendices.
However, where the issues are interdependent and linked so as to
form one significant proposal, the Company may propose “bundled
resolutions” and will set out the reasons and material implication in
the notices to the meeting or its accompanying appendices. Detailed
information on each item in the AGM agenda is provided in the
explanatory notes to the notice of AGIMI.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONIS (continued)

Conduct of Resolutions and VVoting

To ensure transparency, the Company conducts poll voting for
Shareholders/proxies present at the physical meeting for all the
resolutions proposed at the General Meeting. Shareholders are also
informed of the rules, including voting procedures, governing such
General Meetings. A scrutineer will be appointed to count and validate
the votes cast at the meetings. The total number of votes cast for
or against the resolutions and the respective percentages are also
announced in a timely manner after the General Meeting via HKEx. Each
share is entitled to one vote.

\Where possible, all Directors will attend the General Meetings of the
Company. The chairmen of the Board and each Board Committee are
required to be present to address questions at General Meetings.
External Auditors are also present at such meetings to assist the
Directors to address Shareholders’ queries, if necessary.

The Company’s Articles of Association allow for absentia voting at
General Meetings. \Where Shareholders are unable to attend General
Meetings, they may appoint proxies to attend, speak and vote on their
behalf.

Minutes of General Meetings

The Company Secretary prepare minutes of General Meetings, which
incorporate substantial and relevant comments or queries from
Shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting and responses
from the Board and Management. These minutes are available to
Shareholders upon their requests.

All Directors, including the Board Chairman, the chairmen of the
respective Board Committees, Mlanagement, the External Auditors and
legal advisors (where necessary) are present at General Meetings to
address queries from the Shareholders. At each AGIM, the CEO and the
CFO deliver presentations to update Shareholders on the Company’s
operations and financial performance in the preceding year. At other
General Meetings, external professional advisors engaged in advising
the matters being put to vote are invited to attend the meetings, so that
the Shareholders can seek necessary clarification directly from these
professional advisors.

Attendance of Directors at the General Meeting held during FY2025

are disclosed under the section headed “Board and Board Committee
Meetings” of this CG Report.
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E. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS, COMMUNICATIONS WITH

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations

During FY2025, there was no change to the Company’s Articles of
Association. The Articles of Association of the Company has been
posted on the Company’s website.

The Board has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy (the
“Communication Policy”) which aims at promoting and facilitating
effective communication with its Shareholders. The objective is
to ensure that the Company provides timely, clear, reliable and
relevant information for its Shareholders in exercising their rights.
The Communication Policy includes how Shareholders can convene a
General Meeting, the procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and the procedures for putting forward proposals at Shareholders’
meeting. Sufficient contact details for the above can also be found in the
Communication Policy. A procedure for election of Directors was also
adopted to provide guidelines on how Shareholders can nominate an
individual as Director. The Communication Policy and the procedures for
nomination of directors are published on the Company’s website. During
the year, the Company has reviewed the Communication Policy and
considers it to be practical and effective.

The Company is committed to building investor confidence and trust
and values open communication with Shareholders and the investment
community and has in place an Investor Relations Policy which outlines
the principles and framework for the Company to provide investors,
analysts and other stakeholders with timely, accurate, balanced, clear
and pertinent information on matters pertaining to and/or affecting the
Group.

The Company provides investors with a better understanding of the

Group’s business and growth drivers, with regular updates on the
Group’s strategies, operations and financial performance.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONIS (continued)

Shareholder Communication

Shareholders and investors can contact the Company or access
information on the Company’s corporate website at www.goldpeak.com
which has a dedicated ’Investor Relations’ (IR) section that provides,
inter alia, information on the Board, the Company’s latest and past years’
Corporate Governance Reports, Sustainability Reports, Annual Reports,
Announcements, Press Releases and Financial Results as released by
the Company on HKEXx, and other information which may be relevant to
investors.

The Company ensures that all Shareholders are treated fairly
and equitably, and informed simultaneously in an accurate and
comprehensive manner regarding all material developments that impact
the Company and the Group via HKEX, in line with the Company’s
disclosure obligation pursuant to the rules of the Listing Manual and the
Companies Act. There is a dedicated team in place to respond to queries
from investors and maintain regular dialogue with Shareholders and a
dedicated investor relations email account at ir@goldpeak.com has been
set up.

Pertinent information is communicated to Shareholders primarily
through timely announcements released via HKEx. To ensure the
announcements are as descriptive, detailed and forthcoming as
possible, the announcements are reviewed by the Board and the
Company Secretary before they are released. In addition, where
appropriate, announcements are prepared with the assistance of other
professional advisors, such as legal advisors and financial advisors.

Corporate \Website

The Company’s website is one of the conduits through which the Group
engages with its stakeholders. Stakeholders can obtain background
information and published financial information about the Group, as well
as contact information should more information be required.

The Company’s policy on how it manages and protects personal data in

accordance with the applicable regulatory requirements are set out in
the Personal Data Protection Statement.
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E. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS, COMMUNICATIONS WITH

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company is committed to rewarding Shareholders fairly and
sustainably, while balancing the payment of dividends with its capital
requirements to ensure that the best interests of the Company are
served, after taking into account the Group’s financial performance,
short and long-term capital requirements, future investment plans and
other factors as the Board may deem appropriate including general
global and business economic conditions and any regulatory factors.
Any payment of interim dividend or, upon receipt of Shareholders’
approval at AGMs, final dividend, will be paid to all Shareholders in
an equitable and timely manner. As stated in the announcement of
the Company dated 24 June 2025 relating to the annual results of the
Company for FY 2025, the Directors resolved to recommend the payment
of a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per share to Shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members of the Company at the close of
business on Friday, 12 September 2025.

\Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has established a whistleblowing policy and procedure
where employees of the Company and outsiders can in confidence,
whether anonymously or otherwise, raise concerns on possible
improprieties and irregularities relating to accounting, financial
reporting, internal controls, fraudulent acts, bribery and corruption, other
matters allegedly committed by Management and staff of the Company
or its subsidiaries, auditing matters or other matters without fear of
reprisals in any form. The AC has the responsibility of overseeing this
policy to ensure that it is properly administered with the assistance of
the Head of IA. Under these procedures, arrangements are in place for
independent investigation of such matters raised and for appropriate
follow-up action to be taken.

Pursuant to the whistleblowing policy:

(i) arrangements are in place for independent investigations by the AC
of such matters and review of the outcome of the follow-up actions;

(ii) the identity of the whistleblower is kept confidential and will be
protected against detrimental or unfair treatment; and

(iii) any form of disadvantage or reprisal against the whistleblower by
Management is expressly prohibited.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONIS (continued)

Whistleblowing Policy

A copy of the whistleblowing policy and reporting procedure is posted
on the Group’s intranet encouraging the report of any behaviour or
actions that anyone reasonably believes might by suspicious, against
any rules/regulations/accounting standards and internal policies.

Details on the dedicated channels of communication (email and postal
address) have also been made available on the Group’s intranet and
corporate website. A dedicated whistle-blowing email account at
internal.audit@goldpeak.com has been set up for the Head of IA to
receive complaints and information from all employees of the Group
or other persons in order to facilitate and encourage the reporting of
such matters. The AC monitors the whistleblowing complaints based on
reports prepared by the Head of IA and ensures appropriate follow-up
actions are taken.

. SUSTAINABILITY

The Board recognises sustainability as the key to the Group’s long-term
success in enhancing the stakeholder value. Facilitated by a third party,
the Company conducts materiality assessments annually to determine
the key ESG issues that are important to the Company’s stakeholders.
These issues are foundational to the Company’s annual sustainability
reporting.

In formulating its business strategies, due consideration is given by the
Board to risks and opportunities arising from the ESG issues, including
disclosure requirements pertinent to international and local standards,
and the corporate and social responsibility in contribution towards a net-
zero economy.

The Board has delegated the responsibility for monitoring and
overseeing the Group’s sustainability efforts to Management,
comprising the EDs and heads of departments, and heads of business
units. The Group’s SSC is tasked to evaluate and determine the
environmental, health and safety related risks pertaining to the Group’s
businesses.
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F. SUSTAINABILITY (continued)

Sustainability and ESG Governance

The Group has established a comprehensive Sustainability and
ESG governance framework that provides a strong foundation for
incorporating sustainability into the Group’s businesses and ensuring
that the Group’s stakeholders’ interests and expectations are taken into
account in the Group’s development strategies and implementations.
The comprehensive framework facilitates communications and defines
the roles and responsibilities of the team to properly address ESG issues.

The Board incorporates sustainability issues into the strategic
formulation of the Group. Corresponding ESG targets, metrics,
initiatives, and progress are reviewed by the ExCo, and heads of
departments and reported to the Board for approval.

GPG’s ESG Reports are available on its corporate website. The Group’s
sustainability efforts and performance for FY2025 will be discussed in
more details in the Company’s 2025 ESG report. The 2025 ESG report,
which meets the requirement of the Listing Rules, is expected to be
available by late July 2025.

. CORPORATE VALUE AND CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

The Board and Management are committed to conducting business with
integrity and consistent with the highest standards of business ethics,
and in compliance with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements.
The Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for
the Directors (the “Ethics Code”) and incorporated the Ethics Code in
various corporate policies. The Ethics Code serves to guide the Directors
on the following areas of ethical risk and sets a framework where
integrity and accountability are paramount:

(i) to avoid conflict of interest in corporate opportunities and other
board appointments;

(ii) to maintain confidentiality of confidential or proprietary information
that a Director may learn of when discharging his/her duties as a

Director;

(iii) to ensure compliance with laws, rules and regulations, including
those relating to the dealing in the Company'’s securities; and

(iv) to ensure fair dealing with the Group’s stakeholders including
customers, suppliers, competitors and employees.
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The Ethics Code requires Directors to practise and promote ethical
behaviour. Through the adoption of the Ethics Code, the Board affirms
it shall take steps to ensure the Company encourages its employees to
seek guidance from supervisors, managers and appropriate personnel
when in doubt about the best course of action in any particular situation;
and to report any violations of laws and Company’s policies.

The Ethics Code also sets out the channel of communication for the
Directors to report matters concerning improper business conducts and
unethical practices.

The Company has also in place an Internal Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics crystallising the Company’s business principles and practices
with respect to matters which may have ethical implications. The
code, which provides a communicable and understandable framework
for employees to observe the Company’s principles such as honesty,
integrity, responsibility and accountability at all levels of the organisation
and in the conduct of the Company’s business in their relationships
with customers, suppliers and amongst employees, is available on the
Company’s intranet and is easily accessible by all employees.

The code provides guidance on issues such as:

- conflicts of interest and the appropriate disclosures to be made;

- the Company’s zero-tolerance stance against corruption and bribery;

« compliance with applicable laws and regulations including those
relating to the protection of the environment and the conservation of

energy and natural resources;

« compliance with the Company’s policies and procedures, including
those on internal controls and accounting;

« safeguarding and proper use of the Company’s assets, confidential
information and intellectual property rights, including the respect of
the intellectual property rights of third parties; and

« competition and fair dealing in the conduct of the Company’s

business, in its relationships with customers, suppliers, competitors
and towards its employees.
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G. CORPORATE VALUE AND CONDUCT OF BUSINESS (continued)

In line with the Board’s commitment to maintain high ethical standards
which are integral to its corporate identity and business, the Company
has the following three key corporate policies in place:

(i) Anti-Corruption Policy and Guidelines which sets out the
responsibilities of the Group companies and of each employee
in observing and upholding the Group’s 'zero-tolerance’ position
against all forms of corruption, bribery and extortion and provides
information and guidance to employees on how to recognise,
address, resolve, avoid and prevent instances of corruption, bribery
and extortion which may arise in the course of their work.

(ii) Fraud Policy and Guidelines which provides guidance on actions
which may constitute fraudulent conduct and highlights the
importance of the implementation, maintenance and compliance
with the internal controls framework of the Group and its policies and
procedures.

These policies are available on the Company’s intranet and have also
been disseminated to officers and employees of the Group’s key
subsidiaries.

Selected policies have also been translated into Mandarin for
dissemination to employees of the Group in the People’s Republic of
China.

The Company’s policy on how it manages and protects personal data in

accordance with the applicable regulatory requirements are set out in
the Group’s Personal Data Policy.
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Directors’ Interests in Securities

The details of Directors’ interests in the Company and its associated
corporations can be found under the section on “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s interests in securities of the Company and its associated
corporations” on pages 130 and 131 of the Directors’ report.

Compliance with the Code for Securities Transactions for Directors’
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding the Directors’ and
Officers’ securities transactions.

The Model Code outlines the required standard of conduct for directors
of listed companies in Hong Kong regarding their dealings in the
company'’s securities. This code aims to prevent insider dealing and
ensure Directors act responsibly when trading in their Company’s
stock and apply to the Company, its Directors and employees. The key
elements of the Model Code are set out as follows:

(i) Absolute Prohibition on Dealing with Inside Information - Directors
and employees are prohibited from dealing in their company’s
securities when they possess inside information.

(i) Black-out Periods - Directors and employees are generally
prohibited from dealing during specific periods before the
announcement of financial results (e.g., 60 days before annual results
or 30 days before half-year results).

(iii) Exceptional Circumstances - There are limited exceptions for
dealing during black-out periods, such as pressing financial
commitments, but these require specific procedures and approvals.

(iv) Notification and Clearance - Directors must obtain clearance to
deal from the chairman or a designated director and notify the Stock
Exchange under certain circumstances.

The Company has further made specific enquiries to all the Directors
and they have confirmed their compliance with the required standards
set out in the Code for Securities Transactions regarding the Directors’
securities transactions during FY2025. During FY2025, no incident of
non-compliance with the Code of Securities Transactions was noted by
the Company.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Directors and officers are indemnified under a directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them in the
discharge of their duties while holding offices as the Directors and
officers of the Group. The Directors and officers shall not be indemnified
where there is any negligence, fraud, breach of duty or breach of trust
proven against them.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

To effectively monitor and minimize waste and emissions, task forces have
been set up. Policies are in place to cut down hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes as well as to properly handle industrial waste water and hazardous
wastes. There are also recycling guidelines and programs to reduce wastes
and for more efficient use of resources.

The Group strives to reduce energy consumption to alleviate effects on
global warming. Green building concept has been employed to reduce
energy consumption in its factories. Air-conditioning, electricity and water
conservation have been closely tracked and reviewed to maintain a lean and
an efficient operation. Product packaging is constantly reviewed in order to
reduce material usage and minimise the impact on the environment.

The Group maintains a well-established supply chain management policy
to monitor the quality of suppliers. Random audits at suppliers’ production
sites are conducted to ensure their continual compliance with the technical
requirements and quality of products, health, safety and environment
standards as well as business ethics.

The production of safe and quality products has always been the top priority
of the Group. The Group strives to comply with all regulatory requirements
pertaining to the health and safety of its products and services. Appropriate
channels have been set up to receive customer feedback for continuous
improvement.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group is supported by a motivated workforce of approximately 6,130
people worldwide. The Group strives to provide its employees with a safe
and healthy workplace and offer them fair and competitive remuneration
packages. Remuneration policies and packages are reviewed regularly to
ensure that compensation and benefits are in line with the market of each
territory.

The Group invests in employees through development programs to enhance
their soft and hard skills as well as work competence in preparation for their
career development. Employees participated in various workshops and
training sessions on laws and regulations, management and leadership skills,
as well as language and communication during the year.
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HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)

The Group is committed to compliance with applicable anti-corruption laws
and regulations. It prohibits its employees from offering, making or receiving
any bribes or kickbacks for the purpose of securing an improper business
advantage, or otherwise engaging in corrupt activities or practices.

The Group has established a whistle-blowing policy that allows anyone
to report misconduct or malpractice without fear of reprisal through a
confidential channel.

COMMUNITY

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group nurtures a caring culture
among employees in the workplace and reciprocates to the community
through participation in various community events during the year.

The Group has joined the Community Chest’s Corporate and Employee
Contribution Program for decades. It is also an active supporter of many
community events throughout the year. In recognition of its continuous
commitment in good corporate citizenship, the Group has been awarded the
Caring Company Logo by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service for 23
consecutive years.

126



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERWES

EERENTRREERE2025F3A3IRLFE
(M20258 BUF B ) FHRREERZFEMBHRE

EREBREBER

AARH-—BEREERLQT  EXENB AR REE
NEMNEBRREEREMAE - L& EERHEEE
e RmEM - FE EFREBBRER - DRFIERN
REMBRMRMTAIR44 REBZE—DTHK
oM BEAEEEHNEZAMBMTEERERA
SEXEBHARRER) - BIRAFRE206EEH40
Bz EEETREINT - IRDHESRBEEEN—
BB o

& FERAHERE

REEBE 20200 B F E 2 EERARE 20 EH
MEFRE 1B 2 FEERRRER 2 GEMBER
RIIEE ©

EEREFRE 2025 BHFERPREREGR
1.0/84l (2024F : 1.0/84l) T/ 2025598 128
EfNFH) BIARDERREMZBR - RBREE
FRERN 2025598 20 (BHI =) BTHNARDAREK
BERE (2026FRREAFRE) #tE o 5Lt
R - 202681 B E BV EZZE R S48 M 202559
A22R8 (B8 —) Xt - R20258 BFE - &A2AH
M2025% 18 8RIKE M HIIR 2 F R 1.5% 4l (2024
F -

KR E 2 MEFF BN RS MR 1L

TR BE

FEENBEHEMRFENEE  UREEHEAE
HBLREAE 148 K ¥ 165

BRAS

RABRA 2 BEFHN RS M BRARMFEI30-

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 (“FY2025”).

PRINICIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries and associates are investment holding
and development, manufacturing, marketing and trading of batteries,
rechargeable batteries, audio, electronics and acoustics products, which
are set out in notes 43 and 44 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing and
an indication of likely future developments of the Group’s business, can be
found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 26 to
40 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS, APPROPRIATIONS AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for FY2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 142 and the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend for FY2025 of
1.0 HK cent in cash per Share (2024: 1.0 HK cent per Share), payable to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 12 September 2025. The final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 2 September 2025 (“2025 AGIM”).
Subject to the aforesaid approval, the recommended final dividend for
FY2025 will be payable on or around Monday, 22 September 2025. Interim
dividend of 1.5 HK cents per share (2024: nil) was paid by the Company on
8 January 2025 for FY2025.

Details of the final dividend are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past ten financial years is set out on pages 14 and 15.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$215,019,000 to expand its business. Details of
movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year
are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMIPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31
March 2025 are represented by the retained profit and the dividend reserve
totaling HK$63,662,000 (2024: HK$98,570,000).

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations totalling
HK$ 178,000 (2024: HK$150,000).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Victor LO Chung Wing (Chairman & Chief Executive)

Brian LI Yiu Cheung (Vice Chairman & Executive V/ice President)
Michael LAM Hin Lap (Managing Director)

Victor CHONG Toong Ying (retired with effect from 1 September 2024)
Waltery LAW \Wang Chak (Group CFO)

Christopher LAU Kwan (appointed with effect from 1 April 2024)
Joseph LEUNG (appointed with effect from 1 January 2025)

Non-Executive Director:
Karen NG Ka Fai

Independent Nlon-Executive Directors:
LUI Ming Wah

Frank CHAN Chi Chung

CHAN Kei Biu

Timothy TONG Wai Cheung

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Messrs. VVictor LO Chung Wing, Michael LAM Hin Lap, LUl Ming \Wah and
Frank CHAN Chi Chung are due to retire at the 2025 AGM and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

The re-election of Messrs. LUl Ming \Wah and Frank CHAN Chi Chung, who
are Independent Nlon-Executive Directors having served the Company for
more than nine years, will be subject to separate resolutions to be approved
by the Shareholders of the Company at the 2025 AGM. The Company has
stated in the circular to Shareholders dispatched together with this annual
report that the Board has assessed their independence and the reasons for
considering their re-election.

In accordance with Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr.
Joseph LEUNG who was appointed by the Board as Executive Director of
the Company on 1 January 2025, shall hold office until the 2025 AGM and
shall then be eligible for re-election at the 2025 AGM. Mr. Joseph LEUNG
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27
December 2024 and has confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
director of the Company.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a service
contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors
have been appointed for a specific term of 3 years subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the
provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that every Director or
other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any loss
or damages which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company had
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and other officers of the Group for the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
the Chief Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”))
which were required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV/
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” contained in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and HKEX were as follows:

(a) Interests in shares of the Company (long positions)
As at 31 March 2025, the interests of the Directors and the Chief
Executive in the ordinary shares of the Company were as follows:

BELBERAHAE
Number of L
ordinary shares ZanEaT
RiBzESL

held
Percentage of
B A= issued share
Personal capital of
5= Name of director interests  the Company
%
EhL Victor LO Chung Wing 242,941,685 26.77
TR Brian LI Yiu Cheung 350,000 0.04
MREESL Michael LAM Hin Lap - -
EBL=E Waltery LAW Wang Chak - -
222 Christopher LAU Kwan 4,525,652 0.50
RZE Joseph LEUNG - _
RRE Karen NG Ka Fai 48,868,573 5.38
BEEE LUI Ming Wah - _
PR Frank CHAN Chi Chung - -
PR HL CHAN Kei Biu - -
BRE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung - -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

(b) Interests in shares of the Company’s associated corporations (long
positions)
As at 31 March 2025, the direct beneficial interests of the Directors
and the Chief Executive in the shares of GP Industries Limited (“GP
Industries”), an 86.18%-owned subsidiary of the Company, were as
follows:

BEEERAHERACHRT
BazE St
Number of ordinary shares
and percentage of their
issued share capital held

GPI %
g5 Name of director GP Industries
=]

Number %
‘g Victor LO Chung Wing 300,000 0.06
By Brian LI Yiu Cheung 1,465,000 0.30
MREESL Michael LAM Hin Lap - -
BRE Waltery LAW Wang Chak 116,400 0.02
22 Christopher LAU Kwan - -
2xiE Joseph LEUNG - -
RRE Karen NG Ka Fai 94,603 0.02
EEES LUI Ming Wah - -
PRAER Frank CHAN Chi Chung - -
PRELE CHAN Kei Biu - -
BRE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung - -

(c) RARQTFFREQTIKAEEFHIER

2025538 31 * THESRGPIER KA
ESTEAEEER

(c) Interests in perpetual bonds of the Company’s associated
corporations
As at 31 March 2025, the following Directors had direct interests in the
Perpetual Bonds of GP Industries:

BE{TEER

BEKAES KABEH2HE

H&8E Amount of

Amount of Perpetual

Perpetual Bondsinsame

- Name of Director Bonds held classinissue
TEx ES

USD’000 UsSD’000

ZRE Brian LI Yiu Cheung 1,000 11,000
BLE Waltery LAW Wang Chak 2,500 11,000

R202653A31H ' BHREERBEARLT
3,293, 422 E BRI IVER - BIBRTERE
REEREZRF -

M2025% 38310 - BERZRLTEEAR
Al 25,048 REBROKRGP I X KR EH
500,000% T EH s - BREIKTZ L REMEKS
LML o

FRUA L PR sh - M20255F3A 31 » EERAH

FEHBAEALTRAAFAIREZSERPERIEEZ
BE R R 2R B AR

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

As at 31 March 2025, Mr Alan LO Yeung Kit was interests in 3,293,422
ordinary shares of the Company. Mr Alan LO Yeung Kit is the son of Mr
Victor LO Chung Wing.

As at 31 March 2025, Ms. Grace LO Kit Yee had direct interests in
25,048 ordinary shares of the Company and the Perpetual Bonds of GP
Industries of USD500,000. Ms. Grace LO Kit Yee is the daughter of Mr
Victor LO Chung Wing.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, the

Chief Executive or their associates had any interest in the securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

None of the Directors, Chief Executive, their spouses or children under the
age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the year.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and HKEX pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
“Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers”
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and HKEX.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or the
Chief Executive of the Company or their respective associates to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Directors are in the opinion that due to the excessive number of
subsidiaries and their directors, disclosure of the names of all subsidiaries
and their directors in this Directors’ Report would be made by way of
reference to the information on the names of subsidiaries and their directors
under “Investor Relations” at www.goldpeak.com.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company:

ARTEBITRA
ZBSt
Percentage of

BELEREE issued share
K= 513 Number of capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary shares held the Company
REB @A 98,432,150 (note 1) 10.85%
TO May Mee Beneficial owner (FyEEL)
RREE @A 48,868,573 (note 1) 5.38%
Panikkar Jessica Ngai Ching Beneficial owner (FzE1)
Ring Lotus Investment Limited SR TR 70,569,500 (note 2) 7.78%
(“Ring Lotus”) Interests of controlled corporation (FizE2)
HSBC International Trustee Limited FFEA 70,569,500 (note 2) 7.78%
(“HSBC Trustee”) Trustee (HyEE2)

s -

1 REBZIRRBBLLIDRAEQABZFHTESR
RIE L+ 2 FHRIRIK

2. REMELEEZRRRING LotusFIHSBC Trustee?
BIEHAOIBEN - HSBC Trustee AR D Z AN S 101
HAEFEE %A 70,569,500 R 12 = % » BLRNMD A
HSBC Trusteez 2 &# B A AIRing Lotus A= HI A
AR B TR ©

MU EFTIE TSN - 20255 3A 31H @ BREEFT
H o ARBDESRBAREEBETMAL HERLF
ZEZRABHRIN BERERZRBEMRGIEXV
BABMART AN RARDRAAREBRAD 2 BRI
2 REMATEERBREEFSTREAQRTRRA
2 EEAERTETREERN ZEMER S BITRA
5% A £ o
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Notes:

1. Madam TO May Mee and Ms. Panikkar Jessica Ngai Ching are the mother and
sister, respectively, of Ms. Karen NG Ka Fai, a Non-Executive Director of the
Company.

2. According to the two corporate substantial shareholder notices filed by Ring Lotus
and HSBC Trustee respectively, HSBC Trustee was deemed to be interested in
70,569,500 shares in its capacity as the trustee of these shares, which were in turn
owned by Ring Lotus, a company wholly-owned by HSBC Trustee, as interests of
controlled corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known to
the Directors, the Directors and the Chief Executive of the Company are
not aware of any person (other than a Director or Chief Executive of the
Company) who had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of any class of the issued share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

133



DIRECTORS’ REPORT onro

EEREREE

AR ES - BARAE - SRR SUELER

RABR2025F3A 318 - BEHRTREZTER
HE o BRE AREIIEMECER o RAF
B WEARRES - BRE - RREESURLER
BITE -

RIKFERIETE

FEERABER B2 MEF RN RS M IS REME
35e

AATF EHEFZERARER

RAFE - ARFARAEANELRREEERED
RABZEMEHRES

IREBUR

RARERRBERS - FFREZHREESLE
ARER - ANRAEZREETHREREZRY
RE CERARBREALHE) - AAREIRKRELERF
BRARGRGIEREERRETAARAMERMAE - &
ERTAERAERRER  ZEZEEER - BFH
BEE - UHEDIKRE - EERRBDESTRURE
SEENK A RNBRTE - EEFER - EBRT
B R E A2 BB BLHCR o

RIEBRRRR
REBRAFE2BERRERRRIEENR - 81
REHRE120ERF 1268 - WERESRREEN
—ERD © 2024% 20265 FE 2 IRIE - HEMERR
& BEA R BB EBYT DM o
BREERERNES

RAFE » AEEBTERIERERESR -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR SIMILAR
RIGHTS

The Company had no outstanding convertible securities, options, warrants
or other similar rights as at 31 March 2025 and there had been no exercise of
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a stable dividend payment to its shareholders whilst
retaining adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The
Board of Directors of the Company determines the interim dividend and
recommends the final dividend which requires the approval of Shareholders
of the Company. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Ordinance and the Company’s
Articles of Association. In deciding whether to declare any dividend, the
Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

A brief discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
during the year under review is set out on pages 125 and 126 of this
annual report which forms part of the Directors’ Report. The 2024-2025
Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published separately
at the websites of the Company and HKEX.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied with the applicable laws and
regulations.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer and five
largest customers accounted for 3.97% and 18.49% (2024: 4.43% and
20.84%) respectively of the Group’s total turnover for the year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and
five largest suppliers accounted for 3.42% and 10.66% (2024: for 3.65%
and 10.87%) respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors, their close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, throughout FY2025, there is sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE, AUDIT COMMITTEE AND
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Details of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year have been audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment, at the 2025 AGM of the Company.

A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external auditor of
the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration will be

proposed at the 2025 AGIVI.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this Annual Report
form part of this report.

On behalf of the Board

Victor LO Chung Wing
Chairman & Chief Executive
24 June 2025
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BED

TO THE MIEMIBERS OF GOLD PEAK TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

\We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gold Peak
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 142 to 263, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

\We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
\We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. \We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MIATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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\We have identified the impairment assessment on interest
in an associate which is engaged in trading of battery
related products in Russia (the “Associate”) and expected
credit loss (“ECL”") on trade receivables from the Associate
as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement and
estimation exercised by the management of the Group for the
assessments.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2025, the gross carrying
amounts of the Group’s interest in the Associate and the
trade receivables from the Associate were HK$100.7 million
and HK$63.9 million, respectively. As at 31 March 2025,
the management of the Group conducted an impairment
assessment on the interest in the Associate and, with the
assistance of an independent qualified valuer (the Valuer), the
ECL on the trade receivables from the Associate.

Based on management’s assessment, no impairment
indictors exist for the Group’s interest in the Associate.
The Group recognised no impairment loss on its interest in
the Associate and written back ECL provision on the trade
receivables from the Associate of HK$1.2 million. Details of
the above assessments are disclosed in notes 16 and 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on the
interest in the Associate and the ECL on the trade receivables
from the Associate included:

« Understanding and evaluating the management’s
assessment on the sanction risks in respect of the Group’s
relationship with the Associate with reference to the
external lawyer’s opinion;

« Understanding and evaluating the Group’s impairment
assessment process, including identification of impairment
indicator;

« Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the Valuer;

« Understanding and assessing the impact of the current
geopolitical situation, capital control measures and
sanctions on Russia to the interest in the Associate and
evaluating the overall reasonableness of management’s
impairment assessment on the interest in the Associate;
and

« In respect of the ECL on trade receivables from the
Associate, assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions adopted by the Valuer, including expected
loss rate and, forward looking adjustments based on market
available information.
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We identified ECL of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and management estimates in
evaluating the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables at the
end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounted to HK$1,024 million and represented
approximately 13.6% of the Group’s total assets.

As disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables excluding trade
receivables from the Associate and credit-impaired debtors
based on collective basis through grouping of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns, after considering internal
credit ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment history
and/or past due status of respective trade receivables.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information. The loss allowance amount
of the trade receivables is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows with the consideration of
expected future credit losses.

As disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised a net amount of HK$4.3
million of loss allowance on trade receivables. Excluding
the reversal of loss allowance on trade receivable from the
Associate of HK$1.2 million, the Group recognised loss
allowance of HK$5.5 million on trade receivables for the
current year. The Group’s ECL on trade receivables (including
the ECL on trade receivable from the Associate) as at 31
March 2025 amounted to HK$40.3 million.
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Our procedures in relation to ECL of trade receivables included:

+ Understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the loss allowance for trade receivables;

« Testing the integrity of information used by management
to develop the collective basis including trade receivables
ageing analysis as at 31 March 2025, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the relevant
sales invoices;

« Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining loss allowance on trade receivables as at 31
March 2025, including their identification of credit-impaired
trade receivables, the reasonableness of management’s
grouping of the remaining trade debtors into different
categories on a collective basis, and the basis of estimated
loss rates applied in each category on a collective basis
(with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information); and

- Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of the

disclosures regarding the ECL of trade receivables in notes
22 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. \Ve have nothing to reportin
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

139



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT conro)

BNABRNREE

BEEMmE F AT RRNEST

HMHEBDHRSUBRREBRS TFERREK
FFRIER M BN E A RFUAEG S EBRE - Wi
ARERMERNREEERE - WIRRE B2 RES
SEA05(RER BT (FHEE) |ME - FRILZIMRIR
HREAEME K - RMTERAREARMEEME
fATE FHERENERE -  SERBFESNKTHR
& BETRERBRETBENEAETIET THER
RERRIF ARV ABHRIRAL o $HERIRAL ] AR EREF S
$EERSIIE - MRRAIRTAM TR (B 5 RERR)
R ERAMBBRREMENEIAE - BIAREHE
MREIEIRIEE R

ERETBENEAETENABARED  RMNEAT
HEFE RIS T ERIREEREE o HIT

o EBIRAHEARE B ERRARREFRIRRME R
MERERRAER - BEZSRRRRAIT
ERRER  BESRAEREEERERARMNE
RRMER - HREFFTRESRER  RE &
BER - ERERL - RERREES 2L
I AR BE 2 3R B ERFE T B B Y B R SR AR R A LB
RREERMERNERHERFANARDES -

o THREFMAENRIES - URFEENET
B BEMIFYE BERERIESNE RN
BRER -

- MEESFRASTERNSBERELEE
AAREEREENNSEM® -

- HESRASELLSHERNRENFELS
0 WARBPISHNETRR  RERDFEES
HRIENEEANERTREN - MAEE B&
ERFECENRNIBRERER - MEMNRAEF
HEERTEEN  ABLEERBMBRETIRE
EREIRFEEMBHRRTFOMERELN R
EERBREERTRE  AIRMEALAFERER
REOZEERE - RMNERRERBELHM
HEBHILESHNEFERR - AW RRBHH
BERAUEEH BRETEEFITREE -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
\We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. \We
also:

« ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. \We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
\We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

\We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

\We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. \We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Hung Suk Fan (practising certificate number: PO6148).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025% 3831 L& E

2025 2024
Fiz TiEx FET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
=0 Revenue 5 6,851,296 6,476,406
SHERAK Cost of sales (4,835,246) (4,632,742
EX Gross profit 2,016,050 1,843,664
Hb A R E ks Other income and other gains 6 124,198 150,708
SHERD I Selling and distribution expenses (865,901) (845,797)
THEH Administrative expenses (855,907) (812,070)
Hihx H R H 18 Other expenses and other losses 6 (58,903) (9,449
B AN R PGB Profit before finance costs and share of
EEANRA results of associates 359,537 327,056
2By 99N Finance costs 7 (224,337) (248,541)
Frit 2R BB R A | Share of results of XIC Innovation Limited
(MEagislall) %8 (“XIC™) - (472,805)
FribBgeE AR ELE - TEIEZIERIA] Share of results of associates, excluding
XIC 76,702 98,723
MREADEF (E518) Profit (loss) before taxation 8 211,902 (295,567)
Big Taxation 10 (72,603) (46,293)
EERF (518) Profit (loss) for the year 139,299 (341,860)
2EHER (BB) BER ¢ Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
KATHEEA Owners of the Company 30,379 (367,329)
iR Non-controlling interests 108,920 25,469
139,299 (341,860)
&AL AL
HK cents HK cents
FREA (BE) -&E1K Earnings (loss) per share - Basic 12 2.9 (40.1)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reBmik

Hs2mEkmER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #, £ 2025F 38 31R It FE
2025 2024
R r FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
2EHEA (B18) Profit (loss) for the year 139,299 (341,860)
Hit2mE GziH) ukas : Other comprehensive (expense) income:
P AREE P E B 2 HE - Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
EH e AT, HEREEHE  Exchange translation (surplus) deficit, reclassified
BENTERE BN E—H to profit or loss upon de-registration of an
BENTEREL &) 58 associate/disposal and deemed disposal of
E%ﬁ AECEIST interest in associates/reclassification of interest
in an associate (106) 14,454
BREBNEBEEZERESE Exchange differences arising from translation of
foreign operations (43,515) (126,941)
FEEH— R A R 2B 5 R Exchange translation surplus reclassified to profit
BfoEZRER or loss upon de-registration of a subsidiary (11,591) -
FriEBE AT 2 HMEEWA GzH)  Share of other comprehensive income (expense) of
associates 929 (38,218)
(54,283) (150,705)
EETEE P EZRm o HE - Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
AR ESTARMEEREN Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value
BATIRAZAFEXEH through other comprehensive income (278,884) (4,278
¥ BRERREEEREVEZ Revaluation surplus on property, plant and
BB equipment upon transfer to investment
properties 168,383 -
¥ BRERREEEREVEZ Deferred tax liability on revaluation surplus on
BENBHAELENELEREBEEE property, plant and equipment upon transfer to
investment properties (28,683) -
Frfdy Bk Hib2ERE ) Share of other comprehensive income (expense) of
associates 487 (20)
(138,697) (4,298)
EFEHMEESH Other comprehensive expense for the year (192,980) (155,003)
2EXES LA Total comprehensive expense for the year (53,681) (496,863)
2HE ) WERLEER - Total comprehensive (expense) income
attributable to:
EARERA Owners of the Company (161,783) (479,618)
IR R Non-controlling interests 108,102 (17,245)
(53,681) (496,863)

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB R

At 31 March 2025 7 2025% 3A 31H

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

2025 2024
Mt Figx TR
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
FERENEE Non-current assets
REYE Investment properties 13 418,246 -
W BERRE Property, plant and equipment 14 1,938,110 2,230,231
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 242,947 301,559
b e AR R Interests in associates 16 966,347 914,614
DA ESAHMEE KRG Z Equity instruments at fair value through
BATA other comprehensive income 17 72,060 347,043
| EE Intangible assets 18 7,604 1,082
e Goodwill 19 70,399 70,399
FhRBiEe Non-current deposits 22 25,096 30,328
FEERIEERE Deferred tax assets 29 20,996 28,567
3,761,805 3,923,823
MENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 21 1,240,961 1,105,380
FEUR & 7R R H A FE Uk BR1E Trade and other receivables and
RIEARIE prepayments 22 1,254,186 1,291,816
PR AR 2. Dividend receivable 23,960 15,059
AT UK [E R IE Taxation recoverable 21,380 17,880
DAFEFAERZ Financial assets at fair value through
EREE profit or loss 23 15,212 1,267
RITER - BREERS Bank balances, deposits and cash 24 1,202,263 1,247,460
3,757,962 3,678,862
nEEaE Current liabilities
EERIERE A Creditors and accrued charges 25 1,595,564 1,497,036
EHEE Contract liabilities 25 106,566 86,662
FEIHLIE Taxation payable 22,806 10,365
HEaE Lease liabilities 26 76,817 75,982
IRITER - BECERHEM Bank loans, import and other loans
BX 27 2,115,631 2,026,331
3,917,384 3,696,376
RBEETE Net current liabilities (159,422) (17,514)
BEERERBAE Total assets less current liabilities 3,602,383 3,906,309
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At 31 March 2025 7 2025% 3A 31A

2025 2024
FEE T FET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
FERENAE Non-current liabilities
HEaE Lease liabilities 26 191,360 241,516
RITREMER Bank and other loans 28 1,190,584 1,470,147
EERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 29 82,366 40,116
1,464,310 1,751,779
BEERE Net assets 2,138,073 2,154,530
BARKRGEE Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 30 998,666 998,666
& Reserves 14,362 206,064
RABEE AELZER Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 1,013,028 1,204,730
FERER Non-controlling interests
HRORARFERE B o Simple agreements for future equity 31 107,544 107,544
KAESH Perpetual bonds 32 88,538 -
B AR EEFE Share of net assets of subsidiaries 928,963 842,256
1,125,045 949,800
SR Total equity 2,138,073 2,154,530

FIREZE2EIEFRZ2HEEHBHRE - B The consolidated financial statements on pages 142 to 263 were approved
20255 6GRA4HHEEFEE - YAUTESENRRX  and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2025 and are

B signed on its behalf by:
e THRE Victor LO Chung Wing Brian LI Yiu Cheung
EE EE Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BAREBBE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &, Z2025F 38310 L& E

BRIALAREA FikER
Attributable to owners of the Company Non-controlling interests

FriEHELR

% RE EERE

B g Share of
B EER®  Popety  BERE  RABE  hvestment  REEE  REEA ARRE  netassets EREE
Share Legal revaluation  Translation Capital ~revaluation  Dividend  Retained Mo EERE of Nt Total
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total SAFE  subsidiaries  Sub-total equity

ThL TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn Thn ThL TEn TEn TEn
HKP000  HK§O00  HKS000  HK§O00  HK$000  HKSO00  HK$OO0  HKEO00  HK$000  HKEO00  HK$000  HK§O000  HK$O000

(3 (i)

(note) (note)
202354 1R At 1Apri 2023 98,666 12,756 39533 (323404 (9149 24,009 - 978831 1,701,269 107544 913,949 1021493 2,722,762
REEE)ER (Loss) profitfor the year - - - - - - - (3739 (36739 - 5460 549 (341,860
REENEREL,  Bxchange differences arising from
ERER translation of foreign operations - - - (878 - - - - (8782) - (39115 (39115 (126,940

BENBREND  Nettransaction deficit reclassified to

ERERBEAE  profitorloss upon reclassification of

31 interest in an associate - - - 12,31 - - - - 12,31 - 2,083 2,083 14,454
WAFETALZ  Fairvalue loss on equity instruments

EGEZRATIE  atfairvalue through other

ZOVERE comprehensive income - - - (2,306) - (1,802 - - (4,108 - (170) (429
FibBERAT 2R Share of other comprehensive expense
ERH of associates - - - (32,709 - - - 17 (27 - (5,512) (5512 (38,239
EERERLEE  Totel comprehensive expense
forthe year . . - (10470 -, - (3 (@96 - (UM (725 (495869
FEBEATEE  Share of change in netasset value of an
FEED associate - - - - 7 - - &7 504 - o1 9 59
IS Transfer of reserves - - - - 80t - - (802 - - - - -
EEWEGP#E  Deemed acquisition of additional
NEERAA interest in GP Energy Tech Limited
([GPEERNED S (‘GPET)
BhEs - - - - (5,330 - - - (5,330) - (17654 (17654 (22989
HFHBATEER  Dividend paid to non-controling
RERE shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (47860) (47860 (47,860
WEKBATNEN  Acquisition of additional interest in
i subsidiaries - - - - (12,657) - - - (12,657) - 10,880 10,830 (1,777
HESWERESR  Elimination unclaimed proceed by GP
BRAE (41 Batteries International Limited (‘GP
Tt REATE  Batteries”) shareholder
1 - - - - 562 - - - 562 - % % 657
#ERE-2024%  Dividend proposed - 2024final
78 - - - - - NI 3 - - - - -
. . : R -9 (959 (1692 - GAMY (AMY (1369
A0F3F3A At3LMarch 204 998,666 12,756 300633 (433874 (45689 2,27 9165 601,95 1204730 107,544 842266 949,800 2,154,530
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

B Z2025F3831ALLFE

BRREATREA FiERES
Attributable to owners of the Company Non-controlling interests
FiitHEAZ
g it BERE
Bl B Share of
B&  ERBR  Poperty  HEHE  RAEE hvestment REHE  REEA ARRE  AREH  netassets BRag
Share Legal revaluation Translation  Capital revaluation  Dividend  Retained Mt BEEE  Perpetual of it Total
capital  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits ~ Sub-total SAFE honds subsidiaries  Sub-total equity
Tén TR TEn TEn  TEn 0 TEn 0 TEn 0 TEn  TEn  fEx 0 TEn 0 T TEn 0 TR
HK$'000 HK%ﬂO&O HK$'000  HK$'000 HKs;g%O HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i) (i)
(note) (note)
ROMELRIE  AtIAwl 2024 w866 1275 5B (387 (668 221 915  GL56 12470 10754 - M6 19800 2,1545%
RERER Profit for the year - - - - - - - 30319 30319 - - 108920 108920 139,299
BEENEREL2  Exchange differences arising from

ERZE translation of foreign operations - - - (843 - - - - (843 - - (1508 (1508)  (43,515)
HE-BBENE/  Exchange translation (surplus)

HEREERER  defici reclassified to profit

ED0FEE/EF orlossupon de-egistration

HE-BEELNT  of anassociate/lisposal and

BRZER (&) deemed disposal of interestin

FEZER associates/reclassification of

interest n an associate - - - (@) - - - - (9 - - (15) (15) (106)
AEEHBATER  Exchange translation surplus

REFARES reclassified to profit or oss upon

BHZES de-registration of subsidiaries - - - (99 - - - - (99 - - (1,666 (1,666 (11,50
FREMAAUER  Fairvalue loss on equity

DFEFEZRE  instruments at fair value through

TEZDFESE  other comprehensive income - - - - - (239,068) - - (239,068 - - (39,816) (39,816) (278,884
9% BERZEZ  Revaluation surplus on property,

BERENERZ  plantand equipmentupon

Ef5ER 1R transfer to investment

ELHE properties, net of deferred tax - - B - - - - - 8an - - 5555 55525 139,700
EEMEDFES  Share of other comprehensive

2EYA/ B incomelexpense of associates - 2 - 731 - (88) - 4% 1180 - - 26 26 146
REEREUA/  Total comprehensive income/

) 88 (expense) for the year - R @ - (915 - g (16178 - - 18102 108102 (53680
REES Transfer of reserves - 6,872 - - (56) - - (6819 - - - - - -
-BHBATRAX  Issue of perpetual bonds, net of

A% MBXS  transaction cost, by a subsidiary

A - - - - - - - - - - 84,959 - 84959 84,959
KABHNEHAR  Acorued distribution for perpetual

bonds - - - - - - - (3579 (3,579 - 3,579 - 3,579 -
JESWEGPEERE  Deemed acquisition of additional

Gy 3 interestin GPET - - - - (49) - - - (49) - - (434) (434) (483
EENEGPTEAR  Deemed acquisition of additional

DF(GPTEN4  interestin GPindustries Limited

s (“GP Indlustries”) - - - - 1,392 - - - 1,32 - - (10839 (10,839 (9,447
BEER Buyback of shares - - - - - - - (4798  (479%) - - - - (479%)
BAHBATEER  Dividend paid to non-controling

RERE shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (10122 (10122 (1012
28 Diviclend paid
- 2047 EBRE - 2024final dividend - - - - - - (9,155) - (9,155) - - - - (9,155)
-05548RE - 2025interim dividend - - - - - - - (137%2) (1373 - - - - (1373
B&RE-2025%  Dividend proposed - 2025 final

KiHE - - - - - - (90 - - - . - -

- 6,812 - - 1,281 - (130) (37948 (29,919 - 8538 (1,39 67,143 31,24
2025838318 At31March 2025 998,666 19670 123,708 (471,592 (44,402 (216,929 902% 594,882 1,013,028 107544 88538 928963 1,125,045 2,138,073
Mzt : BB IEATEMELAEZZHEZBERTWE & Note: Capital reserve mainly represents the difference between the amount of non-

& — RIS 2 B B0 R B IR AR 2 S IR IR AR R B AT
HBEREZ A FEB 2D BIRRFEARANE
(TRELD B AR REBE AR 2 WEMOER - ZF
WEMOBR SIS ERTE A ERBRSR AET
P

EEBRSBBEAEEMERPERY BN R ZE
ERERFE o

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

controlling interest adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid/
received on partial acquisition/disposal of a subsidiary without losing control
and the capitalisation of profits of subsidiaries and associates established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) that were available for appropriation
after the approval from the relevant PRC authorities.

Legal surplus comprises the Group’s share of statutory reserves of the

subsidiaries established in the PRC.

14/



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meRTmER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £2025F3A31HIEEE
2025 2024
TET FHExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
KB Operating activities
2EER (518) Profit (loss) for the year 139,299 (341,860)
P Adjustments for:
HiE Taxation 72,603 46,293
FrbEE N RS Share of results of associates (76,702) 374,082
FISA Interest income (9,327) (15,758)
iEﬁ&ﬁﬂﬂE L2 E Interest on bank and other loans 208,313 232,768
EEERE Interest on lease liabilities 16,024 15,773
Fﬁfﬁ g E A AR R EEE Reversal of allowance for
=] #% impairment loss on the interest in
an associate - (45,250)
BRME BRERSZEZ Impairment loss recognised on
REEE property, plant and equipment 5,917 578
(&E) FERE (Reversal of) allowance for
inventories (8,213) 600
B EEEE Amortisation of intangible assets 223 1,328
ME - BERRBE2ITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 206,018 193,541
EREEREZITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 81,550 79,515
HEMB AR ZFlE Gain on de-registration of a
subsidiary (11,591) -
HEVE  BERRZEBEZER Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 841 408
HHEME  BERRE Property, plant and equipment
written off 22,126 4,010
HE EHRE A RERS 2 &) (Gain) loss on disposal/dilution of
B8 associates (106) 1,578
UARESFARMEEKEZ Dividend income from financial
SREEZREBA assets at FVTOCI (302 (439)
AP EFABRZEZRATIREZ Fair value loss (gain) on financial
DNRERE ) assets at FVTPL 1,067 (425)
REMEZ AN FEEEBK Fair value loss on investment
properties 324 -
e N R REIMER Z Bargain purchases of additional
BERBRE investment in associates - (13)
TEHR B A FERE (@) Allowance for (write back)
of ECL, Net 7,205 (2,585)
FHHEAER \Write off account payable (1,100) (3,202
HEERzKE Gain on lease modification - (2,690)
HER L ZEE W) Loss (gain) on lease termination 103 (84)

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

B Z2025F3831ALLFE

2025 2024
FiEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
SEEEESEBRICEE Operating cash flows before
ReReE movements in working capital 654,272 538,168
FEZ (GEhm Fd (Increase) decrease in inventories (127,275) 127,679
U E R R RIER Decrease (increase) in trade and other
FEFIEZ RS () receivables and prepayments 41,751 (214,689)
FEAERERERZEM Increase in creditors and accrued
charges 107,179 54,075
EREEZEM (D) Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 19,904 (1,488
REEBEEZRSE Cash generated from operations 695,831 503,745
S EBUINE M EHIE Taxation paid in other jurisdictions (38,851) (27,090)
ERBEENEE Taxation paid in Hong Kong (7,741) (11,614)
SRE BN E ot BRI R Taxation refunded in other jurisdictions 3,153 11,433
REXBEEZ2REFH Net cash from operating activities 652,392 476,474
REER Investing activities
HELUAFEFABECSRERE Disposal of financial assets at F\VTPL - 113
BWBE QT ZRE Dividends received from associates 52,257 58,594
HE—BBE AT ZKIE Proceeds from disposal of an
associate - 297
HEDE BERRBWEIZ Proceeds and deposits received from
MERE® disposal of property, plant and
equipment 3,792 3,027
BWFE Interest received 9,107 15,542
UAFETTAEMEEKE 2 Dividend income from financial assets
SRMEEZRERA at FVTOCI 302 439
BAYZE BERRE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (213,494) (213,179)
BA—RBE QR 2 EIMER Acquisition of additional interest in an
associate (35,033) (10,801)
BAUAFEGTTAEMMEZAKEGEZ Acquisition of financial assets at
SREE FVTOCI (3,892) -
BANUAFEGTTABRZERMERE Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (15,018) -
BAVME  BERRERS S Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment (486) (3,534)
BAREEE Acquisition of intangible assets (6,745) -
REEKERAZAESFE Net cash used in investing activities (209, 210) (149,502)

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS conro)

AERERNER®

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &, Z2025F 38310 L& E
2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
R E R Financing activities
EERITREMER Repayment of bank and other loans (715,765) (945,926)
SRITREMERZFE Interest on bank and other loans paid (213,370) (221,798)
BEHEEE Repayment of lease liabilities (77,886) (68,192
BB R RIFEERERR 2R E Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries (10,122) (47,860)
HEEBRE Interest on lease liabilities (16,024) (15,773)
2IRE Dividends paid (22,297) -
HIRITER New borrowings raised 539,447 994,925
[0 B A% £ Buyback of shares (4,796) -
EEWEGPRERRH R/ MER Deemed acquisition of additional
interestin GPET (483) (22,984)
EEWBGPI £MWEMER Deemed acquisition of additional
interest in GP Industries (9,447) -
BATKABH S R B A Proceed from issue of perpetual
bonds, net of transaction costs 84,946 -
— BB D TRITRFREDGERE  Proceed from issue of SAFE by a
Z I8 subsidiary - 11,185
RMEMEAZRESTE Net cash used in financing activities (445,797) (316,423
REREEBE (AL) BINFEEE Net (decrease) increase in cash and
cash equivalents (2,615) 10,549
FUzHEeREERS Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 1,247,460 1,277,888
IR RSB o B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (42,582) (40,977)
FRZESREERS Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
RITER FREERES year, represented by bank balances,
deposits and cash 1,202,263 1,247,460

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e AR MR

1.

—RER

SRR TEARAR (RAT)) H—EEES
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B R EBEE ST F AN R AT
R o
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SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

. GENERAL INFORMATION

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX?”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 43 and 44,
respectively.

. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA?”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Nlon-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro

e BHmRNTE

HE

2. ERAMITRBEITEEBMEREENSTHER

()
RSB IEREERZETAR @

BREBEFERZEIRZIETASEETES
RERIETEILUR EEZEF O (2020%F) ZHH
FAIEETA ([ 2020FF 16572 )) REE S ERE
1 EET AR F 2 A HIHE R B B (8 ([ 202255
ETA)) 7
REBCRAFEERERZSEIAL

2020 IER] A RIS A HMREEEREH
W& 1218 B WEFIRMEEEREIMES - U
HREDEARBHIERE - B :

- AHARERERBEHMAFENENTDS B
RARBHIRE - ARME - ZOEARE
BEEI12EANEEAENZERAHAY
FI

ERENEAEUUARAYFIEERE
SR AERAFNERTE - fiHE
SBEAERR  THHFHREEBERE
BASNESTRAETHEAE  MEEERRE
AEBETERE32N [E/T A - 2511 #%
RERERRALERTAR  ZERIA
TEHASEARDRIERBERTE -

- BB
Fi=3
5 ]

HRUABTRERRENSEEERERER
%A 1218 A WREFI - 2022F 55T 4345 Bl %
& BMERHENEFEREERS A MR
EEENRERARRZAAETHNRENIEHE
ZEBKAENEETEEERE ANERRD 12(F
BIWHER] o 2022F BT AT B8 - BRAERS
AEBSEE TR BIRRZHE TEFEE
BERS AMORBDRERB D - A - i
ERSAEEEREENENERNEREHREN
R12(A A ABF R - BRAREREFEERIUE
MBMEEAEEN T RZEREANREHNER
12EAAEENER - ZEENEEEREHREH
HER  HERENRESHEURRAERTEE
HUETZHANBERER WA -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Nlon-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
vear.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

- specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the classification should not be
affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.

» clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of cash,
goods or services, or the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial
Instruments: Presentation”.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants that an
entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date, even if compliance with
the covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity must
comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the
classification of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting date.
However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period. This would
include information about the covenants, the carrying amount of related
liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity
may have difficulties complying with the covenants.
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2. ERAMITRBEITEBMBREENSTHER

(&)

FEREBAEHREENZBITR @

EREEBEEREIRZIETAEEEDES
RENELIETEIA R & B 2 FEE 5%t (20204F) Z 11
BIIEETA (2020 (65T ) REBEERIE
L IEET AP 7 225 9 FE BN B (& ([ 20224 4%
HIENN ;4]

RIBBERY - AEBCEYEAFTEHHRE U
DERBRIEFTEEE - RAFEREAZEBE
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS HKFRS ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Nlon-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy to the classification of liability as current
or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments in
the current year had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Amendments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venturet

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards
Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards - VVolume 113
Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements*
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

4  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on HKEX and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$159 million as
at 31 March 2025. The Group’s current liabilities as at 31 March
2025 included bank loans, import and other loans of approximately
HK$2,116 million that are repayable within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period. Taking into account of the internally
generated funds, the available banking facilities of approximately
HK$2,390 million as at 31 March 2025 and that historically the
lenders continuously provide financing to the Group, the directors of
the Company are confident that the Group will be able to meet their
financial obligations when they fall due in the foreseeable future and
be able to operate on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(continued)
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions
that are accounted for accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or
value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36”).

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that an initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

« Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

« Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

» has power over the investee;

» is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

» has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income (“OCI”)
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

\When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

\When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwiill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners
of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in OCl in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

Business combinations or assets acquisition

Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 April 2020, the Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration test is
met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash
and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting
from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test
is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

3 REGEUBERZEEREXSHEKXEN 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

&) STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 EXEMBEER @ 3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
EBEHAEENE @ Business combinations or assets acquisition (continued)

BEWE
EXAEERBE-ATEBREBZEERSE
& AEEELEBEEIREARBER
FEEAFENRENERSHEE &/
BERAZATE  BRENRBERESZE
BH 2 AVESBEEESED BEHER
HEBEERAE - BIUEB LR TS
ZER B EERAAEEE - ZERS
THEELHESRERB YRS -

RHEGF
ERNEEUAREAEELNENMEE
RERWBARBEEREN —EZEED
REE - M BHREHEESERE L AVRE
NERER - BFABHTHERREMLE
BYfeRE - AR ERWABLE N - REFF
BEEELNENEERER @ URERS
BESHIBR > AEBEARS - BHH
FELTEEHEOHREENERT R
£ BB RERRABEEN -

W BB A B AU EBE DR - EBEHE
FIREDELAVETE  DFETERK
BRAAEEABRPEE 2 EHIEMER
REE EECABRBITRAERD AR
FTE - HERBRAR-RRELRBEERRE

N
e

P s 2 A B A E R PRI 2 BB AR
BMBHERSAER (HER]) REE
kafzES EETBSTEREI7HE
% FREBERIREE ([FBSTERE
3755)) BB ERMEHREREEES) -
REE2IGAE (58 @BRUBREREE
B8 -RBE215) BERANR S RBMHR
o B AKEREAEBEEREI7RR
Bt @RIBRERREES) —RBE21
M IEBLSAELE - LB BRI E R EB & Ot AT
BENEE AREET TER -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Asset acquisitions

\When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which are
subsequently measured under fair value model and financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they are critical to the ability
to continue producing outputs, including an organized workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the
related processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to
continue producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must
meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK
(IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK
(IFRIC) - Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination. Contingent
assets are not recognised.

1958



3. RUGRAMBEBRZEEREATHEREN

3.2 EXERBREN @

EBEHBEENE @

EHEO @

RWER  WEBZAEIEEREEZEE
REABE R 2 AT ERER  HETHIBRS :

- EEBREERNREREERSEANZH
EHENEEREE  HRREBSRE
B 12 R B RS ENE IR [ES
BRI AR E

o BERUWBEURDAREZHIUSNER
BRAD T AT IR % BE A B IR BB & IR 42
FANRZHERCEEIREATA
RULEE B RIS & B B IR & X B 58 28R 51

= .
2

- BRREBMBMELEREON HHEHE
FRBEERCKILEEER | BEAF
BEHEESE @HEMAR) & BlEZ
ERIETE S R

- HESERFNBHEENH EEREBY
BmELEAE 165 [HE]) 2 RERER
RErE - BEOAMPEBEERNKERRE
HEE  HEQ@EHREEEHM12EAR
B H(b)EREEBREEZHEER
o EREEERENBHERERE
ZEEEARGE  WHEFHEURRE
REBER TSR ZHEERR -

BE DRI ARE - RRWEEErEEM
FERMESERNBEBEIRE 2WWE
ERAES 2 DTE WA 2BFBERNY
BRWBzURNEERAE 2EEFHEZ
ERETE - MEEHTMEER - WEZ TR
EEREREZEBEREER ZZEBRXM
RE - REWEBE 2 EMIHEREERER
BEERERACRNEEEECQAFE W
B) g BIEREERNMESRERER
B o

RRASEREEEBREATR BRI
ZULOIESERMBARFEE 2 FERY
R REREFUL AP ERFREE 2 &
BFEECHERSREFERER TGS

HE -

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Business combinations or assets acquisition (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

- lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16 “Leases”) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value.

199



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

3 REGEUBHERZEEREXSHEKXEN 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

&) STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 EXEMBEER @ 3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
EBEHAEENE @ Business combinations or assets acquisition (continued)
A Goodwill

W —THEBMELE 2HENERBAER
EHAEZEA (SRAREFEER) {IRE
ARFTRERE WA) JI5R -

FHERAINS  BESIMEFHRZER
BHMELEBREMEZEBAEBz2REE
B FREELEFENVASR)  MZELR
BEUARRRIBERNREENRZEXTE
THBEEDM -

EoBMEcREELEN QREELEN
HE) EEFRNEFTRBERZEML RN
RREREERERIRE - REWBEE
BECZHREHENS  BORBEZREE
LBy GREELEVES) SRZREH
AERATIAIRE o i TR SRR RN ERE
B BRESESLREREEAIEEZ
B cHEREE H ARZEZENC ERE
EEBNAS) NBREEREE LG 2 E
EZEN FREELEVAR) 2 HMEE -

HEFRRSEFENRREELENAS
REMREEEEME - AEERESER
HERHABEAR 2 - MAEEHE
REeELEN GREELEVASRN—E
REELEN WEE  HENBESERD
HEEE QREELEN NEHEERR
BREELEN GREELENESR) B
MEERETE -

FEBEREWE-HBEARMEE2HE
HYBCRERR AN T ©

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or group of CGUSs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combinations,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUSs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. \When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of the associate and
changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and
OCI.When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwiill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. \When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. \When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS
9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant interest in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in OCI in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.

\When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in OCI relating to that reduction
in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

\When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

In applying HKFRS 9 to long-term interests, the group does not take
into account adjustments to their carrying amount required by HKAS
28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests
arising from the allocation of losses of the investee or assessment of
impairment in accordance with HKAS 28).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

« the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of audio, electronics and
acoustics, and batteries products is recognised at a point in time.
Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from
these sales is recognised when customer acceptance has been
obtained, which is the point of time when the goods are delivered
based on the agreed shipping terms and the location specified by the
customers, and when the customer has the ability to direct the use of
these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
of these products.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

163



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

3. RNGEAMBRRZBEREATHHREN

()

3.2 EXERBREN @

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

HE

HEZESE
REBMREHNRERRBEET B ERELER
BIGEMERTHENRSTHESEEHA
B BRASHRRRFHEREE  BRIF
SENTEZEN

FEBEEBEBA

REDBRES VAR

PEs - RAEARED R —ERSEEIN
HAERFEEARBONENIMNE - A&
ERIERE AR MARE EBER R IEHE
BEARBONEBERARESSNRESE
ERAEEAREND - FEEARBHBILRN
HEAMRBN - WEAEMEARENR -

EHHEREREEEEES
REEHNEEFHR B A BT 12@
AEURATEERERRECHERE -
Bk REF EME SRR EREERREH
% UHEEEEEHERARIHRR - &
HHEHEREEEEEHEZHENRRNEE
FHRAUERZERS —RARLEERIT DR
%o

EREEE

EREEE B

- BXRFEHEEEZEEH

- REBASNR AT 2EAERENK
EAEME WA E R ;

o FEEEEZEADBREERS K

- REBEBRFBRRBREEEE - B
HEAEEMNE 2B SEHEEEER
EHERRRE 2 ARFELE 2 fhFHR
I o

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of
the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. Non-
lease components are separated from lease component and are
accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of leasehold building, machinery and equipment and others
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

« the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

« any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

- any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and
« an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which

it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied that practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
and

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees.

V/ariable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are not included in the measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-
use assets, and are recognised as expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

» the lease term has changed, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

» thelease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

« a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

- the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

« the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentive
receivables, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets. \When the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. \Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

\When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-
lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as
part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether
sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use assets arising from
the leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset and recognises any gain or loss that relates to the rights
transferred to the buyer-lessor only.

Right-of-use assets and lease liability with fixed payments are
subsequently measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies above.

If the fair value of the consideration for the sale does not equal the
fair value of the asset, or if the payments for the lease are not at
market rates, the Group makes the following adjustments to measure
the sale proceeds at fair value:

(a) any below-market terms is accounted for as a prepayment of
lease payments; and

(b) any above-market terms is accounted for as additional financing
provided by the buyer-lessor to the seller-lessee.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than asset under construction and
freehold land as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost or fair value less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Advantage has been taken of the transitional relief provided by
HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” from the requirement to
make regular revaluations of the Group’s land and buildings which
had been carried at revalued amounts prior to 30 September 1995,
and accordingly no further revaluation of land and buildings is carried
out. Prior to 30 September 1995, the revaluation increase arising
on the revaluation of these assets was credited to the property
revaluation reserve. Any future decreases in value of these assets
will be dealt with as an expense to the extent that they exceed the
balance, if any, on the property revaluation reserve relating to a
previous revaluation of the same asset. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of a revalued asset, the corresponding revaluation surplus
is transferred to retained profits.

Freehold land is not depreciated and is measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Asset in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position.\When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of
assets other than properties under construction and freehold land
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method or reducing balance method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assets and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Investment properties include land held
for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for capital
appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which
the property is derecognised.
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Trademarks and patent are measured initially at purchase cost
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, which are estimated to be twenty years and two
years respectively.

The cost of acquiring rights to technical know-how for the
production of new products is amortised on a straight-line
method, over a period of three to five years from the date of
acquisition or over the licence period, whichever is shorter.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

(b) Internally-generated intangible assets - Research and
development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which itis incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities is recognised if, and only if, all of the

following have been demonstrated:

« the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

-« how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the

intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.
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3 WEGEUBHERZEEREXSHEKXEN 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
() STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 EXEHBEREN @
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(b) ASBELBEREE - HHERBEZEZ L @

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)
(b) Internally-generated intangible assets - Research and
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(c)

development expenditure (continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
above. \Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. The resultant
asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated
useful live, not exceeding ten years, commencing in the year
when the product is put into commercial use.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination - Customer
relationship

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date, which is regarded as
their cost.

The customer relationship is amortised using straight-line
method, over a period of five years. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the customer relationship is recorded at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
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amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. \When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
standard, in which case the reversal of impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation increase under that standard.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. \When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Restructurings

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out
the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing
its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising
from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the
ongoing activities of the entity.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
with sufficient reliability.

\Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits wiill
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, except
in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can
be made.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at F\VTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or,where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

« the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in OCI if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

- oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

3. RAUGAMBRRZBEREATHHREN

()

3.2 EXERBREN @

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

EHTA @
THEE @)
TRIEESBEREENE @

(i) BERRATFEFAEMEERRENR
AIE
BRAFEFAEMEEARENERTA
RE  DREXNFEMNRZTSRAGTE -
MR HiIRATEE BAFESEH
EENBEREEREMEZEKEER
WRIREE-RFHET RN BEETH
B - R WERBETENHER
AREREHFIBEET  HEARE
A e

EASBEKBERENWERELE - 25
BRATARENRENEEERR Kk
REHESWEIBMIRERS - REF
Az TR AR B fbiias | 938 o

(i) BAFPEFABBE 2 ERERE
THERBHERAS RN TEFT AR
PHRERIEERELFEFARLME
HW SRR 2 EREERD FER
ABRFE -

BOATEFABRZERMEENSRE
HRELAFENE  EAQFERER
BIENERER - RERER 2 FHE
Y EREREREERIZEARE
AL WFA [HE AU A R B A i35 |
o [HERARHEMEER] 28 -

RIEE B B I R 2 B 3 OSREAT IR E RT A
HNEREEREMIER ZHE

REBURBEERAEXNERIETBYK
RELBFOSRFRBEZERERE BIEF
REBEE - BWER - BKRREE - HibEK
R BRRE - RITERREFRBEQ
AR RUBEREQETRENE - BH
FERANSBENEHREREHN  URKRE
ARERENEERRZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at F\/TOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other income and other gains” line item in profit
or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other income and other
gains” or “other expenses and other losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including non-current
deposits, trade and bills receivables, other receivables, dividend
receivable, bank deposits, bank balances and amounts due from
associates) and financial guarantee contracts which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS9 (continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually and/
or collectively using a collective basis with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRSO (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

« significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the debtor;

« existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS9 (continued)

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that
itincurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a
discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the
cash shortfalls being discounted.

\Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

» Past-due status;

« Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

« External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,

in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

« For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part
of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “other income and other gains”
or “other expenses and other losses” line item as part of the
foreign exchange gains/(losses);

« For debt instruments measured at F\VTOCI that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences on the
amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit
or loss in the “other income and other gains” or “other expenses
and other losses” line item as part of the foreign exchange
gains/(losses). As the foreign currency element recognised in
profit or loss is the same as if it was measured at amortised
cost, the residual foreign currency element based on the
translation of the carrying amount (at fair value) is recognised
in other comprehensive income in the fair value through other
comprehensive income/revaluation reserve;

- For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “other income and other gains”
or “other expenses and other losses” line item as part of the gain/
(loss) from changes in fair value of financial assets;

- For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in
the fair value through other comprehensive income/revaluation
reserve.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at F\VTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an equity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation for
the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the Group has
the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution and redemption
of principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. Nlo gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including creditors and other payables, bank
loans, import and other loans are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

« the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and

-« the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Bank balances, deposits and cash
Bank balances, deposits and cash presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash

and cash equivalents consist of bank balances, deposits and cash as
defined above.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which is
always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application
of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.

187



3. RAUGAMBRRZBEREATHHREN

3.2 EXERIEREN @

@

BEEAMTENZF TSR EEERD
HREA GRS o WHE KRRk
FERiERE  AIEEREEERBBEIEM

BV R IEAETR A AR TR - HE BN E A
PHBSEERANERENMERRI 2RE AR
B EUERT » B RIEERIETR S 2 5
REMEEREERREEMERTER -

EFEFAEHEENEMTRELRE - A%
BEZEEHERBEEBRERARE LEZRE
PIEEEREMSHARAERANERER
MTEEVBEE - MAENBEBRAR
ErER AEHRSHMELEMRSH 2’
EEMEH AR BEE -2 - AR
BEREBTATREZTRERKER - BlIE
AUz ERRFEMERRREEREE
PTEEEE -

s

REEEETENQE M BHRKRE - Ui
DNEZINEEB UG OME) BT 2R
2 BX5 AN EAERER - RREH
HERB DUMNBIIECERRERER ZE
REREFRE - BAFEUIIMEIIEZF
EREENERAFEEEE H 2EAER
EHRE o BEL AR Z UINESIESE
EWBRETTENRE -

ERRHAENBREEE CEREENE
EEMBERE TR -

MEEMBHMRZZIAAMNE - AEEE
IEBrEEREEURBENEEIER
ZERBEDRNTR 225G EET) -
WARBXAZEZFE 2 FHERRE -
ERNZHMERERB BRI - RIEFER
T ARZRZABERAZERRE - BE
ZEREE WA BRARMEEKERR
FTRER P 2 R EFHE QER RSB IEE
fRfELs)

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in OCI or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in OCI or directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely
amount or the expected value.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or
a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 April
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in OCI.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific bank and other loans pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Government grants relating to
compensation of expenses are deducted from the related expenses,
other government grants are presented under “other income and
other gains”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest
is treated as a government grant measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to the defined contribution retirement plans, including
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme, are recognised as expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as

wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the management of the Company is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment on interest in an associate which is engaged
in trading of battery related products in Russia (the “Associate”)

The impairment assessment of the interest in the Associate involves
critical judgements, primarily due to the ongoing geopolitical situation,
including capital control measures implemented by Russia and the
sanctions imposed on Russia. These factors may affect the Associate’s
future financial performance and the Group’s ability to realise economic
benefits.

After considering the opinion of external lawyers, the Associate’s actual
financial performance during the year, and the impact of the current
geopolitical situation, capital control measures, and sanctions on Russia
on the Group’s ability to realise economic benefits from the investment,
the Group’s management concluded that no impairment indicators
existed for its interest in the Associate as at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the gross carrying amount of the Group’s interest
in the Associate was HK$100,703,000 (2024: HK$84,261,000). Based
on management’s assessment, the Group recognised no impairment
loss on the interest in the Associate (2024: HK$45,250,000). Details
of the above assessments are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

ECL assessment on trade receivables from the Associate

During the year, taking into consideration the Associate’s actual financial
performance and the collection of receivables from the Associate, there
was a decrease in credit risk in respect of the trade receivables due from
the Associate. The management of the Group appointed the Valuer to
assess the ECL on these trade receivables individually.

As at 31 March 2025, the trade receivables due from the Associate
were HK$63,930,000 (2024: HK$83,295,000). Based on management’s
assessment, the Group recognised reversal of ECL provision on
the trade receivables from the Associate of HK$1,248,000 (2024:
HK$1,520,000). Details of the above assessments are disclosed in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.

ECL of trade receivables

Trade receivables with credit-impaired balances and trade receivable
from the Associate are assessed for ECL individually. Details on the
ECL of trade receivables due from the Associate is set out in the above
paragraphs. For trade receivables that are not individually assessed,
the Group uses collective basis to determine ECL. The loss rates are
determined based on internal credit ratings for each grouping of debtors
that have similar credit risk characteristics. The collective basis is based
on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable, and available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of trade receivables was
HK$1,024,291,000 (net of provision of ECL of HK$40,313,000) (2024:
HK$1,023,360,000 (net of provision of ECL of HK$35,426,000)). The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes
34 and 22.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Allowances for inventories

Inventory is stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. The
management of the Group reviews regularly the suitability of the Group’s
allowance policy for inventories and carries out review of the inventories
at the end of each reporting period. At the end of each reporting period,
management carries out the assessment of determining allowance for
inventories by comparing the carrying amounts of inventories with their
net realisable values. The net realisable values are primarily determined
with reference to estimated selling prices, less the estimated cost
necessary to make the sale. In addition, the management of the Group
identifies slow-moving inventories with reference to aging analysis and
determines the net realisable value for inventories by considering the
saleability of inventories based on current market demand and future
sales plan. When the expectation of the net realisable value is less than
the cost, further allowvance may arise.

Reversal of allowance for inventories of HK$8,213,000 (2024:
Allowance for inventories HK$600,000) was recognised for the
vear ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2025”). As at 31 March 2025, the
carrying amount of inventories was HK$1,240,961,000 (2024:
HK$1,105,380,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwiill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU (or a group of CGUs)
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
\Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$70,399,000 (2024: HK$70,399,000). For FY2025, no
impairment loss on goodwill was recognised (2024: nil). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 20.
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ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. The determination of
the fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions which
are set outin note 13.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation
is reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any unexpected incidents as
a result of change in macroeconomic environment, increased complexity
in international trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction
and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties
and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties is HK$418, 246,000 (2024: nil).

Fair value measurements

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The directors have a designated team to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair values of
investment properties, equity instruments at F\VTOCI and certain types
of financial instruments of which details are set out in notes 13, 17, 23
and 34 respectively.

194



REEHABREH TRERZREIERE @

FRigH

FEBFZEANZERDEEEENWAER - BE
REEZBAESHRBERIRAE - BETRS
KAt ERAREBBRETABBRLABECEER
THEREN - AEBRBFENFERTHSIE
DIRERFEBENEME o i P B ENHRAHRE
HREYSERNSETRE - WEZHN 0
EZHBA - EFETEH BT IR -

. DEEN EER

RERDBEREETEME - PITES B [RE
EXEEERKRE]) GEOIIERFG - £RAEE
BRNFTETDTEERS WA ~ Bt R Hi
BB BBEARTEDREZER -

HRABMEBREFNEBEZMAEMN - A0
BIRERN 20268 BUF EAEHEY [REM] DFT
BREEMBER - LBRENCEH D BALEHR
B DURBRET B R &5 0 &P o

AEEERMBRS BNEBH—EAREREH

EORNEERE DA

FE - EERDHEESEER - KEFR
BELEAL - Celestion 5B EMMEEE T
RiGESEERM °

B —-E - AERSEAMEM - GPmE
Bith R BIWARRERA -

B - AERDHEERRFEMERS
RERASM (TEBEGPRETEM) -

s

b TERE - BREREER D A RAEB
ENE > BXEIEROAERAT (XED - R
RERNEEFERTASKBESHFRENHE

Ao

%
I3

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Judgement
is involved in determining the group-wide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. \Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE

For the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the executive directors, who are the chief operating decision makers
(“CODM”), assess profit or loss of these operating divisions using a
measure of operating profit which exclude: interest income, other
expenses and other losses, finance costs and unallocated expenses.

In view of the increased scale and business importance of the
rechargeable battery business, the Company has decided to disclose
its financial information under a new segment “Rechargeable battery”
for FY2025. The comparative information has been reclassified and re-
presented to reflect the new reporting segments.

The four main operating divisions of the Group, each of which
constitutes an operating and reportable segment for financial reporting
purpose, are:

Audio - design, manufacture and selling of professional audio products,
KEF branded audio systems, Celestion branded loudspeakers and
related electronic and acoustic products.

Battery - development, manufacture and marketing of primary batteries,
GP branded batteries and batteries related accessories.

Rechargeable battery - development, manufacture and marketing of
energy storage battery solutions and rechargeable batteries, excluding
GP branded rechargeable batteries.

Other industrial investments - includes investment holding
companies and the Group’s associates, namely Meiloon Industrial
Co,, Ltd. (“Meiloon”) and associates that are mainly engaged in the
manufacturing of high precision parts and components used in
electronics products.
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5. DEER E¥E @ 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continued)
WA E D RS UANREBNRE DI o No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the

reportable segments of the Group.

AEEEXBEIRREEER HEETREE The Group’s revenue represents sales of audio products and related
REMR BUREBUEBEERNZTSUREEE electronics and acoustics products, batteries and battery-related
MZHE o products and rechargeable batteries and related products.

AEBZEERBEDBRAREESFTAOT ¢ The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by these

operating and reportable segments:

#HZE2025F3A31HILFEE Year ended 31 March 2025

2 T% BEIN

#®& &t
Eitr Other Total
£ Eitt Rechargeable industrial  reportable v At
Audio Battery battery investments segments  Eliminations Total
TR T TR TR TR TER TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ey REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 1,580,267 4,838,637 432,392 - 6,851,296 - 6,851,296
ERmHE Inter-segment sales 804 12,933 120,703 - 134,440 (134,440) -
E3/4- ¢4 Segment revenue 1,581,071 4,851,570 553,095 - 6,985,736 (134,440) 6,851,296
£ RESULTS
£h¥E Segment results 62,356 433,629 9,634 11,299 516,918 - 516,918
FIBBA Interest income 9,327
HwEAREMER  Other expenses and other losses (58,903)
BIRRA Finance costs (224,337)
TEIECER Unallocated expenses (31,103)

BB ATRR Profit before taxation 211,902
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5. SHEER EXH @ 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

B 220244 3A 31H ILFE (EFHR5) Year ended 31 March 2024 (Re-presented)

BT BEDH

RE Eh)
it Other Total
EE it Rechargeable industrial reportable e &t
Audio Battery battery  investments segments  Eliminations Total
Thn TAR ThR TAR TAR Thn Thn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B8 REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 1,580,293 4,531,321 364,792 - 6,476,406 - 6,476,406
EHEHE Inter-segment sales 363 1,730 71,984 - 74,077 (74,077) -
E3 L] Segment revenue 1,580,656 4,533,051 436,776 - 6,550,483 (74,077) 6,476,406
£ | RESULTS
EREE Segment results 37,979 409,257 (22,268) (438,756) (13,788) - (13,788)
HELON Interest income 15,758
HEthERAREMEE  Otherexpenses and other losses (9,449
BBRA Finance costs (248,541)
THIBZER Unallocated expenses (39,547)
BHAIEE Loss hefore taxation (295,567)

MiaE - R2024B M FEAM TR RENEBRERE
FE 45 4 350 R} Bl 5 #8 472,800,0005% T (2025
F |-

Note: Segment results of other industrial investments included share of loss of XIC
of HK$472.8 million for FY2024 (2025: nil).

DHEERRSEDI NS EAAKEER
EERREREUMRFEEFR D EAMRBEFME o 7
BB - HitbB AR EMEGE - BHHAE - R
THRDHEERNESHFMRBEIREDBE
BoME BERREBREAEEERE ZHERRNE
EENEHRBEIREDMEE - HEWE K
ERBRBREAREECIRESIBEE -

ERBEEDNSEMSERMEE

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

Segment results represents the results from each segment without
allocation of interest income, other expenses and other losses, finance
costs, central administration and certain distribution costs and directors’
emoluments. Impairment loss recognised and written off on property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are not allocated to
segment result which the related property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are allocated to segment assets. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment. Inter-segment sales are made by reference to
market prices.

Inter-segment sales are made by reference to market prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro

e BHmRNTE

5. SEER EEHE @

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continued)

AEEHREIDB2EEREBEINNOT : The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segments:
HitT£88E
it Other
=8 Ejth Rechargeable industrial &
Audio Battery battery investments Total
FiEx Figx Figx Figx FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
#2025%3H 31H At 31 March 2025
g Assets
EBEE Segment assets 949,277 4,112,456 412,359 710,450 6,184,542
THENEEE Unallocated assets 1,335,225
REWEE Consolidated total assets 7,519,767
af Liabilities
EZ 3=t Segment liabilities 397,754 1,319,732 205,431 23,875 1,946,792
THENEEE Unallocated liabilities 3,434,902
GEBesE Consolidated total liabilities 5,381,694
HihTE#%RE
REM Other
=8 Bt Rechargeable industrial &t
Audio Battery battery  investments Total
FiEr FAET FET FiEx FiEr
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
20244 3H 31H At 31 March 2024
(EFEH) (Re-presented)
BE Assets
¥KEE Segment assets 1,002,128 3,964,678 342,963 898,605 6,208,374
THEDEERE Unallocated assets 1,394,311
REHEE Consolidated total assets 7,602,685
=K Liabilities
B3 S=1 Segment liabilities 415,475 1,288,145 168,055 41 1,871,716
TN BEERE Unallocated liabilities 3,576,439
ReHas Consolidated total liabilities 5,448,155

MEEEBRARER 2BNERD R

- BREEEEREEE - TREBE - RIT

&1z - 7%

o BRTEMHE  RITER
BF - RITREMBER
EEBARRENEMBEE

EREER -

AR REREEEBRHRERNE
WEE  MEEED

MELEER S &

- BERERAM
CEEREEERE
FPEEESE
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For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than gooduwill,
deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable, bank balances, deposits
and cash and assets used jointly by operating segments; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than taxation

payable, bank loans, import and other loans, bank and other loans,
deferred tax liabilities and liabilities for which operating segments

are jointly liable.
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5. SWEN EX#Hw

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

Hithig Other information
EfTERE
it Other
EL EiM Rechargeable industrial F0E o)
Audio Battery battery investments  Unallocated Consolidated
Tign Tign Tign Tign Tign Ti#n
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE2025% 30 31ALEE Year ended 31 March 2025
AEEAPEER Amounts included in measure of segment
AEFISEEz2E assets and segment profit or loss
BeNTER Interests in associates - 345,008 14,405 606,934 - 966,347
ERERH Capital expenditure 53,407 134,499 26,962 109 42 215,019
0% BERREZTER Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
B EEEH and amortisation of intangible assets 36,993 143,120 23,393 1,572 1,163 206,241
FREEECIE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 33,343 25,001 9,746 5,106 8,264 81,550
fritBeE 0 T%E  TRELINA Share of results of associates, excluding XIC - 33,630 (1,677) 44,749 - 76,702
FEEE () Reversal of (allowance) for inventories (431) 8,180 464 - - 8,213
HENE  BERREZFE Loss on disposal and write-off of property,
plant and equipment 362 21,764 825 - 16 22,967
HERHHHERENT NG Gain on disposal/dilution of associates - 106 - - - 106
EfhTEKkE
gl Other
G Eltl  Rechargeable industrial 0 &a
Audio Battery battery  investments  Unallocated  Consolidated
TiEn FiEn TEn T#En TiEn TiBn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HZ2024F3031ALFE Year ended 31 March 2024
(EH45) (Re-presented)
AREANPEER Amounts included in measure of segment
AREFISEEC SR assets and segment profit or loss
HeRER Interests in associates - 324,027 16,727 573,860 - 914,614
ERML Capital expenditure 31,197 169,410 16,599 - 39 217,245
0¥ BERMEZNER Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
B EEEH and amortisation of intangible assets 34,721 137,893 21,174 - 1,081 194,869
FREEEZNE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 37,646 22,906 9,685 - 9,278 79,515
Frib g aIRE Share of results of XIC - - - (472,805) - (472,805)
FitEENT%E  TRELENA Share of results of associates, excluding XIC - 63,277 1,362 34,084 - 98,723
FEEE ) Reversal (allowance) for inventories 2,568 (2,876) (292) - - (600)
HEWE  BERGEZEE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 29 379 - - - 408
HE/BERENTZEE Loss on disposal/dilution of associates - 1,578 - - - 1,578

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

5. SHEEN EX# @ 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continued)

i E R
REE 2 BEER T ISEEEE N P E R E MM
Bz  BUM R MBI SETT -

TREHRT —EREBELIINREFAEBESE
ENEERI MR TIBEFRBDEBRE - UL
FEFAHMBEERGEZRATARELERIEE
ENFRBEENBIH DT

Geographical information

The Group’s manufacturing and marketing functions are carried out
in the PRC and certain other Asian countries, European and American
countries.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers based on location of customers and information
about its non-current assets other than non-current rental deposits,
equity instruments at FVVTOCI and deferred tax assets by geographical
locations of assets:

BxE ERENEE
Revenue Non-current assets

2025 2024 2025 2024
Ti&n FiEx Ti#x FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

= The PRC
—-&E - Hong Kong 323,706 328,750 389,908 426,543
— i - Mainland China 2,754,042 2,462,958 2,320,906 2,198,994
HibTNE R Other Asian countries 442 448 458,993 735,745 755,819
BuM Europe 1,671,323 1,755,003 194,746 149,611
=M Americas 1,618,387 1,430,759 16,146 5,725
H Others 41,390 39,943 - -
6,851,296 6,476,406 3,657,451 3,536,692

FEEZIIREFEXBERFRDEE 2 BFE
B BERNEARRDE - WEREHEMDINE
BN ENREM D EEERRE—
THBERERNRARBE - 2 8% [HAbM
BxX| cEXBNMIRBEETERAE - Fi0
RN ERAD - (BN WEXBENFERBDEEE
ERHREREE - M [EMN] WEXBMERESE
EREZERIEEM -
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The geographical information of the Group’s revenue from external
customers and non-current assets by individual significant countries
in other Asian countries, Europe, Americas and others is not available
and management considers the cost to obtain the information would
be excessive. The revenue and non-current assets classified as “Other
Asian countries” mainly represents Taiwan, Singapore and Malaysia,
revenue and non-current assets classified as “Europe” mainly represents
United Kingdom and Germany and revenue and non-current assets
classified as “Americas” mainly represents North America.
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5. SWEN EX#Hw

IREmERE
UTAFEEEETEERERBERCEXED
#r

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION/REVENUE (continuec)

Revenue from major products
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue recognised at a point
in time from its major products:

2025 2024
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FENI Audio segment:
BEERRIEEETRIEESEER Audio products and related electronics and
acoustics products 1,580,267 1,580,293
Epiihan:] Battery segment:
Tt R Bt iEREE S Batteries and battery related products 4,838,637 4,531,321
Epiithaniie Rechargeable battery segment:
ZEMRIEEER Rechargeable batteries and related products 432,392 364,792
BEFANEEZEESE Revenue from contracts with customers 6,851,296 6,476,406

BEFENELCEXRHEHYIEXH
6,985,736,000 #& T ( 2024 %
6,550,483,000 % 7u) @z 2 5Bl %2 EE#HE
134,440,000 % 7t (2024 £ : 74,077,000 &
o) °

FEEERARFHENEER - EXHEE
BHEEBRER  NEEVEKRNIERH
BEVNEYACERSRFES - ARENEE
FERKGIER  NEREFPEEEEAEYR
EESEmNERRERNGAE - —RXZEBR
EMEHREBE=TRE-— B TRAXN -

FEHEENYA - FREERRE - FEIBR
EREAE IS EFBARBIRERZS RERS
W5 E1E

FEEFEN
20268 U B |2 20248 BUF B » SR BRI E
—BEFE10%3 U EAREE 2 & HEEE o

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

The difference between revenue from contracts with customers
and segment revenue amounting to HK$6,985,736,000 (2024:
HK$6,550,483,000) is inter-segment sales of HK$ 134,440,000 (2024:
HK$74,077,000).

The Group sells all products directly to customers. Revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been delivered to the customers’ specific location
and customer acceptance has been obtained. The Group’s revenue
is recognised at a point in time, which is the point of time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of the goods and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits of the goods. Payment of the
transaction price is normally due ranging from 30 days to 120 days, after
the control of goods has been transferred.

All sales contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Information about major customers

No single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue
during FY2025 and FY2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

6. Hitig AR Efukas  Hithss R E A& E 6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/OTHER EXPENSES AND

OTHER LOSSES
2025 2024
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
IRITERREHRR EWERFE YA Interest income from bank deposits and
balances and loan receivables 9,327 15,758
BB Government grant 45,602 32,828
UATETTABEZeREEZ Fair value gain on financial assets at F\VTPL
AFERE - 425
ERER - IRBNEARA Product development and tooling income 18,271 19,599
HEEERE A RS 2 WS Gain from de-registration/disposal of interest
in an associate 106 111
HEZH KR - BRARESME 2WE  Gain on sales of parts, samples, scrap and
surplus materials 6,613 4,569
BEE AR ZERERA Management fee income received from
associates 3,490 4,361
BREMEESKRA Gross rental income from investment
properties 3,831 -
W FAEEREVERSKAZ Less: direct operating expenses incurred for
HiZEEER investment properties generated rental
income during the year (180) -
EEREWA Operating lease income 429 4,275
ERER - BRIRE AR EERGTRZ Recovery of bad debt and over provision
FEEE BB A EE of claims and write back of ECL on other
receivable 1,133 5,787
i —RME QSR ES Gain on de-registration of a subsidiary 11,591 -
N T REIMER 2 EE R E G Gain of bargain purchase of additional interest
in associates - 13
Frib i A RS R EE R R Reversal of impairment loss on interest in an
associate - 45,250
B 5 s Exchange gain 19,188 9,226
ERIEEWRA Rovalty income 2,271 3,727
Hith Others 2,526 4,779
HAb g A R E iz Other income and other gains 124,198 150,708
HENE  BERRBEZES Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 841 408
FHEWE BEKRRE Property, plant and equipment written off 22,126 4,010
DNAFESFABRzeRMEE 2 AT EEE Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL 1,067 -
BRUWE BRERREZRERE Impairment loss recognised on property, plant
(HzE14) and equipment (note 14) 5,917 578
EEHE—HEE AR ZEHE Loss from deemed disposal of interest in an
associate - 1,689
TEEMIAZRERATEESE Realised fair value loss on derivative financial
instruments - 360
BHERBE Restructuring charges 25,000 1,823
REMEZ AN TEEE Fair value loss on investment properties 324 -
HibEWFIENTE B E BB LBE ECL provision on other receivables 2,861 -
Hith Others 767 581
Hih> H R EMEE Other expenses and other losses 58,903 9,449

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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7. BHEEEA

7. FINANCE COSTS

2025 2024
FiEx FiEx
HK$’000 HK$'000
BTREMERAEER Interest on bank and other loans 208,313 232,768
HESEANEEA Interest on lease liabilities 16,024 15,773
224,337 248,541
8. BR#ATES (E518) 8. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
2025 2024
T FExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MBI AR (B8 ) ERBRATER - Profit (loss) before taxation has been arrived at
after charging:
EEME (KMIEE9) Directors’ emoluments (note 9) 29,733 33,771
Hih8ITHe  ZERER Other staff’s salaries, allowances and welfare 1,150,846 1,091,164
BIEMNEREGS Total employee benefits expenses 1,180,579 1,124,935
ME -  BERREZTE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 206,018 193,541
FRAEEEZITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 81,550 79,515
FE(EE)EE (Reversal of) allowance for inventories (8,213) 600
B EEEE Amortisation of intangible assets 223 1,328
ZEE S Auditor’s remuneration
KEE Current year 13,378 14,443
FEFREZEE Under provision in prior years 920 503
BRAXHZFERE Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 4,843,459 4,632,142
FEEERAEE8 A& 2R Expenses in relating to short-term leases,
HE  RKEEEEHSENTEHEENRK leases of low-value assets and variable
BEZER lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities recognised
in respect of
HEWE rental premises 12,608 11,889
Hith others 59 165
MREAZHEEETERZHA) Research expenditure incurred (included in
administrative expenses) 98,173 88,844

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

o EERAFFHRLEESEHMES 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMIUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMIPLOYEES
EE N AR S EEm Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments and employees’
emoluments
EEREH Directors and Chief Executive
ENFENTF =8 (2024F : +—R) EER The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve (2024: eleven)
BHHNOT ¢ Directors and the Chief Executive are as follows:
2025
Hitngrm
Other emoluments
KA BIRER
H&R REXH HEEEN
H{tiigF| Performance Retirement
Salaries and related benefit
e other incentive scheme &%
Fees benefits payments contributions Total
FTEx TiEx FEx TR FaEx
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Br¥axi)
(note i)
BTES Executive Directors:
EhE (EE) Vlictor LO Chung Wing (note ii) 10 8,529 157 613 9,309
TR Brian LI Yiu Cheung 10 4,048 114 412 5,484
AT Michael LAM Hin Lap 10 3,966 - 342 4,318
BLE Waltery LAW \Wang Chak 10 5,070 175 18 5,273
212 (fiztv) Christopher LAU Kwan (note v) 10 - - - 10
R (fiEvi) Joseph LEUNG (note vi) 2 1,081 - 5 1,088
SRR (ffzEv) Vlictor CHONG Toong Ying (note iv) 4 1,975 800 117 2,896
FHITES Non-Executive Director:
REXE Karen NG Ka Fai 253 - - - 253
BAKHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors:
BHE LUI Ming Wah 303 - - - 303
BRAR Frank CHAN Chi Chung 293 - - - 293
BREE CHAN Kei Biu 253 - - - 253
ERE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung 253 - - - 253
1,411 25,569 1,246 1,507 29,733
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9. EERMRFHRAIBESHMES @ 9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMIUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

ESREZTFHRESEHEN @ Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments and employees’
emoluments (continued)
EERAH @ Directors and Chief Executive (continued)
2024
H A
Other emoluments
®EEE BIER
ek ®E%H sHEIER
HifEA Performance  Retirement
Salaries and related benefit
e other incentive scheme &%
Fees benefits payments contributions Total
FEr TEn FERr TEn TBx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(=)
(note i)
HiTES Executive Directors:
Efh (M) Victor LO Chung Wing (note ii) 10 7,327 1,442 521 9,300
TR Brian LI Yiu Cheung 10 4,536 1,243 371 6,160
HREAL Michael LAM Hin Lap 10 3,502 - 231 3,743
718 (#iEtiv) Brian WONG Tze Hang (note iv) 10 3,714 - 283 4,007
RRZ Victor CHONG Toong Ying 10 4,366 - 253 4,629
ELE \Waltery LAW Wang Chak 10 4,489 175 18 4,692
FUTES Non-Executive Director:
RRE Karen NG Ka Fai 230 - - - 230
BAEHTES Independent Nlon-Executive Directors:
Bz LUl Ming \Wah 280 - - - 280
BRAEH Frank CHAN Chi Chung 270 - - - 270
FREE CHAN Kei Biu 230 - - - 230
BEE Timothy TONG Wai Cheung 230 - - - 230
1,300 27,934 2,860 1,677 33,771
BT - Notes:

() REEHEZRMIEDREZFELERE - EX
RARULBNTSHABTEE

(i) BHAKREERBARDAEFERAE  REMKE
ZEHNC BIEEREEREAMERZRE -

(i) AEFRBATESHH  TERRERBAIAR
AEBEHEZEEER - UEEBIFNITES
RFPITESHFH  TRRWEERDAEEZR
7 o

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The performance related incentive payments were determined with reference
to the operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics for both years.

Mr. Victor LO Chung Wing is also the Chairman and Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the Chairman and Chief Executive.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ and Non-Executive Directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as Directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

9. EERAIFHROBESHFMES @ 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMIUNERATION AND FIVE

EERARHFHRESHFH @

EERAH @
MisE © &)

(iv) EFEEERRRICAEEDBIN2024F 4R 1B R
2024F 9R 1R REHITES -

(v) BIZE4EN2024F48 1HEEZEAKRRRHT
EE - R20250HFE - AEEXTEEBER
1,440,000/ 7T (20244 : ) T —EBIZELE
B2 AT e

(vi) RELEEEN2026F 18 1IERZERARD AT
Ex-

ES

FEEAFETERSHATBIEDS (2024
F R EE BEAQDITHAR - EH5H
FEEN L - R20268EE - AEEHER
—% (2024%F : — ) RESFHEE UHFARFE
B) ZHMT ¢

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments and employees
emoluments (continued)

Directors and Chief Executive (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv) Mr. Brian WONG Tze Hang and Mr. Victor CHONG Toong Ying retired as
Executive Director of the Company on 1 April 2024 and 1 September 2024,
respectively.

(v) Mr. Christopher LAU Kwan was appointed as Executive Director of the
Company on 1 April 2024. During FY2025, the Group paid consultancy fees
of HK$ 1,440,000 (2024: nil) to a company controlled by Mr. Christopher Lau
Kwan.

(vi) Mr.Joseph LEUNG was appointed as Executive Director of the Company on 1
January 2025.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year included four
(2024: four) Directors including the Chief Executive of the Company,
details of whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of
the remaining one (2024: one) highest paid employee of the Group for
FY2025, not being a Director of the Company, are as follows:

2025 2024
FEx FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEREAMER Salaries and other benefits 1,002 993
FRIBIERAER T H Performance related incentive payments 4,023 3,251
ERRERIFT B Retirement benefit scheme contributions - -
5,025 4,244
MR E N EE N T Their emoluments were within the following bands:
EE8HE
No. of employees
2025 2024
4,000,001 7t — 4,500,000/ 7T HK$ 4,000,001 to HK$ 4,500,000 - 1
5,000,001 5t — 5,500,000/& 7t HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 -

REEFER  UEATESRESHFM2ES
EEMSEREGMAREMARER R 2 2E
HREBALZHE - RBMEFER  HEEER
BHBETAHE -
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No emoluments was paid to the directors and the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during both years. None of the Directors
or the Chief Executive has waived any emoluments during both years.
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10. %A

10. TAXATION
2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(EE The charge comprises:
BBFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax
—RFEHIE - charge for the year 5,072 7,791
-~ FEZEIMNEE - over provision in previous years (402) (13)
4,670 7,778

EBUUINA A BRI

Taxation in jurisdictions other than Hong Kong

—REEBIE - charge for the year 51,558 36,912
—FFEZBEIMEE - over provision in previous years (4,609) (6,067)
46,949 30,845
51,619 38,623

EAER A (iEE29) Deferred taxation charge (note 29)
—REFE - current year 20,984 7,670
72,603 46,293

AEEAREEESFEBRABEMNE S
HRAEA (BEoHRA) SAEHEEBE
B o AEEC H R IR R SR R B R
IMERUERRKEBEERAEEREE -

R20268 BFE - B HRERAEEM
BLARAEEBNE TERLELEN - BERE
CBA - B8 W RERERE - RIBEC
SRR BEAEEERE -AEEERANER
REERIS%  BEELHERES - HRAE
SEEEEBNERBRMEERN15%  £&
B E i A HERD 4 R 118 4,335,00058 7T
(20245 : &) HEMBIERFX  FH 202581
FEMS @ RPZSIRSEOAEEEREY -

20255 3A31H » RN AEENE
NEBEBNE TERILERER LA B K
A BEERAED KW - HIRMRE o M
FROHEHE-XMERA - WRN2026F 18 1R
BV BFERBER - REBECRER 2025
BRFENVBERTE T E-HERANKE
FE UHBEEEE RN BRRERN
FHEEE OSBRSS -

R20245 K 20255 MEF B FE - HBREH
BEBFEHE16.5%5H -

EBLIMES BB AEZAER - T2RTE
EMAER ([REFEBRE]) MEEQTME
B DBIABIZE25%M 19%5H & ©

REEE FETRELHMNE LD RFE SR
REERRATRAISBEEREHRE - SHHEZS
M D A PR TSR AR B et A B LR

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

The Group is subject to the global minimum top-up tax under the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (the “Pillar Two legislation”). The Group
has applied the temporary exception for recognising and disclosing
information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two
top-up tax.

For FY2025, the Pillar Two legislation has been enacted and become
effective in Germany, Japan, South Korea, the Netherlands, the United
Kingdom and Vietnam in which the Group has operative subsidiaries.
Under the Pillar Two legislation, a top-up tax liability arises where the
Group’s effective tax rate in a jurisdiction is below 15%. The Group has
recognised a current tax expense of HK$4,335,000 (2024: nil) related
to the top-up tax in Vietnam, where effective tax rate is estimated to
be below 15%. For FY2025, this tax expense is expected to be levied on
group entities.

As at 31 March 2025, the Pillar Two legislation is enacted or
substantially enacted but has not yet in effect in Malaysia, Poland,
Singapore and Thailand in which the Group operates, whereas Hong
Kong has introduced the Pillar Two legislation with effect from the fiscal
year 1 January 2025. \IWhile the Group has assessed the Pillar Two tax
implication based on the financial information for FY2025, the Group
will continue to monitor the Pillar Two developments and reassess the
potential impacts when the legislation comes into effect.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Income tax on profits assessable outside Hong Kong mainly arose
from PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and United Kingdom
corporate income tax was calculated at a rate of 25% and 19%,
respectively.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are eligible as
High and New Technology Enterprise and are entitled to preferential
income tax rate of 15%. Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC of those
subsidiaries has been provided for after taking these tax incentives into
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10. fiilE @ 10. TAXATION (continued)
BIEZHERRNOT : A statement of reconciliation of taxation is as follows:
2025 2024
FBT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BREBADER (B518) Profit (loss) before taxation 211,902 (295,567)
REBRBHE16.5%(2024%F : 16.5%) Tax charge at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate
HE RIS of 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) 34,964 (48,769)
FritBE AR 2 g2 Tax effect of share of results of associates (12,656) 61,724
TEMRBERESZ B E Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 54,940 70,254
SR 2B & Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purposes (29,723) (67,585)
RERBEFBREEE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 40,115 42,826
FREIFRERREHEE B BTE Tax effect on utilisation of tax losses
previously not recognised (26,162) (16,963)
EBLUIMEB TR E 2 & Effect of different tax rates in jurisdictions
other than Hong Kong (5,832) 694
EAmERARD R 2 B MER Withholding tax on distributed and
undistributed profits 17,633 10,191
EERBRBTHEER Top-up tax under Pillar Two Rules 4,335 -
EEEZREIMNSE Over provision in previous years (5,011) (6,080)
REEHE Taxation charge for the year 72,603 46,293
11 g2 11. DIVIDENDS
2025 2024
FBxT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEERIABHIEIRE Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
2024F R EARR B — TR 1.0/l 2024 final dividend - 1.0 HK cent
(2023%F : ) (2023 nil) per share 9,155 -
2025F FHARR B — TR 1.5 2025 interim dividend - 1.5 HK cents
(20245 : %) (2024: nil) per share 13,732 -
22,887 _
EEREBRRERARKRESRKR1.084L (2024 A final dividend of 1.0 HK cent (2024: 1.0 HK cent) per share has
F 1084 - REREESRERA & been proposed by the Directors and it is subject to approval by
BIWALRARREAFRELME - ZRE the Shareholders in the forthcoming 2025 AGM. This dividend of
9,025,00078 7t (20244 : 9,155,000/ 7t) B HK$9,025,000 (2024: HK$9,155,000) has been recognised in the
SFARATREREE - ERANEEREESR2.5 dividend reserve of the Company. On the basis of 2.5 HK cents (2024:
Bl (20244 1.0784L)  AFEERELTES 1.0 HK cent) per share for the year ended 2025, total dividend amount to
22,757,000 7t (20244 : 9,155,00058 7T) ° HK$22,757,000 (2024: HK$9,155,000).
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12. SRAEF (B18)

BRARNBDEEAZERERER (BER) HRE
THBIEFE -

12. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2025 2024
FiEx FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’000
ZF (&518) Earnings (loss)
BRAATEEAZZEERN (B18) Profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners
of the Company 30,379 (367,329)
i Less:
KABHREF D Accrued distribution for perpetual bonds (3,579) -
26,800 (367,329)
2025 2024
T F
000 '000
2 E 4] Number of shares
STESRERBR (BB 2FRD BT \Weighted average number of ordinary shares
E BRI IETEIIE in issue during the year for the purpose of
calculating basic earnings (loss) per share 915,226 915,475

R202M B EFE - A2AE8REXER
AER2.9B (2024F : §REE40.1
B FTEERASAFELALTAEBARE
1 7% & 30,379,000 & T ( 2024 & : & #&
367,329,000 7t) - HIE k A &% B 2 B
3,579,000/8 L » LA £ ARy AR E
BRITEBRBREND & -

R20248 M F EAR KB |BTEMAKAE
Z o Bt R2024PRFESRERRFIFE
EEHKAGEHEF DEAFHFREE -

7 20258 20247 8 B 4F 79 3 8 7 72 E B R
7 AL EZERESREERANZHE -

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

Basic earnings per share for FY2025 is HK2.9 cents (2024: HK40.1
cents loss per share), based on the earnings (2024: loss) for the
year attributable to the owners of the Company of earnings of
HK$30,379,000 (2024: loss of HK$367,329,000) excluding the accrued
distribution for perpetual bond of HK$3,579,000 and the denominators
detailed above for weighted average number of ordinary share in issue
during the vear.

No adjustment on accrued distribution for perpetual bonds is made on
the basic earnings per share for FY2024 as there are no perpetual bonds
in issue during FY2024.

No computation of diluted earnings per share for FY2025 and FY2024

is disclosed as there are no potential ordinary shares in issue during
FY2025 and FY2024.
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13. 1R EWE

R20268 M EE - LRAPEN -0 TXEE
M—BEBE (M%) ERERRLERERERE
Y% HIREE 419,998,000 T - TE A
REWMER  ARBEEGENDFE  LHEHE
ftb 2 [ W 55 H #E R E ik U &= 168,383,00078 7T
RAEEIEIE R 1H & 528,683,000/ 7T

REMENDVEREAEENERENE LS
BREELEMETHE - ZEHENREESE
MER - WEAREREELEE B YR ETHE
HYAEER o

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During FY2025, certain portion of an industrial complex and a factory
building (the “properties”) located in China with carrying amount of
HK$419,998,000 was transferred to investment properties at the
end of owner-occupation. Immediately before the transfer, the Group
remeasured the properties to fair value and recognised a gain of
HK$ 168,383,000 and related deferred tax liability of HK$28,683,000 in
other comprehensive income.

The fair values of investment properties were valued by independent
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. The valuers
have appropriate qualifications and experiences in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations.

2025
FiET
HK$’000

ANHE Fair value
M2024% 38 318 K 2024% 48 1A At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 -
mE - MEMZHEEA Transferred from property, plant and equipment 419,998
SFABHEZAFERD Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (329)
EREL Exchange adjustment (1,428)
720255 34 31H At 31 March 2025 418,246

F=MOAFEFEPEANGEZTN@EA
BuR
TREJANEEBRAE=RNREWEN R
FEMGERNR T 20 ARE

VValuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value
measurements

The following table presents the valuation techniques and key inputs
that were used to determine the fair value of investment properties
categorised under Level 3:

FrIBRMA iR
DTENEE
EATAHEMARE Relationship of
B DFE {HER Significant unobservable unobservable inputs to fair
Description Fairvalueasat  Valuation techniques inputs value
2025 2024
FiEn FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEWCIAERT 372,763 B REEENAERTSE B SYAKER  BALHRE SV REKES  ATE
—TEREBRNID RIELWRERAENTERLS BENTSEETLER. H5-
FoOMEBNEBHRRRE UEEINBREMAERNR
MRARBEERERMENE X WEHE - BERE 2
BREANRERELEE B BRE) NFEFHXK

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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13. REME @

F=EWMAFEABFEANEERBTN@HA

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value

Big @ measurements
TRABRRA SRS
DTEMEER
EATAHEMARR Relationship of
A DEHE R {E i Significant unobservable unobservable inputs to fair
Description Fairvalueasat  Valuation techniques inputs value
2025 2024
FiEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Portion of an industrial 372,763 N/A Depreciated replacement  Price per square meter, The higher the price per
complex in Ningbo City, cost approach and using market direct square meter, the higher
Zhejiang province, PRC market approach, which comparable for the the fair value.
relies on an estimate existing use of the land
of the market value for and taking into account
the existing use of the of location and other
land, plus the current individual factors such
cost of replacement as size, building facilities,
of the improvements levels, age of building,
less allowance for etc.,, which is ranging from
physical deterioration RMB1,188 per square
and all relevant forms meter to RMIB1,551 per
of obsolescence and square meter.
optimization.
HENNTRE RS 45,483 B WAERLE mi5HE  ZRITLENE THESHS  ATEMES-
—IEFREN—HH HAMENVEZR  NF
BEFRARYK2/ITZRT
FRARKE297T
BARILERTY% EARbEMES - D TEEE -
Portion of an industrial 45,483 N/A Income capitalization Market rents, taking into  The higher the market rents,

complex in Ningbo City,
Zhejiang province, PRC

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

method

Capitalisation rate of 7%

account the differences the higher the fair value.
in location between

the comparables and

the properties, which is

ranging from RMIB27 per

square meter to RMB29

per square meter.
The higher the capitalization

rate, the lower the fair
value.
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14. % - BERR 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

XAHE
THREE 5 HBERRE IERIA
Freehold WEME  EEZB  Machinery Moulds HREE
land and Owned  Leasehold and and Asset under Hit fit
buildings ~ properties improvements  equipment tools construction Others Total
FiEn T#n FiEn T#n TiEn T#n T#n FiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bz
(note)
HASEE COST OR VALUATION
202344 17 At 1 April 2023 77010 1,218,318 232,562 2,244,759 508,105 161,806 248,928 4,691,488
gHEy Curtency realignment @300 (762 (503 (220) (19777 (B (9,39 (174109
2m Additions - 50 13,360 31,349 10,656 163,973 7,857 217,245
HE Disposals - (1,139 (1,125) (61,679 (2,234) - (39,862 (106,039
R Wiritten off - - (16,360) (35,619 (4,377) - (4,203 (60,559
ER Transfer - 198,911 4,481 55,845 22,018 (295,3806) 14,131 -
#2024% 3 317 At 31 March 2024 72,709 1,358,498 227,886 2,162,444 514,391 14,642 217457 4,568,027
EHan Currency realignment 3,899 (22,647) (383) 3,828 (3,602 (710) 438 (19,177)
£ Additions - 4,894 32,219 35,693 33,033 102,301 6,879 215,019
e Disposals - - (3,093 (7,655) (463) - (1,177)  (12,388)
R Written off (6,994) - (48,537) (51,195) (16,465) (109) (355)  (123,655)
4 Transfer - (12 - 37,302 31,3% (69,921) 1,235 -
EZREMERNENRME  Revaluation upon transfer to
investment properties - 168,383 - - - - - 168,383
BERENE Transfer to investment properties - (544,037) - - - - - (544,037)
ERfREEE Transfer from right-of-use assets - - - 5,818 - - - 5,818
#2025 35 31A At 31 March 2025 69,614 965,079 208,092 2,186,235 558,290 46,203 224477 4,257,990
i Comprising
AR At cost 39,314 965,079 208,092 2,186,235 558,290 46,203 224477 4,227,690
fhE - 1994F At valuation - 1994 30,300 - - - - - - 30,300
69,614 965,079 208,092 2,186,235 558,290 46,203 224477 4,257,990
FERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
2023545 1R At 1 April 2023 21,434 183,726 136,712 1,616,706 257,989 - 164,132 2,370,699
EHHR Currency realignment (1,083 (8,294 (3,477) (43,204) (8,034 - (3,726) (67,868)
REEER Provided for the year 954 30,929 18,041 93,189 33,652 - 16,776 193,541
HE Impairment - - - 578 - - - 578
HERTR Eliminated on disposals - (230) (1,125) (59,828 (1,979 - (39,444)  (102,606)
SRR Eliminated on written off - - (16,052 (32,324) (3,987) - (4,189) (56,548)
#2024% 3 318 At 31 March 2024 21,305 206,131 134,009 1,575,067 277,641 - 123,553 2,337,796
i Currency realignment 1,003 (3,356) (768) 5,950 (558) - 1,104 3,465
REEEE Providled for the year 973 35,473 22,285 94,648 35,282 - 17,357 206,018
HE Impairment - - - 5,917 - - - 5,017
HERRR Eliminated on disposals - - (3,093 (4,438 (134) - (1,127) (8,792
SRR Eliminated on written off - - (38,007) (46,732) (15,400) - (346)  (100,485)
EERENE Transfer to investment properties - (124,039 - - - - - (124,039
1#2025% 38 310 At 31 March 2025 23,371 114,209 114,516 1,630,412 296,831 - 140,541 2,319,880
REE CARRYING VALUE
#2025% 3 31R At 31 March 2025 46,243 850,870 93,576 555,823 261,459 46,203 83,936 1,938,110
202453 317 At 31 March 2024 51,404 1,152,367 93,787 587,377 236,750 14,642 93,904 2,230,231

M HMEBEREENER  REEI B
73,944,000% 7t (20244 : 81,771,000
& t) M 9,992,000 #& ;t ( 2024 F :
12,133,000/%7T) °

Note: Others included furniture and fixtures and motor vehicles with carrying values
of HK$73,944,000 (2024: HK$81,771,000) and HK$9,992,000 (2024:
HK$12,133,000), respectively.
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14. Y% - BERZRE @

%~ BERERE EREERKAESR LR
SN ZBARMMEAEMGET A AFEBREMAETR
BEERUTINERUESESFINEREH

BHSE

KAFEELHREE 2%ZE4%

7 ZCRYES 2%Z 5% IR 18 B = 8
HEFH E&REE)

BREERE 10%% 33Y % {ER)
= R B
BEEE)

IR R 10%% 33Y,%

IRRIA 10%%50%

Hit (BRE - #E  S%E33Y%

KI7E)

20258 20248 B F E - AEEEE THE
BERRBAREAEEENTRE S FETR
& o MIBMEAR - BRRERFES, 917,000
7T (2024% : 578,000/ 70) LU Y% - #es
KB REE - MEFEDENERREER
RBEHE - FREEENTWESECRIEEME
FAEEETE - R20260 B FERRTRBERE
EBLIR R A 12% (20244 : 15.6%) ° 42025
F3A31H  REBERBRBLEERTRLE
WERBIEE °

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or valuation of items of
property, plant and equipment, except for asset under construction
and freehold land, over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

Straight-line method:

2% to 4%

2% to 5% or over the remaining period
of respective leases where shorter

10% to 33'/,% or over the remaining
period of respective leases where
shorter

Machinery and equipment 10% to 33Y/,%

Moulds and tools 10% to 50%

Others (representing furniture, 5% to 33'/,%
fixtures and motor vehicles)

Freehold land and buildings
Owned properties

Leasehold improvements

During FY2025 and FY2024, the Group carried out a review of the
recoverable amount of certain property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets. Arising from the review, impairment losses of
HK$5,917,000 (2024: HK$578,000) were recognised to reduce the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment. No impairment losses
were recognised on right-of-use assets for both years. The recoverable
amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the basis of their
value in use. The discount rate used in measuring value in use for FY2025
was 12% (2024: 15.6%). As at 31 March 2025, the impairment losses
arose from plants that engaged in the manufacturing of particular types
of battery product.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

15. FRHEEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
KR
HERE Machinery
Leasehold and Hith &t
building equipment Others Total
TET TET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
#2025 3F 31H As at 31 March 2025
HREE Carrying amount 239,724 1,033 2,190 242,947
#2024 3A 31H As at 31 March 2024
IREE Carrying amount 293,204 7,340 1,015 301,559
HZE2025F 3 31AILEE For the year ended 31 March 2025
2ERE Depreciation for the year 79,460 1,215 875 81,550
SHHEER Expense relating to short-term leases 6,335
EEEEEHEER Expense relating to leases of low-value
TEERKEEEEZREEE) assets, excluding short-term leases of
low-value assets 59
AERENRER Expense relating to variable lease
TEEREESEHEZR) payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 6,273
HERSRHAE Total cash outflow for leases 106,577
FRREEREEM Additions to right-of-use assets 29,175
HZ2024F3A31HLFEE For the year ended 31 March 2024
2ERE Depreciation for the year 76,246 2,259 1,010 79,515
EHEEER Expense relating to short-term leases 5,370
REEEEREER Expense relating to leases of low-value

(TEREEEEEZENEE) assets, excluding short-term leases of

low-value assets 58
Expense relating to variable lease

payments not included in the

measurement of lease liabilities 6,625

TERENHER
(FEEREEEETEZN)

HERSRLAHE
EREAESE

Total cash outflow for leases
Additions to right-of-use assets

96,018
116,777

FEBHEXERERE - RE - BERREN
WAERBUMEEE - HESRANEEHRRE
1F 2165 - HERKEREELNER HEEE
#y - A EEEEREMGERRAGELT - XEEE
BEAEMRMTETRENDRE - KA
FIMERILHEES E T RHETHIHR -

BEoh - REBEE -LEEFERBUEMCRHENE
RIEFTZMEMNTE - REBDHZEWFEER
HEMES A o EERE T IO AHRE
BEA T SE D ELRS - EAYENEE L IO
BB -

FEBEMBEEET BRRAMRBITLE
HiTHE - A20255 3A 310 - EHHEENESH
MEPRENEREEERARASEL -

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

The Group leases various leasehold building, motor vehicles, machinery
and equipment and office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 15 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns some office buildings and several industrial
buildings where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests. The leasehold
land components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leasehold
building, machinery and other equipment. As at 31 March 2025, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense was related as disclosed in
this note above.
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15. FHEEE @

ETREHEERSUEBENT  AXEAE
HANREERBEDLHE - MEREMEEREE
HENK -

HERH 2L

ot M20255 38318 - BRABEEER
268,177,000 % 7t (2024 % : 317,498,000
B 7)) KR 2 £ A E E 242,947,000 T
(2024% : 301,559,000/ 7T) ° KR 7 HIEEIF
BNEEEEDHERESS  HERRREE
AEMNE - HEEETSAEEERR -

16. FrbEE A R

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Leases of certain warehouses only contain variable lease payments that
are based on the percentage of usage on certain warehouse over the
lease term. All other leases are with only fixed lease payments.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$268,177,000 (2024: HK$317,498,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$242,947,000
(2024: HK$301,559,000) as at 31 March 2025. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2025 2024
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
g N RRERAR Cost of investments in associates
sl Listed 80,939 82,492
JFEET Unlisted 239,125 228,967
W& R R 2 E R - Share of post-acquisition profit and other
RBRE WAR 2 comprehensive income, net of dividends
received 637,495 594,367
957,559 905,826
= YNEIUE Amounts due from associates 8,788 8,788
966,347 914,614
FHRMDASAIIE 2 AFE FfEE) Fair value of listed shares at 31 March (note) 262,907 224,839

M © EHRENDTFEBRETSRERUKTEERFE
HRDBEREE -

BELATAARBERAREERRBEEEN
HoRESBER  AEEBTEERENEER
#BTEARREHERER - ALt - HEFIE
FRBEE -

FRiG B 1 B 2 B 5 2 50,523,0005% T
(20244 : 44,622,000/ 7T) °

B 20256 3A31H » KERIIEZMNER -
ZBEQNTRNFANBRIBERE  UREAH
BEVRRE - EARETIER R EREN NG ERY
FEEERRELCENDREDINZER - KEEH
EEERAENZEE QR NERE T FERER
%o

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

Note: The fair value of the listed investments is determined based on the quoted
market bid price multiplied by the quantity of shares held by the Group.

The amounts due from associates are unsecured and interest-free and
have no fixed repayment terms. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
would not demand for the repayment within the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amounts are
shown as non-current assets.

Included in the interests in associates is goodwill of HK$50,523,000
(2024: HK$44,622,000).

As of 31 March 2025, after considering the opinion of external lawyers,
the Associate’s actual financial performance during the year, and the
impact of the current geopolitical situation, capital control measures,
and sanctions on Russia on the Group’s ability to realise economic
benefits from the investment, the Group’s management concluded that
no impairment indicators existed for its interest in the Associate.
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16. FR{GEE D RS @ 16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

R202453A31H - KERMERMER - Z
BEQRRFANBRIBERR - AR ERFbE
BURRE - EAESIHEIE R HE AR A
EBERIERREREERZENEE N NWERS
& FAEEEEERAREENZEE QT M
DRE-DRERDNIR - RIEEEE =&
BENRRER FHBNMBRE - RPREE
DNEBEFENELE  MZBELTHOBRAE
BIER  -BREREFERRAEF27.0%10 8
REETHR - Bt AEEEERELZZER
20249 3A 1A ZME N A RA RSN ERER
84,261,000/8 0% - MEREBEZEE A RER
R {E 45,250,000/ 7T ° 4202454 35 31H -
RBEFERR 2ZBE A RRRNED 22U
IEl o

R20268 M - AKE B ZEE QB WEUR
£.3,196,000/8 7T (20244 : ) - WS
2 E A RDE A 12,725,000 7T (20244
17,123,000/ 7T) °

TEBE DR 2 BHNRE 44

FEME QT ZMBEREE
ERAEBIERE LR UBENBERTIM
T - UTHBERBEAREE B BRELER
BN R 2 BMRPITEHE

EREAEENEANEAT  RESHBER
SRHER AR -

As at 31 March 2024, taking into consideration the external lawyers’
opinion, the actual financial performance of the Associate during the
year, and the actual impact of the current geopolitical situation, capital
control measures and the sanctions on Russia on the Group’s ability to
realise the economic benefit as a foreign shareholder, the management
of the Group considers that there was an indication of further
impairment reversal of the Group’s interest in the Associate. Based on
the financial performance of the Associate estimated by management
covering a five-year period, it was anticipated that the Associate
will continue business as usual and there will be a steady growth in
revenue of the Associate. Discount rate of 27.0% per annum was used
to discount the cashflow forecast. As a result, the management of the
Group recognised a reversal of impairment of HK$45,250,000 on the
interest in Associate with reference to the value in use of the equity
interest in the Associate of HK$84,261,000 as at 31 March 2024. As at
31 March 2024, the impairment on the interest in Associate recognised
in prior years was fully reversed.

The Group received dividend of HK$3,196,000 (2024: nil) from
the Associate and recognised share of profit of Associate of
HK$12,725,000 (2024: HK$17,123,000) during FY2025.

Particulars of the principal associates are set out in note 44.

Summarised financial information of material associates
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material
associates is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards.

Meiloon is the material associate to the Group and is accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

ZRREMEAS Meiloon and its subsidiaries
2025 2024
TEx FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’'000
MENEE Current assets 1,264,895 1,209,167
IRBEE Non-current assets 677,757 685,741
REEE Current liabilities 473,458 509,664
ERBERE Non-current liabilities 363,950 336,354
JEiER RS Non-controlling interests 80,642 83,212
e Revenue 633,741 583,146
2 EHER Profit for the year 57,130 9,345
2FHMPEBA GZH) Other comprehensive income (expense)
for the year 22,427 (58,738)
ZEEERA ZH) 25 Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year 79,557 (49,393)
FRARERREZR S Dividends received from Meiloon
during the year 3,854 6,682

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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16. FriLERE D B @ 16.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

XEREMBQE @
PG BERNEEEZEN G ERRARE
ReBENTREFRAEYRNT -

Meiloon and its subsidiaries (continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate in respect of Meiloon
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2025 2024
FiEx FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEBAEREEACERFEE Net assets of Meiloon attributable to owners
of Meiloon 1,024,602 965,678
TEBEEEREERD ZLE Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest in Meiloon 20.27% 20.27%
b ERNFEE Share of net assets of Meiloon 207,687 195,742
mE Gooduwill 35,327 36,880
HipFRE Other adjustment (10,025) (4,173)
REBFEERER S Carrying amount of the Group’s interest
BRMEE in Meiloon 232,989 228,449

XEZVHFEHLFERR12A31E - AEER
REREFZIN-ERIASBEE ZHHRE
ETMIER At - XEEFERAXERAWBER
RIEE 20244 128 310 (20245 : 2023F 12
A31R) LEEZHFEUBRRESEASTE
A2 By - $ 20244 128 31H BL 20255 3
A 31R (2024% : 2023F 128 31H 84202453
A31H) 2MEAXZ2&E WH) SRR
EHEENAE -

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

The financial year end date for Meiloon is 31 December. For the
purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the consolidated
financial statements of Meiloon and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2024: 31 December 2023) have been used as
the Group considers that it is impracticable for Meiloon to prepare
a separate set of financial statements as of 31 March. Appropriate
adjustments have been made accordingly for the effects of significant
transactions between that date and 31 March 2025 (2024: 31 March
2024),if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

16. FrikEE A TR @ 16.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
JEERIEREE QN TINGEEEN Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material
2025 2024
TFiEx FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’000
A& B PTG &R The Group’s share of profit 65,124 96,828
AEEMEEMEEZE The Group’s share of other comprehensive
expense (3,130) (26,332)
AEEEEEEREEEE The Group’s share of total
comprehensive income 61,994 70,496
AEBEHE A RS 2 IRABEARE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in these associates 733,358 686,165
MizE - 20255 3A 31A » b AR EIEUT Note:Interest in associates as at 31 March 2025 included the following listed

EmRE investments:

(i) BR M {E 232,989,000 /& Tt (2024 & () The shares of Meiloon with carrying value of HK$232,989,000 (2024:
228,449,000 t) M B K 2 - = HK$228,449,000). Meiloon was incorporated in Taiwan and its shares
ERAESMAY  HBRORAERES are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. The market value
REFBRHERLAT LT - REEFT of the Group’s interest in Meiloon as at 31 March 2025 amounted to
HEBEZNR2025F38 318 2mH HK$184,856,000 (2024: HK$161,147,000).

{8 {5 B 184,856,000 & Tt ( 2024 F
161,147,000/ 7T) °

(i) B ™ {E 36,364,000 & jt ( 2024 & : (i) The shares of Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company (“Habaco”) with
38,542,000 5t) #IHanoi Battery Joint carrying value of HK$ 36,364,000 (2024: HK$38,542,000). Habaco was
Stock Company ([ Habaco ]) & 5 ° incorporated in VVietnam and its shares are listed on the Hanoi Stock
HabacoR iR sEM AR L » H DA R Exchange. The market value of the Group’s interest in Habaco as at 31
X FF LT o KEBFTiGHabacoE &= A March 2025 amounted to HK$78,051,000 (2024: HK$63,692,000).
2025% 34 310 2 h K EE A 78,051,000
Bt (2024%F : 63,692,000/ 7T) °

FEW & A R RIE MR B S 2 ERA Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from associates are

34 set out in note 34.
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17.

18.

Mo EAHMEEKRESZRATA 17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
CONMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETRAES 2 AFE () Unlisted equity securities, at fair value
72,060 347,043

M5t - —3843,240,00058 7T (20244 : 44,103,000
BT WIRE - AE—BERTERLZDR49%
(20245 : 49%) IR » ZRRRBHER D #H
E o AEBAUMBEZLNRMNAEEE £
DNRANWESSBTTERTE - BEAR - K&
BETHEZARDTEEASE D - At - ZRE
DERBOATVEFABEZRATA -

20245 3R 31H - 18R¥& 267,825,000/ T
BIEZERA (—BEREBEMRLEBREE
BREY D E)) 39.13% R AL o NGB HS 2%
DNENBEEE  TEREZARANESERL
RE - BERD  ARETEHEZDBTEEKR
FEN At ZREN2024F3A 1AL ER
LR EZEIIRNESTA -

R20268 BFE - AEEEREMEE K E
ARREHRRIRE N A FEE 1R 267,825,000
BT - MM 20255 34 318 MR AR E R IR
HEZAZ - REAMNAINMGEFE  SEQATE
FTEEE . HERN  TERARBRIZEHA
BERQAENBERENIE4.

Note: An investment of HK$43,240,000 (2024: HK$44,103,000) representing
49% (2024: 49%) equity interest in a company established in the PRC,
which is engaged in selling and distribution business. The Group does not
participate in the daily operations and has no voting power in the directors’
meetings of the company. In the opinion of the directors, the Group cannot
exercise significant influence over the company and accordingly, such
investment is classified as equity instrument at FVTOCI.

As at 31 March 2024, an investment of HK$267,825,000 representing
39.13% equity interest in XIC, an entity incorporated in Hong Kong which
is engaged in investment holding. The Group does not participate in
the daily operations and has no voting power in the directors’ meetings
of the company. In the opinion of the directors, the Group cannot
exercise significant influence over the company and accordingly, such
investment is classified as equity instrument at F\VTOCI as at 31 March
2024.

During FY2025, the Group has recognised a fair value loss of
HK$267,825,000 for the investment in XIC in other comprehensive
income and the carrying amount of investment in XIC became nil as
at 31 March 2025. Details of the valuation of XIC, including the basis
of fair value measurement, valuation technique, key inputs and the
relationships of the key inputs to fair value were presented in note 34.

BHEE 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
EmAEXH
Product BERT EFERE
[5]:3 7|  development Technical ~ Customer Bt
Trademarks Patent  expenditure know-how  relationship Total
T T T T TEx TEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BA COST
M2023F4A 18 R At 1 April 2023 and
20245 3R 31A 31 March 2024 85,205 2,500 129,461 103,616 10,026 330,808
—EESEM Addition for the year - - 6,745 - - 6,745
#2025% 36 31H At 31 March 2025 85,205 2,500 136,206 103,616 10,026 337,553
ZHERAE ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
W2023F 45 1A At 1 April 2023 84,189 1,106 129,461 103,616 10,026 328,398
REEERE Provided for the year 80 1,248 - - - 1,328
#2024% 35 31H At 31 March 2024 84,269 2,354 129,461 103,616 10,026 329,726
REEERE Provided for the year 77 146 - - - 223
720255 36 310 At 31 March 2025 84,346 2,500 129,461 103,616 10,026 329,949
REE CARRYING VALUES
20255 34 31H At 31 March 2025 859 - 6,745 - - 7,604
20245 3R 31H At 31 March 2024 936 146 - - - 1,082

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

10. B & 19. GOODWILL
Fx
HK$’000
7202445 | 20255 3A 31H At 31 March 2024 and 2025 70,399

BEAME MBS 2 BERNRE MEE 200

20. BE 2R AR

R 19F BB s B EREETARRE
EEBMERERNS  FE0T

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in
note 20.

20. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill set out in note 19 has
been allocated to each individual or group of CGUs as follows:

2025 2024

R FEx

HK$’000 HK$’000

GPI % GP Industries 33,775 33,775
iR (B SHMERAT Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co. Ltd. 33,319 33,319
Hi Others 3,305 3,305
&5t Total 70,399 70,399

RAFE  AEERBRASREFI/BEE
TRENR REREFEIRBARRIELEF
(2024%F : 1256%) WHFPBHEERRZR
FIRZEA%(2024F : 4%E8%) » LRTA
FREL11.5%F12.0%(20245F : 11.5%=
15.6%) 7T& -

ERFERESEFBUNTWESHEUEREE
A EAEENECIERZARFEZIR
R CRRENEXFEEBREIHNERES - &F
EEEARRTSERMTGzEBBEEERZ
BRHRAIFRENREES BV 2 BE AR ER
BR - BRRPTETVIRREAN - EXBERE
BEXHNESEUEERRBRT SRR 22
FER - Hitit EEMEEN T EZERRBEERR
TEABNZBAXEREEBHTSRRERY
EHZHERENREREBEZRERARRE
BE - EEERBEMNELRRZFTEASET
RN TEEREELENUNREEEBER
W EEE - FIWEERE -
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During the year, the Group performed impairment review for goodwill,
based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets of each of the CGUs for the next 1 to 5years (2024: 1 to 5 years)
with reference to annual growth rate of 4% (2024: 4% to 8%) by using
the pre-tax discount rate ranging from 11.5% to 12.0% (2024: 11.5% to
15.6%).

The recoverable amount of each of the CGUs or groups of CGUs has
been determined on the basis of value in use calculation. The key
factors for the value in use calculation are discount rates, growth rates
and expected changes to revenue and direct costs during the year.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rate is based on average industry
growth forecasts. Changes in revenue and direct cost are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations included
budgeted sales and gross margins and their related cash inflow and
outflow patterns, estimated based on the CGUs’ historical performance
and management’s expectation of the market development.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to exceed
the recoverable amount of the CGUs thus no impairment would be
recognised.
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21. 78

21. INVENTORIES

2025 2024
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
R Raw materials 295,831 321,396
E8m Work in progress 277,597 275,846
Kk m Finished goods 667,533 508,138
1,240,961 1,105,380
22 EWNER R EMEWERER FAMRIE 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
2025 2024
FET FHExT
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFENZERERREREE Trade and bills receivables from contracts
with customers 1,064,604 1,058,786
W EEEARE Less: Allowance for credit losses (40,313) (35,426)
1,024,291 1,023,360
HafEWER™E « RS RFAMNFE () Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments (note) 254,991 298,784
1,279,282 1,322,144
W ERBEES Less: Non-current portion of deposits
HBEWE BERREMZTzES Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment (13,798) (18,807)
FREBEEERS Non-current rental deposits (11,298) (11,521)
(25,096) (30,328)
1,254,186 1,291,816

sk - 20255 3R 31H - LRI BAFEANERK
ARER W% BERREASHURTERE

BER -

at 31 March 2025.

FEBHRTHESEFPEES  —RE=TXZE
—HZTXRTE - ERERRERRE HKRE
EEERE) REZINNREDEER ZRE

Note: The amount mainly includes advance to suppliers, prepaid expenses,
advance payment for property, plant and equipment and VAT recoverable as

The Group allows its trade customers with credit periods normally
ranging from 30 days to 120 days. The following is an ageing of trade

and bills receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based

DT ¢ on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:
2025 2024
FExT FExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
0-60Xk 0-60 days 916,137 929,657
61-90K 61-90 days 25,937 38,026
HBBIOX Over 90 days 82,217 55,677
1,024,291 1,023,360

M2023F4A 10 - BRFENELE ZBKER

#946,273,000/ 7T ©

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$946,273,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

22, FERER R AR AR FA RE @ 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (continuec)

RERFTEFA - AEESMEBEETEF 2ERE
HAFERATHBEEFEHE - EEEREE
BEEREERRAMREIRZEERK

20255 3A31R - AEBEWERENREHT
BIERMEZE 5 239,794,000/ T (20245
160,462,00058 7t) M3} & B 28 H Rk ER
;o EEESERT - §49,577,000% T (2024
F : 44,459,000/ ) B BHIOXRK E R K
B REELEFHRIFERCHEMNUBES
TERARREN -

P& W 8 R e EL A FE WU TR B RUE RT AL = TR B MY
340

23 U AFEFABSZRATIA

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will internally assess the
credit quality of the potential customer and define appropriate credit
limits. The management also closely monitors the credit policy of trade
and other receivables.

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade receivables balances
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$239,794,000 (2024:
HK$160,462,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of
the past due balances, HK$49,577,000 (2024: HK$44,459,000) has
been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default based
on good repayment records and the financial background for those
customers.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 34.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024

FiEx FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

AEE LR 2 RAES Equity securities listed in United States 195 1,267
RABENEERBETR (R Structured deposits in PRC (note) 15,017 -
15,212 1,267

MiE  AEERENTENRITHREEHER (48
MER]) o R ERNF SRR LS RiE 8
# ZMALNEEAR - EEEALEBREME
EERBER

24. RITHETF - ERRRE

FEBREZRITET  FREESEERS
R=EARUAT EH 2 EHRITERAFER=R
0.01%Z%E 5.23% (20244 : 0.01%%5.6%) W
RIS o

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Note: The Group invested in principal protected financial products with banks
in the PRC (“Structured deposits”). The Structured deposits interest is
linked to some financial index and the maturity date is less than 6 months.
The management has not identified any potential significant financial risk
exposure.

24. BANK BALANCES, DEPOSITS ANID CASH

Bank balances, deposits and cash held by the Group comprising cash
and short-term bank deposits with original maturity of three months or
less which carry interests ranging from 0.01% to 5.23% (2024: 0.01% to
5.6%) per annum.
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26 EIRERERARAHER 25.CREDITORS AND ACCRUED CHARGES AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES
BAREERZEAPNREHEE R ZRR DT The following is the ageing of creditors presented based on the invoice
mE date at the end of the reporting period:
2025 2024
Tz FiET
HK$°000 HK$'000
ERER Trade creditors
0-60X 0-60days 950,298 995,083
61-90X 61-90 days 130,862 45,240
HBBIOK Over 90 days 70,136 22,317
1,151,296 1,062,640
HibENIRERER (D) Other payables and accrued charges (note) 444,268 434,396
1,595,564 1,497,036
et T EEEEMKEMIREAMENRE - Note: The amount mainly includes accrual for operating expenses and other tax
pavyables.
ESERNEYEESHAGORE 120K The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 days to 120 days.
R2023F 48 10 » 88 & EH 88,150,000 As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities amounted to HK$88,150,000.
T o
AHEBIELERZEIIE o ARSI Contract liabilities are mainly advance payment received from
BEl - A A BRI 255 86,662,000/ customers. The amount of revenue recognised in the current reporting
7T (20244 : 88,150,000& 7T) ° period which relates to brought-forward contract liabilities is

HK$86,662,000 (2024: HK$88,150,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

26.fHEAE 26. LEASE LIABILITIES
2025 2024
T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ENHEAE Lease liabilities payable:
—FRE2IE Within one year 76,817 75,982
BB —FEREmFE Within a period of more than one year but not
more than two years 51,046 71,880
BEMEERERSE Within a period of more than two years but not
more than five years 54,460 72,665
BBEF Within a period of more than five years 85,854 96,971
268,177 317,498
B 12 A REBIESIARBIAE Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months shown under current liabilities (76,817) (75,982
1218 B & ZIERSIASERENEE Amount due for settlement after 12 months
shown under non-current liabilities 191,360 241,516
AEBFTYHNEMBEERZESRELEHRE - No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
HEEEARRANESERAEE3.45%Z entered by the Group. The incremental borrowing rates applied by the
12.00%(2024%F : 2.44%Z 12.00%) ° relevant group entities range from 3.45% to 12.00% (2024: 2.44% to
12.00%).
MHESEEARNEEEBEHEE K EEEE Lease liabilities that are denominated in currencies which are same as
M e the functional currencies of the relevant group entities.
27. SRITER - BEEERHMER 27. BANK LOANS, IMIPORT AND OTHER LOANS
2025 2024
T8 FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’000
IR ERRITERREEEE Unsecured short-term bank loans and import
(B ) loans (note) 1,503,249 1,555,333
EIRFRIT R M E K 2 EE D Current portion of unsecured bank and other
(Ff¥5E28) loans (note 28) 612,218 470,842
BIRFAEERZ EHID Current portion of secured motor vehicle loan
(Mi5E28) (note 28) 164 156
2,115,631 2,026,331
Mz  AREECEIKFERRTERREECSELULH Note: The unsecured short-term bank loans and import loans of the Group are
FMEWEAE - R > SMIKWSHBTERR arranged at floating rates. The effective interest rates of unsecured short-
BECEEZARERNEEER2.90%Z8.45% term bank loans and import loans during the year ranged from 2.90% to
(20244 : 3.10% % 8.45%) © 8.45% (2024: 3.10% to 8.45%) per annum.
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28. RITREMERK

28. BANK AND OTHER LOANS

2025 2024
FBxT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EIRPRITREMEREN TIIFHR The unsecured bank and other loans are
g repayable™:
—FR \Within one year 612,218 470,842
BiE—FEREAWE Within a period of more than one year but not
exceeding two years 938,978 678,651
BEMFERERF Within a period of more than two years but not
exceeding five years 250,953 790,679
BIRFTEERENTHFHREER" The secured motor vehicle loan is repayable™:
—FR Within one year 164 156
BiE—FEREAWE Within a period of more than one year but not
exceeding two years 539 164
BEMFERERF Within a period of more than two years but not
exceeding five years 114 539
BB 5E Within a period of more than five years - 114
1,802,966 1,941,145
W —FEREHIATBHERE (iF27) Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities (note 27) (612,218) (470,842)
BB EERERID (FE27) Current portion of secured motor
vehicle loan (note 27) (164) (156)
1,190,584 1,470,147

¥ ENSEERERGETRENEEER

FEETRAEMERENBRRZ KK
16,353,000 7t (20244 : 16,295,000 &
) e ARBEZRITRAMERNERFANRZ
FE EREHF 2 FRIBE) H2.80%E7.26%

(20244 : 4.61%%8.18%) °

REBREE 20259 34 31H % 20244% 34 31

Azt BB T A SRR o

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

SR *

agreements.

7.26% (2024: 4.61% to 8.18%) per annum.

ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

Bank and other loans are net of transaction cost of HK$16,353,000
(2024: HK$16,295,000) arranged at floating rates. The range of
effective interest rates of bank loans (which are also equal to contracted
interest rates) on the Group’s bank and other loans are from 2.80% to

The Group complied with all financial covenants for the test periods
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

29. BERE 29. DEFERRED TAXATION

BESBBRREREIME  ETEERHEEE
MEFEC YIRS o AT R B E PIELEBIRER

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been

EERY D AT - offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purpose:

2025 2024
FBT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEBIEERE Deferred tax assets 20,996 28,567
EEREEE Deferred tax liabilities (82,366) (40,116)
(61,370) (11,549

Movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the
Group are as follows:

RAWER
BREERE o il
ZITERE  Withholding
REME  Accelerated taxon
Investment tax undistributed TIEER Hit At
properties  depreciation profits Tax losses Others Total
TER TER TER TER ThR ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REREEE Deferred tax assets
12023E4F 17 At 1 April 2023 - 10,672 - 10,055 13,730 34,457
BRETERE 128 283 Amendment to HKAS 12 - 42,527 - - - 42,527
W2023F47 17 (EFHES) At 1 April 2023 (Restated) - 53,199 - 10,055 13,730 76,984
EHRE Currency realignment - (201) - (82 (87) (370)
FBEPETA HER) Credit (charge) credit to profit or loss - 2,406 - (525) (3,301) (1,420)
1202453731 At 31 March 2024 - 55,404 - 9,448 10,342 75,194
EHRE Currency realignment - 69 - @ - 65
RERES (18) FfA (Charge) credit to profit or loss - (7,304) - 780 (4,666) (11,190)
R2025% 30 31H At 31 March 2025 - 43,169 - 10,224 5,676 64,069
RERESE Deferred tax liabilities
R2023E4F 17 At 1 April 2023 - 7,886 26,644 - 3,917 38,447
BEETEAE 128 25T Amendment to HKAS 12 - 42,527 - - - 42,527
W2023F47 18 (EFHES) At 1 April 2023 (Restated) - 50,413 26,644 - 3,917 80,974
HHEE Currency realignment - (480) - - 1 (481)
REZEHIR GrA) Charge (credit) to profit or loss - 7,032 2,375 - (3,157) 6,250
12024530 31 At 31 March 2024 - 56,965 29,019 - 759 86,743
HHER Currency realignment (259) 564 (86) - - 219
WERET GEA) Mk (Credit) charge to profit or loss (81) (3,031) 13,204 - (388) 9,794
REmZAYRER Charge to other comprehensive income 28,683 - - - - 28,683
120255 38 31H At 31 March 2025 28,343 54,498 42,227 - n 125,439
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29, JEIERIE @

M2025%3A31H - A&EEFE2,499,631,000
7T (2024 % : 2,403,673,0008 1) ZKfE
RABIEEE R FHEEARR BT o BZIBELE
BRIELHIHE E 61,968,000 7T (2024 :
57,262,000870) ° FRAARRAVEREETER - I
SERTREEEREE2,437,663,000/8 7T (20244 :
2,346,411,000/87T) fEHIEERTE SRR ©

REPEARANBEEMRERE - AEBEH
2008 1A 1HBHERTEZHB AR 2Bk
IR S HIHERE AT 0 BOS T TRINBL o AEBIR
EREEB2008F 18 1B BAEERPE2E T
BB PSEFIA R 2 EH =R EHIEERE
B AASEREtERERRm o RERE
HEE TR TR ARREE - R2025% 34 31
B AEERREEzBHENTRETRIEZ
B/ 2 Bz R 0 B A 2 B A 20% K 5% EY i 2R
YEIEIER B BB 838 R 42,227,000/ T (2024
1 29,019,000 7T) °

30. g

29. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$2,499,631,000 (2024: HK$2,403,673,000) available for offsetting
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$61,968,000 (2024: HK$57,262,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$2,437,663,000 (2024: HK$2,346,411,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, a withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary difference attributable to profits earned by the Group’s
certain PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 as the Group is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 March 2025, the amount of HK$42,227,000
(2024: HK$29,019,000) represented the deferred taxation on
undistributed profits arising from a Taiwan associate being recognised
at a taxation of 20% and undistributed profits arising from certain PRC
subsidiaries being recognised at a taxation of 5%, respectively.

30. SHARE CAPITAL
RirEE
Number of
shares
T FHxT
'000 HK$’000
ERITRHBZEER Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
A2023F 48 18 ~ 202438318 & At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and
2025% 3A 31H 31 March 2025 915,475 998,666
=l RS Buy-back of shares (7,965) -
A2025% 38 31H At 31 March 2025 907,510 998,666

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH
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30. IBA )

31.
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20258 B F E - AN D ERIERR N 202459
B2HBETNARARRAFAELETFESN
CEERE  EEBBMEXSMERLRAERBALR
BJ3517,965,000R @R 4 - BERGEEL
MIEH 54,796,000 T (BEXSHEAL) @ B
EREBERTHIER - HERAIR 10 2N 20265 58
1BE AR A - RENFAERNT

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

During FY2025, the Company repurchased on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited a total of 7,965,000 ordinary shares of the Company
pursuant to the repurchase mandate granted to the Directors by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 2 September 2024. The consideration paid on the
repurchase of the shares of approximately HK$4,796,000 (inclusive
of transaction costs) was charged to retained profits. The repurchased
shares were cancelled by the Company on 13 May 2025. Details of the
repurchases are as follows:

ZAT4EEE
(BERZHEAR)
EEEEROHE Aggregate
Number BRER consideration
of ordinary Price per share paid (inclusive
Rz shares 515) &€ of transaction
Month repurchased Highest Lowest costs)
BT BT FiEx
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
2025% 38
March 2025 7,965,000 0.62 0.58 4,796
RIRAGRER B2 1705 31. SIMPLE AGREEMENTS FOR FUTURE EQUITY

2023F 1R » XAFMNEEMEB AR - KEF GP
Group Limited ([KGG |) 82— L& H RT3 K
R RS EE 1R 5 E 49 13,700,000% T FHE R
#107,544,000% 7t) - MR BITKGCGREESE
Ee RRBEBERGZSBE SR 1,000%
TTHEREREBRAEKGGE LR - KARIRERS
BRESETIERTLL : ()BITKGGRZE

IR ERE 2 IREEHBETR  KRRE[E
W A EEIER - R BRNELIHA - AR
RREGERETFEEASRAEEINRER
HttEMEE - EHEPHEIEHERIRES
REBEEHBMNERPIHFZRERN—HD -

In January 2023, KEF GP Group Limited (“KGG”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued simple agreements for future equity
(“SAFE”) for an aggregate amount of US$13,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$107,544,000). The SAFE will automatically convert
into preferred shares of KGG at a conversion price of US$1,000 per
share if there is issuance of shares of KGG for raising capital. The SAFE
will terminate following (i) the issuance of shares of KGG for raising
capital; or (i) repayment to SAFE investors pursuant to change of control
of KGG or dissolution of KGG. The SAFE is not mandatorily redeemable
and has no interest rate or maturity date. As SAFE do not contain any
contractual obligation to pay cash or other financial assets, they are
classified as equity and regarded as part of non-controlling interests in
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.
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32. PERPETUAL BONDS

On 30 September 2024, GP Industries, a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into subscription agreements with certain investors for the issue
of fixed rate resetting perpetual subordinated bonds up to an aggregate
principal amount of US$11 million (equivalent to HK$85,423,000)
(the “perpetual bonds”). Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issuance of perpetual bonds incurred amounting to HK$464,000 were
recognised in equity, deducted against the principal amount.

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the subscription
agreements, inter alia, (i) the distribution rate on the perpetual bonds is
at 9.5% per annum and 8.5% per annum for the first and second year
respectively and will reset annually thereafter; (ii) the distribution will
be payable semi-annually in arrear, unless deferred at the discretion of
the Company and will be cumulative; and (iii) the perpetual bonds have
no fixed redemption date and are redeemable in whole at GP Industries’
option on the third anniversary of the issue date of the perpetual bonds
or any anniversary of the issue date thereafter, at their principal amount,
together with any accrued, unpaid or deferred distributions.

As a result, the Company is considered to have no contractual
obligations to repay its principal or to pay any distributions and the
perpetual bonds do not meet the definition for classification as a
financial liability. The whole instrument is presented within equity, and
distributions are treated as dividends.

The investors of the perpetual bonds include certain directors and a
member of senior management of the Company and an associate of
the Company, in addition to third party investors. The directors and
the member of senior management of the Company have subscribed
for an aggregate principal amount of US$4.0 million (equivalent to
HK$31,062,000). A wholly owned subsidiary of Meiloon has subscribed
for the principal amount of US$1.0 million (equivalent to HK$7,766,000).

There is no distributions to perpetual bonds holders during FY2025.
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33 EAREMEE 33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AAFEEEAA - SRR EEERE TS
FEEGEEE  WEBR LB RBRALY
BEA A SRS ADE - AR BRFRNE
FRBRTE o

FEBzEXERBOTFEE @EDBINMWE
7% 28I B RITEN - BEFERHME
RRBITRAMGEFRREREERE) RERQ
AEEARGESZ BEFREESEHRPITR
B2BBIRAE - REEFREMRHE)

AAREBSERRTERERE - ERERN—
1 EBZREARARBZEEFETRZA
B ARNFESFRHAKEREBI TR - #
THR BORORBTHEBSIBELDREE
B LT EIEEBEAREE

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
bank loans, import and other loans and bank and other loans disclosed
in notes 27 and 28 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, retained profits and other reserves as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

34. £@TE 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SRTEER Categories of financial instruments
2025 2024
FEx Fi&xT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RBERATTECSREE Financial assets at amortised costs
—ERE R R E A EREIRE - Trade and other receivables 1,083,567 1,064,044
—FEWRE - Dividend receivable 23,960 15,059
—RITHETF ERERS - Bank balances, deposits and cash 1,202,263 1,247,460
—BE QAT - Amounts due from associates 8,788 8,788
DA EFAHMEERRENEATA Equity instruments at FVTOCI 72,060 347,043
DAFESABRNEREE Financial assets at F\VTPL 15,212 1,267
2,405,850 2,683,661
USSR AT BR e RmAE Financial liabilities at amortised costs
— FE(JERTE - Creditors 1,304,684 1,222,784
—RITER BEEEREMER - Bank loans, import and other loans 2,115,631 2,026,331
—RITREMER - Bank and other loans 1,190,584 1,470,147
4,610,899 4,719,262
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
liabilities, representing trade and other receivables, dividend receivable,
bank balances, deposits and cash, creditors and other payables, bank
loans, import and other loans and bank and other loans denominated in
currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional currencies
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

BE afE

Assets Liabilities
2025 2024 2025 2024
T#ExT FHET Ti&n FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
X usD 1,063,988 907,705 618,607 757,466
AR RMB 372,235 337,515 600,857 384,705
Fohn3g 7o SGD 3,139 1,923 7,701 7,663
&t Euro 98,342 45,024 56,713 38,617
1,537,704 1,292,167 1,283,878 1,188,451

EENERREIEEBAREREE 2EERE
& EEESKEERAEMNAR  IRME
RZBEITERIMERR

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

Exposures to foreign currency risks are managed as far as possible
by matching assets and liabilities in the same currency denomination.
The management regularly monitors foreign exchange exposure and
considers hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.
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34.£RTIH @ 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2024: 5%)
increase and decrease in the functional currency of the respective
group entities against the relevant foreign currencies. The analysis
excludes the fluctuation between United States dollars and Hong
Kong dollars because Hong Kong dollars are pegged to United States
dollars. The rate mentioned above is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% (2024: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% (2024: 5%)
strengthening of the functional currency of the respective group entities
against the relevant foreign currency and a negative number below
indicates a decrease in profit before taxation and vice versa. For a 5%
(2024: 5%) weakening of the functional currency of the respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal
and opposite effect on the results.

2025 2024
FEx Fi&xT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR RNMIB 11,431 2,360
FhN3E T SGD 228 287
BT Euro (2,081) (320)
ik Interest rate risk

AEEEHARERHEEBER RN EATE
[\ o

AEEEHRBITHEFIFBNRTENER
B RITEFER (FE24) - FRRTER - B
FEREMMER (E27) RETREMER (f
F28) FRMRERERXREM -
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The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to lease
liabilities at fixed interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its
bank balances and deposits at prevailing market deposit rates (note 24),
variable-rate bank loans, import and other loans (note 27), and bank and
other loans (note 28).
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuec)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or Prime Rate arising
from the Group’s bank borrowings. The management considers the
Group’s exposure of the short-term bank balances to interest rate risk
is not significant as interest bearing bank balances are within short
maturity period.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for bank loans, import and other loans, and
bank and other loans. The analysis is prepared assuming financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2024: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

If the interest rate on bank loans, import and other loans and bank
and other loans had been 50 basis points (2024: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit before taxation would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$ 16,613,000 (2024: decrease/increase by HK$17,564,000).

Other price risk

The Group is mainly exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in listed equity securities and unlisted equity securities. The Group
has a team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

If the price of the listed equity investments and structured deposits at

FVTPL had been 5% (2024: 5%) higher/lower, the Group’s profit before
taxation would increase/decrease by HK$ 761,000 (2024: HK$63,000).
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
arising from the amount of financial guarantees provided by the Group
is disclosed in note 38. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets and financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the Company have
delegated the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit rating system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and rating attributed to customers are reviewed twice
a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually
or based on a collective basis.

The Group does not have any significant concentration of credit risk
over trade receivables. Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers and spread across diverse industries.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies
internal credit rating for its customers. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed based on a collective basis within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying
amount of trade debt of HK$28,073,000 (2024: HK$29,469,000) and
the trade receivables due from the Associate of HK$63,930,000 (2024:
HK$83,295,000) as at 31 March 2025 were assessed individually. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision
for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer base.
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34.2RITH @® 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

SREREEBEERBR @ Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
= E R R ES @ Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
HEFEHNELIIENER @ Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer (continued)
HZE20253A31ALFE : For the year ended 31 March 2025:
FEUR
BRaE EBRREE FEEA BRER
Gross trade Range of FEBX Trade
A EME B TR Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
FiEx FiEx FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEERRE" Very low risk* 468,242 0.01%-0.29% 705 467,537
BRIk Low risk 248,219 0.30%-1.00% 1,651 246,568
— AR s Average risk 195,345 1.01%-3.50% 3,980 191,365
PE R Moderate risk 31,475 3.51%-50.00% 5,467 26,008
943,281 11,803 931,478
* TMEEE29,320,0008 T 2 FEREE o *  Excluded bills receivables amounting to HK$29,320,000.
HZE2024F3A31HLFE : For the year ended 31 March 2024:
PR
j=E7¢ 0 EiaXREE FEHR FERER
Gross trade Range of FEEX Trade
AIBEETR Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEERER” \ery low risk* 641,543 0.01%-0.29% 1,067 640,476
R B Low risk 151,821 0.30%-1.00% 995 150,826
— R B Average risk 137,873  1.01%-3.50% 2,108 135,765
RE RS Moderate risk 2,966 3.51%-50.00% 146 2,820
934,203 4,316 929,887
* FEHE11,820,0008 T 2 FEWEE © *  Excluded bills receivables amounting to HK$11,820,000.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer (continued)
Quality classification definitions:

“Very low risk”:  The counterparty has a very low risk of default due to
strong financial background and a prompt payment
pattern.

“Lowv risk™: The counterparty has a low risk of default with strong
financial background but occasionally repays after
due dates.

“Average risk”:  Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually
settle in full.

“Moderate risk”> There have been significant increases in credit
risk since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources.

“High risk”: There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

ZHAFEHR
ZHAFEHR EEEX
EE#EX (HBREE
(BISERE) RAE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit- 5t
impaired) impaired) Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
A2023F4A 1A As at 1 April 2023 19,465 20,835 40,300
BEHRE Currency realignment (560) (750) (1,310)
BERERSE Net (reversal of impairment loss)/
ERRBEEETFE impairment loss recognised (10,925) 10,184 (741)
T 88 R BEE LR IE Amounts written off as
uncollectible - (2,823) (2,823)
R2024%3831A K As at 31 March 2024 and
2024% 4R 1H as at 1 April 2024 7,980 27,446 35,426
BHRE Currency realignment 2 541 543
ERRREREFE Net impairment loss/(reversal of
B EREEIE) impairment loss) recognised 6,236 (1,892 4,344
A2025% 38 31H As at 31 March 2025 14,218 26,095 40,313

HEENBENEBABYRENBRE - BER
LB EIFIRNATR WERARBRREN
RERRR) - NEBESHIEERER

R2024 B EE - ERHEEREZEBRER
#3585 2,823,000/8 T (20255 : ) -

FEWZHE L A&

N202653A 31H - EEEC 85I E K
2B & N R 63,930,000 7T (20244
83,295,000 ) < HHEEEKX - EXHE
RE - HREANLEEARZREHBERN
FE - BRZBELDERNEERMREZE
e AtERESERZBERRNERDER
PERR - EEECEEGEMESEEETEE
MBS ERRAIEEAE - BB EFERZ
BENRERNRBEERARE - RIEFMGE
R R20268HEE - 2 BB EKZEE O
AERKAMERTERORBEERABE
1,248,000/ TRk W EHIRTAMEE B R EE
(2024% : BERHEEEKEE 1,406,000/
7t % 114,000% 7T) °

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

The Group write off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

During FY2024, credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying amount of
trade debt of HK$2,823,000 (2025: nil) was written off.

Trade receivables due from the Associate

As at 31 March 2025, the management had assessed the ECL of the
trade receivables due from the Associate of HK$63,930,000 (2024:
HK$83,295,000) individually. Management had considered that due to
the current geopolitical situation and sanctions on Russia there was a
significant increase in credit risk in the trade receivables due from the
Associate and accordingly management has classified the receivables
as “Moderate Risk”. Management had appointed the Valuer to assist
in the estimation of the ECL provision of the trade receivables from
the Associate by determining an appropriate expected loss rate and,
forward looking adjustments. Based on the result of the assessment,
reversal of ECL provision of HK$ 1,248,000 and no ECL provision (2024
reversal of ECL provision of HK$1,406,000 and HK$114,000) were
made on the trade receivables and other receivables due from the
Associate respectively for FY2025.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables amounting to
HK$29,320,000 (2024: HK$11,820,000), the management has
considered the bills received by the Group are with a maturity period
of less than one year and have been individually assessed based on
external rating of relevant banks, and concluded that for FY2025 and
FY 2024, the credit inherent in the Group’s outstanding bills receivables is
insignificant.

Loan to non-controlling interests

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the management has individually
assessed the ECL of the loan to non-controlling interests of
HK$43,799,000 (2024: HK$43,807,000). Management considered
that due to the past due events of the loan to non-controlling interests,
there is significant increase in credit risk in the loan to non-controlling
interests. The management estimates the estimated loss rates of
loan receivables based on historical credit loss experience of the
debtors as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged by non-
controlling interests to the loan receivables. Based on assessment
by the management, a full ECL provision of HK$43,799,000 (2024:
HK$43,807,000) was made on the loan to non-controlling interests.

Other receivables, rental deposits and dividend receivable

In determining the ECL for other receivables, rental deposits and
dividend receivable with gross carrying amount of HK$ 107,045,000
(2024: HK$79,974,000), the management has made periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of these balances, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also forward-
looking information, as appropriate. The management has considered
the consistently low historical default rate in connection with relevant
counterparties, and concluded the credit risk inherent in these balances
is insignificant.

Amounts due from associates

As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, for purpose of impairment assessment,
the amounts due from associates are considered to have low credit
risk as there has been no significant increase in the risk of default on
the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of
impairment assessment for the asset, the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12m ECL.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Amounts due from associates (continued)

In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the
financial position of the associates, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the associates and general economic conditions of the industry in
which the associates operate, in estimating the probability of default
as well as the loss upon default. Management determines the amounts
due from associates is subject to immaterial credit loss and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.

Bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances exposed is
considered minimal as such amounts are placed with various banks with
good credit ratings and there is no significant concentration of credit
risk.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents
the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under the respective
contracts.

The Group is also exposed to the credit risk in respect of guarantees
given to banks relating to banking facilities utilised by associates. The
management periodically reviews financial position of the associates
and considers that the associates have strong financial position and the
Group has adequate monitoring procedures to reduce the credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group finances its operations by using a combination of bank
and other loans and equity. Adequate lines of credit are maintained to
ensure necessary liquidity is available when required. The management
monitors the liquidity position of the Group on a periodical basis to
ensure the availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations.
With reference to the existing unutilised facilities of approximately
HK$2,390 million as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$2,488 million) and
newly obtained facilities up to the date when the consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue and after taking into account of any
possible disposal of investments and re-financing arrangements, the
directors of the Company consider the source of liquidity and capital for
the daily operation are sufficient.
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34. ¢RI HE @ 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
SREAMREEBEREEE @
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T o REGFTIHRE > DIRBEAEBERE THEH
EREZEZLHBBZERTZATERESRE
FrstE - KREBEFERAEZRER - MFIE
BEeRFERZFEFE  FINERSRZEEAN
WA RGNRIRGTE o

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are at
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

REES
#ER
ZREE
s FirE Carrying
IEFI57I% —FR 35 ReNEE  amountat
Weighted ~ Ondemand TER RENE Total the end of
average or within Within More than undiscounted the reporting
interest rate 1year 2-5years Syears  cash flows period
Thn TERL Thn Thx ThR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
20255 3f 310 As at 31 March 2025
FE{ERIE Creditors N/A 1,304,684 - - 1,304,684 1,304,684
RITEF  BEEEREMBER  Bankloans,import and other loans
(FER%) (variable rates) 5.21 2,252,662 - - 2,252,662 2,115,631
RTREMER (FBFIE) Bank and other loans (variable rates) 5.18 - 1,287,137 - 1,287,137 1,190,584
HEEE Lease liabilities 5.50 89,282 125,203 100,186 314,671 268,177
3,646,628 1,412,340 100,186 5,159,154 4,879,076
142024437 31H As at 31 March 2024
FETERIE Creditors N/A 1,222,784 - - 1,222,784 1,222,784
RITED  BEEERHEMET  Bankloans,import and other loans
(FEIFI%) (variable rates) 5.97 2,176,140 - - 2,176,140 2,026,331
ROREMED (FBF%) Bank and other loans (variable rates) 5.85 43680 1,579,544 - 162324 1,470,147
HEEE Lease liabilities 5.49 91,019 173,394 111,027 375,440 317,498
3,633,623 1,752,938 111,027 5,397,588 5,036,760
LN SR B I =AY L B R B R T TE Y A R Ah 5T The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments are
BERE Ll FERNET AN SIS RESE subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ from those
1 e estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair
values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation

technique(s) and inputs used).

BEENTUEER FTREBAYER
SRIEE/ DYEHE/HERTR BABE DTEZER
SRAE DTEER TEWAMEZER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ ATHE Fairvalue  Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s)  input(s) to fair value
2025 2024
TEn iR
HK$'000  HK$'000
1 PEAUATENABGZ 195 1,267 %% BRARFNATEDRIEANESRGME  TER TER
BRATENLTRAES BERBERLT
Listed equity securities classified 195 1,267 Level1 The fair value of the equity securities N/A N/A
as equity instruments at FV/TPL is estimated by the price quotation
available on the New York Stock
Exchange in United States.
2. RERE-GBUEN 15,017 - BoH BRATENATERERRERZZTHEE TEA TER
-
Short-term investments - 15,017 - Llevel2 The fair value of the equity instrumentis ~ N/A N/A
Structured deposits approximate to their carrying amounts.
3 NATEHAHEMZEREZ 11,669 1,736 #=f BRATENATEERERSZ TER TER
BAIA mSEERE
Equity instrument at FVTOCI 11,669 11,735 Level 2 The fair value of the equity instrument N/A N/A
is estimated by market value of the
investment transactions.
4 DATEFAEMZEKE 2R 3,890 - BIH BRATENATERERRERZZTHEE TBEA TER
I8 i
Equity instrument at FVTOCI 3,890 - Level2 The fair value of the equity instrumentis ~ N/A N/A

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

estimated by market value of the recent
investment transactions.

241



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

34.£RTIH @ 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

SMIARXTFEFE @ Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
FEE N TFEFEZTEBZEHMEEREME Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
B2 2 FE @ are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)
EENTTHRR FUBRMARES
SREE/ DTEE/HERTR AR DTEZRE
SHEE DTEER IEBAREBZER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ ATE Fairvalue Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s)  input(s) to fair value
2025 2024
Ti#gn TERL
HK$'000  HK$'000
5 UATEFAEMZEKEZ 43,240 44103 H=§ BEH SYHRER - BYHRNTSERE
RAIE & AVEEES -
BEARMATEEREEARARREANT InEEETHES
EEERT BELAMEEFELIERE § UZEMERH
ERUELHEBARAMBEENATEE  HENEEZ DE
THRE BoBRERE-2
. BRE R2025
E3ANAFTAKN
FARM38,93212
AR53,5457 (1
EN41,76281%
57,437%7) (42024
£3A310 ' §¥5H
RANFARKAL 429
TEAR#52,708T
(FER45,0648T
257,320 7)) °
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 43,240 44103 Level3 Asset-based approach. Price per square The higher the price
meter. per square meter, the
The fair value of the target company higher the fair value.

Gold Peak Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

was determined by the asset-hased
approach using the adjusted net asset
value. Net asset value of the target
company was adjusted through fair
value adjustments held by the target
company primarily by the direct
comparison approach.

Using market direct
comparable and
taking into account
of location and
other individual
factors such as
size, building
facilities, levels,
age of building, etc,,
which is ranged
from RMB38,932
to RMB53,545
(equivalent to
HK$41,762to
HK$57,437 (2024:
RMB41,429
to RMB52,708
(equivalent to
HK$45,054 to
HK$57,320) per
square meter as at
31 March 2025.
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34.2RITH @® 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

SRMIAAFERE @ Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
B A TFEGEZAEBZTHEERLME Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
&2 2 FE @ are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

EENTURE FUBRRGARER

SRIZE/ DTERE/HEHER WABR DTEZEE
SRAE DTEER IEWAMEZER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ ATHE Fairvalue  Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s)  input(s) to fair value
2025 2024
TEL Tén
HK$'000  HK$'000
6. UATEHAEMZENS 7,449 16,210 #=§ M o FEHERBENIR  REDERBETIE
ZBRARIE EEWELEAAN & ATEIHE-
FATGL ERECA¥BREHESEE KX
WIERBETARZABLE (CXER BRLEES  ATER
SERMIRFIE - 508 - REABSEANEL e

. pEBEARNRASMBRARELL
. HEE) RPIETEEEHE - 15
REHEREEMFURE o

Equity instruments at FVTOCI 7,449 16,210  Level3 Market approach. The discount of lack  The higher the
of marketabilityand  discount of lack of
The market approach was used to applied multiples. marketability, the

determine the valuation by the average lower the fair value.
estimated values using the following

multiples: enterprise value to earnings The higher the applied
before interest, taxes, depreciation and multiples, the higher
amortisation ratio, enterprise value to the fair value.

earnings before interest, taxes ratio
and price to earnings ratio of selected
comparable listed companies in a
similar business and similar business
model and adjusted for the lack of
marketability.

7. MATEFARMEERE? 5,812 7170 E=# AfEREEEND S - REPHRBUIIR  RETSRBILTNG
BAIA BETELEARN 5 AVEMME-
RAEEL BRERLARRZTSREN  HE-
MFUABRNEEFEERERAANA BB EES - ATPER
TE - RATSE  BESRARLARE e

BWAETARNATENARESAANE
EFE - TARLTEERBEAERRE
BEABENTELR LA AR Z AR R
(*EEEFELE  EEERKIEA
SHBRAREE) BEhE YRR
MEREMNM TLARE -

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH 243



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

34.£RTIH @ 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

SMIAEATEHE® Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
FEE N TFEFEZTEBZEHMEEREME Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
B2 2 FE @ are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)
EENTTHR TOBERABER
SREE/ NEHE HERTR WARE DREZEE
SHEE DTEER FEMAMECER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ ATHE Fairvalue  Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s)  input(s) to fair value
2025 2024
Ti#n TEL
HK$'000  HK$'000
7. Equity instruments at FVTOCI 5,812 7,170 Level3 Combination of asset-hased approach The discount of lack  The higher the
and market approach. of marketabilityand  discount of lack of
applied multiples. marketability, the
The fair value of the target company lower the fair value.
was determined by the asset-hased
approach using the adjusted net asset The higher the applied
value with adjustments for the lack of multiples, the higher
marketability. Net asset value of the the fair value.
target company was adjusted through
fair value adjustments of each sub-
entity held by the target company
primarily by the market approach
using enterprise value to sales ratio
or enterprise value to earnings before
interest, taxes ratio of selected
comparable listed companies in a
similar business and similar business
model and adjusted for the lack of
marketability.
8 UNATEFARM2EREN - 2785 ¥=# EE% ENH%E0.09%2 EQfENS - BlGE
BRAIE 100% - BHEX WATFEHE o
ZHEEEEAREEMEEEREENEND  62.1%F100%
TEHEEEE  URRREEFE B8 ENBLHS  BUWHE
SEEENATEZR TR REREN WATFEHE o
REENSEREERRELLEN RN
h PR EEIENSEFTSETESF LHNEENNES  LHARENNERLE
RHNER MEEKEEENEEEREN  {LX5.8% e DENLTER
BREREETHEE- A o
FEZERE FEERAAZIIZG
10%Z 100% 5 FENATERHE
18 -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

BEENTUEER FTREBAYER

SRIZE/ DTERE/HEHER WARR DTEZEE
SRAE DTEER IEWAMEZER Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ ATHE Fairvalue  Basis of fair value measurement/ unobservable unobservable input(s)
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  valuation technique(s) and key input(s)  input(s) to fair value

2025 2024

TEL Tén

HK$'000  HK$'000

8. Equity instruments at FVTOCI - 267,825  Level3 Asset-based approach. Probability of default ~ The higher the

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

The approach considers the current
fair values or liquidation values of all
assets and liabilities of the target group,
along with the net value attributable
to shareholders. The fair value of the
assets of the target group considers a
market participant’s ability to generates
economic benefits by utilising the
asset in its highest and best use, and it
involves estimating the price at which
an orderly transaction would take place
inthe principal or most advantageous
market, while the liquidation value of the
assets of the target group assumes the
value under liquidation basis.

ranging from 0.09%
to 100% and loss
given default
ranging from 62.1%
to 100%

Capitalisation rate of
land and building of
5.8%

Discount rate on
inventory, which is
ranged from 10% to
100%

probability of
default, the lower
the fair value of
receivable.

The higher the loss
given default, the
lower the fair value
of receivable.

The higher the
capitalisation rate of
the land and building,
the lower the fair
value of the property.

The higher the
discount rate
on the inventory
replacement cost,
the lower the fair
value of inventory.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

34.£RTIH @ 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

SMIARXTFEFE @ Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

EREEEIR L TFELH K Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurement of financial assets
DAEERA

Hith2EURE

ZRATA

Equity instruments

at FUTOCI

Fi&xT

HK$’000

M2023%4A8 1A At 1 April 2023 71,751

B E—EHE AR ER Reclassification of interest in an associate 267,825
BEHRE Currency realignment (2,296)
SFAHMEEW R 2 A THEEE Fair value loss in OCI (1,972

H2024F 38 31H At 31 March 2024 335,308
sFARMEERE 2 A FEEE Fair value loss in OCI (278,807)

M 2025% 38 31H At 31 March 2025 56,501

Hitt2EWEAEEERAREH RSB/
DNFPEFAZTERERATREZ EWKRIF LT
A% 2B B2 A F{EIE 18 278,807,000 T
(20245 1,972,000/ TE18) - BEABERS

20258 BUF E R 2024 B F & » A FERR
Z ST

REEETERTEUDNFEFEFEVHREH
7 EEEEEREERMGENSBEMERMR
TERMARE -

BT AFE - AREF AT HER 2 T8
WEHR - BREFIRRE2RNEARE - &
EEEFESERMNEGEMETERMLE - 12
BERSERMEGEMT L SERERERE
X BEEEEHNESHREGEERNRBEESIH
HEZBZRE -

HitEREEMERMEBBEN A TEDREENE
RASREBAMN—ROREEEAEE - &2
AESRAZSIRNEEREREBEUKHIER
APBR 2 AREEE N FERLY -
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Included in OCl is an amount of HK$278,807,000 (2024: HK$1,972,000)
relating to listed and unlisted equity securities classified as equity
instruments at FVTOCI reported as changes of investment revaluation
reserve.

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair value hierarchy
during FY2025 and FY2024.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the Company is
responsible to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. \Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not
available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The management works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The management reports the valuation to the directors of the
Company regularly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with general accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors of the Company
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate their fair
values.
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participated in a MIPF scheme registered under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF
scheme, both the employer and its employees are required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 effective
from June 2014 for the MIPF scheme. In addition, the employer and its
employees may make voluntary contributions at their discretions.

For the MPF scheme, all mandatory contributions made by the
emplovers are fully vested with the employees, while any unvested
benefits of employees arising from voluntary contributions would be
forfeited and reverted to the employers.

The Group also participates in the employees’ pension schemes of the
respective municipal government in various places in the PRC where the
Group operates. The Group makes monthly contributions calculated as
a percentage of the monthly payroll costs and the respective municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations
of all existing and future retirees of the Group. The Group has no other
obligations for the payment of pension and other post-retirement
benefits of employees other than the above contribution payments.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company outside Hong Kong and
the PRC participate in central provident fund schemes established by
the relevant authority in their respective countries which are defined
contribution plans.

The Group contributed an aggregate amount of HK$44,434,000 (2024:

HK$47,138,000) to the above retirement benefit schemes during
FY2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

36. MEEL 2B EHREK 36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

TEEEREEECEBERE 2FBIRAOT The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising

BREASNIReEH  -REELENEEARAHE from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

BeRIARRAERRAEBGFERERERD Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows

EARMEMEE2RESRWER - were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

RITER
BEEER
HitER R ERFE RS
RITREMER (BIEEEM (BEEEM
Bank loans, e )] P FRR)
HE import and Interest Dividend
af& other loans payable payable
Lease  and bank and (included in (included in aF
liabilities other loans other payables) other payables) Total
TEL T TEx TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MW2023%4R 16 At 1 April 2023 287,310 3,518,335 9,432 1,197 3,816,274
MERSTE Financing cash flows (83,965) 48,999 (221,798) - (256,764)
FHE RERR New lease entered/lease modified 109,325 - - - 109,325
BEHAR Currency realignment (10,945) (78,543 5,124 - (84,364)
BERA Finance costs 15,773 - 232,768 - 248,541
BTEF-—HFEE Front-end fee amortisation of
pa 5 bank loans - 7,687 (7,687) - -
M2024%3A31R At 31 March 2024 317,498 3,496,478 17,839 1,197 3,833,012
MERERE Financing cash flows (93,910) (176,318) (213,370) (22,297) (505,895)
HHE RERR New lease entered/lease modified 28,231 - - - 28,231
BHREE Currency realignment 334 (23,754) 5,040 - (18,380)
EARKRE Dividend declared - - - 22,887 22,887
B RRAR Finance costs 16,024 - 208,313 - 224,337
BTEF-—MFEE Front-end fee amortisation of
P& 5 bank loans - 9,809 (9,809) - -
MW2025% 38 31H At 31 March 2025 268,177 3,306,215 8,013 1,787 3,584,192
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37. EEFREXS

R20268HEFE - AEBRERAEERE -
HHMREBRRXBIAT LA -FE+F
(20245 1 —F=+5) fHEERH - RHEE
R RBFEE - AEEER29,175,00058 T
(2024% : 116,777,000 ) WEFAEEER
28,231,000/ 7t (20244 : 109,325,0005%
) MEERE -

37. MIAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During FY2025, the Group entered into new lease arrangements for
the use of leasehold buildings, machinery and equipment and motor
vehicles for 1 year to 10 years (2024: 1 year to 10 years). On the
lease commencement or lease modification, the Group recognised
HK$29,175,000 (2024: HK$116,777,000) of right-of-use assets and
HK$28,231,000 (2024: HK$109,325,000) lease liabilities.

N2025% 38 310  KEMEAEHMBEENRIT
FARELEN S 1,445,000 T (2024 F
1,388,000/ 7T) °

ERHAE
FEBABHEANEEHEEAEERANRE
MEEE - B 20275 18 @im - AEAREH
[Em S I A B AR R R -

HENARBRBUHERENT !

. ARBE 38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
2025 2024
TiEgn FiEx
HK$’000 HK$’000
Hith Others 20,935 20,218
iR 39. COMMITMENTS
2025 2024
T FExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
EENEREFRETIEREEE Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition
BARBEVE BERREZ of property, plant and equipment contracted
BEIRESE for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 1,177 2,536
E 2k 40. OPERATING LEASE
ERFABA As lessee

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has approximately HK$ 1,445,000
(2024: HK$1,388,000) of aggregate undiscounted commitments for
short-term leases.

As lessor

Operating leases, in which the Group is the lessor, relate to investment
properties owned by the Group which will be expiring in January 2027.
The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at the
expiry of the lease period.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2025 2024

Fi#&x FHExT

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 3,800 -
ETER In the second year 3,167 -
6,967 _
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

41 BREAER Sk 41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
HtEEALRS Other related party transactions
AEBHEAEEZHENRDETUTEARS ¢ The Group entered into the following significant transactions with its

associates of the Group:

2025 2024
TFiEx FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
IBEEHENT Purchases from associates 500,708 503,920
HEFHE AT Sales to associates 258,947 289,097
BEE AR ZERBRA Management fee income received from
associates 3,490 4,361
RBEMEER  AEERAQAREBEE A ARE At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following balances
AT AERERFIA EEWE R H b EUR AR I8 R TS with its associates included under trade and other receivables and
I RE[RERERAR ! prepayments and creditors and accrued charges:
2025 2024
FBxT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
PR AR E R Trade receivables due from associates 65,432 82,583
Hh pElk B A R FRIE Other receivables due from associates 19,339 3,513
EABEARER Trade payables due to associates 137,006 107,054
HihpE S AR 2K E Other payables due to associates 729 711
FE U 1 B E A FRIE R PR B 0 R H A FIE Other receivables due from associates and other payables due to
RIESMNE - RE - BERNERERESE - associates are non-trade nature, interest-free, unsecured and repayable
on demand.
FTEEREEREAQARES [ FHHMFS The key management personnel includes solely the directors of the
AKIEEe Company and the compensation paid to them is disclosed in note 9.
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42, ARz AR R 42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

AND B A 20255 | 20245 38 318 2 B & The financial information of the Company as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
mT as follows:
2025 2024
FiBgx FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
nE - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 897 1,821
FREEE Right-of-use assets 11,019 19,283
PR M B A RIS Interests in subsidiaries 1,592,774 1,592,774
FRneiRe Non-current deposits 2,904 2,818
1,607,594 1,616,696
MENEE Current assets
Hith e ERE R B FE Other receivables and prepayments 8,627 8,838
LN Amounts due from subsidiaries 75,062 75,543
RITHET FREES Bank balances, deposits and cash 8,165 8,080
91,854 92,461
mENEE Current liabilities
EARERER Creditors and accrued charges 13,147 11,160
HEERE Lease liabilities 8,526 7,936
XD EFIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 216,675 97,327
RITER Bank loans 313,933 300,591
552,281 417,014
REEERE Net current liabilities (460,427) (324,553)
BEERERBAE Total assets less current liabilities 1,147,167 1,292,143
EREBEE Non-current liabilities
RITREMER Bank and other loans 81,858 183,400
HEERE Lease liabilities 2,981 11,507
84,839 194,907
BEERE Net assets 1,062,328 1,097,236
BERR#E Capital and reserves
B (ffEE30) Share capital (note 30) 998,666 998,666
e (D) Reserves (note) 63,662 98,570
B Total equity 1,062,328 1,097,236
MR2025F6A240HEEZRBER  WHUTES Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June
REREE: 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
EfheR TR Victor LO Chung Wing Brian LI Yiu Cheung
o ZE Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

42. AAT B ERRE @ 42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)
B EE : Note:
(R&HEE)
REER
REGHE (Accumulated
Dividend loss) aH
reserve retained profits Total
FiExT FBT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
R2023%47 18 At 1 April 2023 - (42,668) (42,668)
2ERF Profit for the year - 141,238 141,238
E2024F RERE Dividend proposed - 2024 final 9,155 (9,155) -
72024438 310 At 31 March 2024 9,155 89,415 98,570
2EEIB Loss for the year - (7,225) (7,225)
A Repurchase of shares - (4,796) (4,796)
ERE Dividend paid
— 2024F REAR . - 2024 final dividend (9,155) - (9,155)
—2025F R HEIRR B - 2025 interim dividend - (13,732 (13,732
EERE — 20255 KEIIRE Dividend proposed - 2025 final 9,025 (9,025) -
7A2025% 38 31H At 31 March 2025 9,025 54,637 63,662
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43. TEMBE AT

(a) MEATN—REN

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AT 2025F k20246 3A 312X &

(a) General information of subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2025

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

MBARFEWT : and 2024 are as follows:
B/ 3 AEERIERTREZ
Place of BT SEMERAE BEREAER
incorporation/ Nominal value of Effective equity
MWEAREHE registration/ issuedshare/ interestattributable FEE7f
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2025 2024
EEEK
Audio Business
GPI IR $$286,306,915 86.18% 85.59% #ZRERE
GP Industries® Singapore Investment holding
GP Acoustics Limited RBHEARHE US$57,000,000  86.18%  85.59% EREE
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
GP Acoustics (HK) Limited BE HK$20,000,000 86.18% 85.59% #E TERIHELER
Hong Kong Marketing, retailing and
distribution of audio
products
EHEFERAA" HE] R\MB10,000,000 86.18% 85.59% HERAHEBEEREFEM
GP Acoustics (China) Limited" PRC Marketing and distribution
of acoustic and electronic
products
GP Acoustics International Limited &8 HK$148,000,000 86.18%  85.59% ERIRE - it HER
Hong Kong NEGBERETEM
Investment holding, design,
marketing and distribution
of acoustic and electronic
products
AELLEFEERAT = NT$1,500,000 86.18%  85.59% HERIHEERREFER
GP Acoustics (Taiwan) Limited Taiwan Marketing and distribution
of acoustic and electronic
products
GP Acoustics (UK) Limited HE £12,500,000 86.18% 85.59% ERIRE - FE HER
United Kingdom HEBBRRETER
Investment holding, design,
marketing and trading of
acoustic and electronic
products
GP Acoustics (US), Inc. E3E Us$6,655,097 86.18% 85.59% HERIHEBEERETER
United States of Marketing and distribution
America of acoustic and electronic
products
GP Acoustics GmbH ZE €4,700,000 86.18%  85.59% HERIEEBERETER
Germany Marketing and distribution
of acoustic and electronic
products
GP Electronics and Acoustics E3E] TBH220,000,000 77.56% 77.03% ELRBEBEERETER
Co, Ltd. Thailand Manufacturing and trading

of acoustic and electronic
products
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

43 EEMB LR @ 43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) MEQATN—RER @

(a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)

a3 Ve

E3501y] AEEELBRTREAZ

Place of BT/ GEMIRAE BRESE

incorporation/ Nominal value of issued Effective equity
MEARRE registration/ share/ interestattributable FEEHK
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities

2025 2024
EEEK @
Audio Business (continued)
2ULEF &FE) BERDA &b HK$50,000,000 86.18%  85.59% HEREESLER
GP Electronics (HK) Limited Hong Kong Marketing and trading of
audio products
BENTERLEFERAF" FEl HK$170,000,000 86.18% 85.59% EXRBEBERKETER
GP Electronics (Huizhou) PRC Manufacturing of acoustic
Co, Ltd. and electronic products

KEF Celestion Corporation HEHE US$400,000 86.18%  85.50% HEMEE

Cayman Islands Holding of trademarks
KEF GP Group Limited HEHE Us$7  86.18%  85.59% ERIRE

Cayman Islands Investment holding
KEF Japan, Inc. A7 JPY50,000,000 86.18% 85.50% SHEZEER

Japan Trading of acoustic products
TihEHK
Battery Business
2B g $$251,312,000 86.18% 85.59% ERIRE
GP Batteries Singapore Investment holding
RESILEHARAF" H HK$30,000,000 86.18% 85.50% EXEM
Dongguan GP Batteries Limited" PRC Manufacturing of batteries
GP Batteries (Americas) Inc. E3E] US$105,800  86.18%  85.59% HERKEESH

United States of Marketing and trading in

America batteries

GP Batteries (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd B E RM70,000,000 86.18% 85.50% EXEM

Malaysia Manufacturing of batteries
IS LEERAT H HK$151,500,000  86.18%  85.50% EHEit
GP Batteries (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd®  PRC Manufacturing of batteries
GP Batteries (U.K) Limited HE £2,191,011 86.18% 85.59% HERHESH

United Kingdom Marketing and trading in
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43. X EMBAT @

(a) BTN —RER @

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)

R g3 v
£33 1Y) FEERIERTREAZ
Place of BT/ REMiRAE BRERE
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued Effective equity
1= NEiE registration/ share/ interestattributable FE£H
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2025 2024
EHEE =
Battery Business (continued)
GP Batteries (Vietnam) Limited e \/ND341,328,317,880 82.71% 82.14% ERSEH
Liability Company (“VNGP”) Vietnam Manufacturing of batteries
EBREMARAA s HK$2  86.18%  85.59% HEREEED
GP Battery Marketing (HK) Limited Hong Kong Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Battery Marketing (Korea) RIS W150,000,000 86.18%  85.59% EERBEEEH
Limited South Korea Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Battery Marketing (Malaysia) ~ BREE RM1,000,000 86.18%  85.59% HERHESH
Sdn Bhd Malaysia Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Battery Marketing (Singapore) i S$$800,000  86.18%  85.59% HERHEESH
Pte Ltd Singapore Marketing and trading in
batteries
GP Battery (Poland) Sp.zo.0. wE PLN23,022,405 86.18%  85.59% HERHESH
Poland Marketing and trading in
batteries
LIERTIHE &B) BRAH EE HK$2  86.18%  85.59% HRIKE
GP Battery Technology (HK) Hong Kong Investment holding
Limited
GPIEIRBRAR B HK$431,500,000 86.18% 85.59% HERHESH
GPI International Limited Hong Kong Marketing and trading in
batteries
GPPD Pte. Ltd. 3K US$15,000,000 60.33% 59.91% EREE
Singapore Investment holding
GPPD Energy Company Limited i@ US$15,000,000  60.33% 59.91% EHKHEESH
Vietnam Manufacturing and trading of

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

batteries

200



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

43. T EMBRE @ 43. PRINICIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) MBATM—MER @ (a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)

B/ 5,
£33yl AREELRTREAZ
Place of BT/ RHIRAE BHELE
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued Effective equity

MELEEE registration/ share/ interestattributable FEZHK

Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities

2025 2024
EHEK @

Battery Business (continued)

EMEBELERBRATC H RMB32,067,000  77.56% 77.03% HERHESH
Huizhou Chao Ba Batteries Co Ltd® PRC Marketing and trading in
batteries
EREASHEROAC H RMB30,000,000 62.05% 61.62% EHEM
Ningbo Fubang Battery Co Ltd® PRC Manufacturing of batteries
EREGRRERAT H US$24,600,000  77.56%  77.03% EHEH
Ningbo GP Energy Co,, Ltd® PRC Manufacturing of batteries
ERSLEBENERAT H RI\MB500,000,000 60.33% 59.91% EHEM
Ningbo GP & Sonluk Battery PRC Manufacturing of batteries
Co, Ltd®
iR (ER) SHERARe HE US$35,000,000 60.33% 59.91% EHEM
Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co.Ltd® PRC Manufacturing of batteries
TEUER
Rechargeable Battery Business
REBHFEHERAE HE HK$197,000,000 95.41% 95.15% EHEM
Dongguan Chao Ba Batteries PRC Manufacturing of batteries
Co Ltd"
GPEERMEARAT HERS US$48,384  95.41%  95.15% BRIEE
GP Energy Tech Limited Cayman Islands Investment holding
GP Energy Tech International Pte.  #7A13% S$1 95.41% 05.15% EZERRERHE
Limited Singapore Investment holding and
trading
GP Energy Tech (Malaysia) Sdn.  BR# L% RM41,971,374  95.41% 95.15% EHREM
Bhd. Malaysia Manufacturing of batteries
GP Technology & Innovation 5B HK$30,000,000 95.41% 95.15% MESHER
Limited Hong Kong Research and development
of battery products
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43. X EMBRE @

(a) BTN —RER @

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)

R g3 v
£33 1Y) FEERIERTREAZ
Place of BT/ REMiRAE BRERE
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued Effective equity
1= NEiE registration/ share/ interestattributable FE£H
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
2025 2024
EMIERE
Other Industrial Investments
Asset Link Asia Limited” EEERARES US$100 100% 100% ERERE
British Virgin Investment holding
Islands
Famingo Pte Ltd. AN S$2  86.18%  85.50% ERIRE
Singapore Investment holding
EWMET (PE) BRDA B HK$39,964,622  86.18%  85.59% ERIRE
GP Electronics (China) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
GP Global Marketing Corporation ~ BIE#S Us$1,501,000 86.18% 85.59% HEME
Cayman Islands Holding of trademarks
GP Global Marketing Limited e HK$23,500,000 86.18%  85.59% mWiHEHERE
Hong Kong Marketing
EHETERERDT s HK$1,000,000 86.18%  85.50% #RRERE
GPE International Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
Makinen Properties Limited? EEEARHE Us$1 100% 100% ERRE
British Virgin Investment holding
Islands

e WEARRRPEEGTEMELZFIEGE

2%

© WEARBRREANTRAALZ 2 AR
B

b REATRRAAEEIEE - FAREKEL
ABKATMESE -

BRIOPEREEEMRAZDRN - RO
BEFAENERARBTZROEBEBRR
7 e

EREIADFZHMBLR  EBRHZE
RAEBRHEARFECXANBNAEEE
E—EEZEHG - ESAR/HIAMHBL
AR REHRREILE

BREWBEIN  ERFEEMSERFELER
B~ BB AER RS o
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@ These companies are established as sino-foreign joint ventures registered

under the PRC law.

These companies are established as wholly foreign owned enterprises

registered under the PRC law.

4 These companies are directly held by the Company. All other subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company.

Except for the companies established in the PRC with registered
capital, the classes of shares held by the Company in the above
companies are ordinary shares issued by these companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of the year or
constituted a substantial portion of the assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Save as disclosed, none of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro

e BHmRNTE

43. X EMB AT @

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) MERT A EESEE)

2024%F 18290 » GPIT £ ZERGPEEFRRIL
NWENDIKE  NEBFEGPREIRRE -
REBHEBMBER LT + GP Energy Tech
International Pte. Limited - GP Energy
Tech (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. ) & %k IR #£ #
85.59% 1% N £ 95.15% -+ I 20255 3 A
31RE—HEMNZE95.41% °

A 2024 8 B £ E A - GP Electronics
and Acoustics Co., Ltd. L4 % #E & 2 2 2
BN B & 77,083,988 # (HHE R
1,777,000 7T) » <&@ 1EGP Electronics
and Acoustics Co., Ltd. #9 1% & Lt 4l B
43.65%12 = 77.03% - WIE M IEE R ER
10,385,000/& sTEA B FAZR P FEN B T 2 [
HEEEERRAERNFEE 12,162,000
T

R2024BBFEER » NREB#KHEMEH
VNGPHBRREREAR - MEEW
BVNGP - 7 £ B £ VNGP 89 35 IR b i
M 81.31% 8 £ 82.14% - WM FZER
495,000 8 THERASELRE
495,000/ 7T °

(c) MEERFEFESNFZEMBLR 2

i
REBREEEFERESNIZENBE L
BlZFHBEIIRAT ¢

B A R
TEEEMS
Place of
incorporation and

MEQARERE principal place

(b) Change in ownership in subsidiaries

Following the completion of the distribution in specie of GPET
Shares by GP Industries to the Company (“DIS”) on 29 January 2024,
the Group increased its effective shareholding in GPET, Dongguan
Chao Ba Batteries Co Ltd, GP Energy Tech International Pte. Limited,
GP Energy Tech (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. from 85.59% to 95.15% at 31
March 2024, and increased further to 95.41% at 31 March 2025.

During FY2024, the Group’s shareholding in GP Electronics and
Acoustics Co,, Ltd. increased from 43.65% to 77.03% as partial
settlement of a loan receivables of THB7,983,988 (equivalent
to HK$1,777,000). The difference between the non-controlling
interest acquired of HK$10,385,000 and the relevant portion of
the loan receivables was directly recognised as capital reserve of
HK$12,162,000.

During FY2024, the Group increased its shareholding in VNGP
from 81.31% to 82.14% as a result of deemed acquisition after
capitalising a shareholder’s loan to VNGP. The non-controlling
interest acquired of HK$495,000 was directly recognised as capital
reserve HK$495,000.

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

FIERERBEN
HERERTRRELH
Proportion of PEFIERERS
ownership interests A (E518) e

and voting rights held by  Profit (loss) allocated to

Accumulated

Name of subsidiaries of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
FTi#gn FiExT Figx FTiErn
HK$'000  HK$ 000  HK$'000  HK$000
GPI% s
GP Industries Singapore 13.82% 14.41% 17,317 (42,104) 222,333 262,143
TR (ER) SHERAT  FE
Zhongyin (Ningbo)
Battery Co,, Ltd. PRC 30.00% 30.00% 19,790 21,462 445,560 390,535
Hity TEA TiER TEA
Others N/A N/A N/A 71,813 46,111 457,152 297,122
108,920 25,469 1,125,045 949,800
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43. T EMB AR @ 43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(c) MEEXRFEFERNIELEMB AT 25 (c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
18 @ controlling interests (continued)
GPI# GP Industries
2025 2024
Flx FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 3,558,427 3,548,948
EREEE Non-current assets 3,492,312 3,615,791
mEEE Current liabilities 3,377,174 3,385,738
FRBEE Non-current liabilities 1,174,040 1,329,680
GPIEME QR 2 TR ER Non-controlling interests of GP Industries’
subsidiaries 890,660 679,354
GPIEZFERER Non-controlling interests of GP Industries 222,333 262,140
BERAATEEAZER Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,386,532 1,507,827
e Revenue 6,431,784 6,452,314
T EtaRREE Expenses, other gains and losses 6,198,326 6,726,179
2EHEA (B18) Profit (loss) for the year 233,458 (273,865)
BBARATHEE A ZRR (558 Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the
Company 103,171 (251,804)
FEAGPI¥FERiER A Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling
(E518) interests of GP Industries 17,317 (42,104)
RABRFAZER AT EEBIER Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value
SIBR 2 B EE 2 A FERE through profit or loss not taken up by the
Company 21,143 -
AR B EECGPIERNEY D RN Translation deficit reclassified to profit or loss
BanREAZELEER upon DIS write back by the Company - (48,151)
FERGPIEMEB A RFIERER Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
ZimA of GP Industries’ subsidiaries 91,827 68,194
2EHEA (B18) Profit (loss) for the year 233,458 (273,865)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

43. X EMB AT @ 43. PRINICIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(c) MEERFEFIERNFEZEMB AT 25+ (c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
18 @ controlling interests (continued)
GPIT% @) GP Industries (continued)
2025 2024
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BERAATEE A ZEAM Other comprehensive expense attributable to
2HEZH owners of the Company (187,576) (70,675)
HENRGPIEFERERZ Other comprehensive expense attributable to the
Hit2mE non-controlling interests of GP Industries (31,484) (12,210)
A BEEGPI#(REY D IRA Translation deficit reclassified to profit or loss
BRaREIAZELEE upon DIS write back by the Company - 48,151
REBNGPIEMBATIERER>  Other comprehensive expense attributable to
Hit2EZH the non-controlling interests of GP Industries’
subsidiaries 30,503 (9,479)
2FHMREXH Other comprehensive expense for the year (188,557) (44,212)
BERAATEEAZEZASE Total comprehensive expense attributable to
#azg owners of the Company (84,405) (322,479)
REBNGPIEHFERER>2EE Total comprehensive expense attributable to
e the non-controlling interests of
GP Industries (14,167) (54,314
BABRFTAZERAFEEBBR Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value
SRz B EE 2 A FENE through profit or loss not taken up by the
Company 21,143 -
REBNGPILEMBATIERER >  Total comprehensive income attributable to the
2 HHBEE non-controlling interests of GP Industries’
subsidiaries 122,330 58,716
EEEEMNE ) #5 Total comprehensive income (expense) for the
year 44,901 (318,077)
ENEERERZRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (10,122) (47,860)
KRS CEESFE Net cash inflow from operating activities 424,834 259,483
REEBERAZREFR Net cash used in investing activities (184,692) (221,472)
REFEEAZRELFE Net cash used in financing activities (221,541) (165,574)
WERA (R F5E Net cash inflow (outflow) 18,601 (127,563)
BMRERFBERENIER SRS s L The details of the financial information were disclosed in GP
H2GPITEFHRIEE Industries’ annual report which is available on the website of the

Singapore Stock Exchange.
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43. X EMBAT @

(c) MEERFEHESNEZTEMB AT ZH#

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

15 @& controlling interests (continued)
R (EZR) BHERAT Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co., Ltd.
2025 2024
Fix FHExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RBEE Current assets 903,432 974,885
EREEE Non-current assets 1,308,200 1,271,433
RBARG Current liabilities 706,314 726,714
EREBEE Non-current liabilities 20,119 217,819
IEfERR R Non-controlling interests 445,560 390,535
BEATR ER SHERAAE Equity attributable to owners of Zhongyin
BB AR (Ningbo) Battery Co., Ltd. 1,039,639 911,250
EHER Revenue 1,486,303 1,775,120
T HfaFIREE Expenses, other gains and losses 1,420,337 1,703,565
2EREF Profit for the year 65,966 71,555
BERAATEE AR Profit attributable to owners of the Company 39,795 42,872
BRBNGP I3 ERER A Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
of GP Industries 6,381 7,221
FBRFIR (ER) SHERAR Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
SRR R 2 a A of Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co., Ltd. 19,790 21,462
2 FREF Profit for the year 65,966 71,555
BERAATEEAZEMEE Other comprehensive income attributable to
Wz owners of the Company 70,045 299
BFERGPI I ERER 2 Hith Other comprehensive income attributable to the
EAEE non-controlling interests of GP Industries 11,233 50
FERTER @) SHERAR Other comprehensive income attributable
IR R 2 Hth 2 E R to the non-controlling interests of
Zhongyin (Ningbo) Battery Co., Ltd. 34,828 152
2 HM2EKE Other comprehensive income for the year 116,106 501
BERAATEEAZZEKRE Total comprehensive income attributable to
wazg owners of the Company 109,840 43,171
FERGPIHIEZERERZZEZE Total comprehensive income attributable to the
WA RE non-controlling interests of GP Industries 17,614 7,271
FERTIR @) SHERAR Total comprehensive income attributable to the
RS 2 EN AL non-controlling interests of Zhongyin (Ningbo)
Battery Co,, Ltd. 54,618 21,614
2 FE2HERRETE Total comprehensive income for the year 182,072 72,056
B FERERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - 37,708
REEBEECHESFHR Net cash inflow from operating activities 75,421 194,164
REXEK FRH) EE2RSFE Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 47,078 (8,839)
RMETBEAZRESFHE Net cash used in financing activities (112,287) (291,508)
BWERA (R F58 Net cash inflow (outflow) 10,212 (106,183)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conro
e BHmRNTE

44, TEBE QT 44. PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
REBRN 20255 K 20245 3A 31 2 T ERE Details of the Group’s principal associates at 31 March 2025 and 2024
NEFEBAOT - are as follows:
S gaiisiha) FEBEEIGRITRE
Place of ZERERE
[ FNEIE=E incorporation/ Effective equity interest FEE
Name of associates registration attributable to the Group Principal activities
2025 2024
BHEHK
Battery Business
AZ Limited A 38.47%  34.23% EERWEBH
Russia Marketing and trading in batteries
ENEREMNERDLT e 47.40% 47.07% EHBHM
Changzhou Lithium Batteries Ltd PRC Manufacturing of batteries
EXTXEARRDT &8 33.91% 33.68% #EZEREERHESH
Gold Yi Industries Company Limited Hong Kong Investment holding and trading in
batteries
GP Battery Marketing (Germany) 1= 43.09% 42.79% HERHEESH
GmbH Germany Marketing and trading in batteries
Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company fif=2) 42.23% 41.94% EBREH
\ietnam Manufacturing of batteries
EREEENERAT HE 27.58% 27.39%% HERHEESHYR
Ningbo Fengyin Battery Co. Ltd PRC Marketing and trading in batteries
materials
RILBHBTE (PE) BRAR HE 36.63% 36.37% EHEH
T.G. Battery Co.(China) Ltd PRC Manufacturing of batteries
RILBHBTE &FHB) BRAR & 43.09% 42.79% ERRERREHEMRAZE
T.G. Battery Co.(Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding and provision of
logistic support
ZEUEK

Rechargeable Battery Business
GEEERHGBERAT =y 16.90% 18.66% [AE: - HEREESH

GWA Energy, Inc Taiwan Development, marketing and
trading in batteries
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44 FEBENT @

44. PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES (continued)

R R FEEERRTRA
Place of ZEHEHE
BEATRRE incorporation/ Effective equity interest FEEF
Name of associates registration attributable to the Group Principal activities
2025 2024
BMTERE
Other Industrial Investments
Julong Technology Limited KBERREE 25.85% 25.68% #ZRIRE
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
XEIXROBRATF =) 17.46% 17.35% B% - BERHEEBERR
Meiloon Industrial Co,, Ltd. Taiwan FEEM
Development, manufacturing and
marketing of acoustic and
audio-visual equipment
BILTEBRAE &5 12.93% 12.84% SHESFEHH
Shinwa Industries (H.K) Limited Hong Kong Trading of electronic components
BENMRERAH BB 25.85% 25.68% EBRRERSBHRMES
Wisefull Technology Limited Hong Kong Investment holding and trading of
metallic products
hEMNLERLE ARERRES 25.85% 25.68% #ZRIRE
Youjia Technology Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding
BERAERDARLE =F 25.85% TER AEEMASRNSESH ERN
JWS Technology Co., Ltd Taiwan N/A  BA% - 2BENES
Development, manufacturing and
trading of thermal management
solutions and cosmetic metallic
parts/products
FERARBMYNTEERIARRITHEEAZIES o Significant influence is exercised through representative on board of

PLEFrE WA 2 B AR R AR R EEEE -
FEHME AR ZEBTBETH ML Tt

directors of all the above associates.

All associates indicated above are indirectly held by the Company.
All associates operate principally in their respective places of

7o B EFrBREERARREELT -

RIFEBE AR 2RE  RADEHFERLE

KRB o

EREJIAEEZBE DT ESRDREHZE
REEERFENMZELATRLENFEZ
REDBEAEEFEE—EEEHH - EFR
AHIHMBE QR 2 HEURERRRELIR

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

incorporation/registration. All of the above companies are limited liability
companies.

The investments in associates are solely for shares of results and no
strategic purpose is involved.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the opinion of
the directors, the Group exercised significant influence and principally
affected the results of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

203



FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF GP INDUSTRIES LIMITED
GP IEABRAAHMBEE

FEBRER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
HZ3A31ALLEFEE Year ended 31 March
2025 2025 2024 2024
TR T Fi#grx* FHMHE T FEx
S$’000 HK$’000* S$'000 HK$’000*
=E £ Revenue 1,104,700 6,431,784 1,108,131 6,452,314
BRELADEF (8518) Profit (loss) before taxation 52,511 305,729 (38,788) (225,851)
g Taxation (12,413) (72,271) (8,246) (48,014)
BB ERETR (518 Profit (loss) after taxation 40,098 233,458 (47,034) (273,865)
RS Non-controlling interests (15,772) (91,829) (11,712) (68,194)
2FHEF (58) Profit (loss) for the year 24,326 141,629 (58,746) (342,059)
FEBBRRE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
M3A31A At 31 March
2025 2025 2024 2024
FETANE T TR  FEMET FHET
S$’000 HK$’000" S$'000 HK$’000*
REYE Investment Properties 72,096 418,243 - -
ME - MENRRE Property, plant and equipment 311,027 1,804,330 361,620 2,094,611
FREEE Right-of-use assets 29,074 168,664 36,185 209,594
RN P Interest in associates 164,333 953,329 155,254 899,278
D AFESARMEE Equity instruments at fair value
WHEZ2BRATER through other comprehensive
income 1,284 7,449 49,037 284,037
URAFEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 7,677 44,536 3,957 22,920
EERIBEE Deferred tax assets 3,619 20,995 4,932 28,568
RERBEMNRIE Deposits and prepayments 3,198 18,552 3,198 18,524
mEERE Intangible assets 9,690 56,214 10,058 58,259
RENVEE Current assets 613,395 3,558,427 612,701 3,548,948
BEE Total assets 1,215,393 7,050,739 1,236,942 7,164,739
E1Eh=K Non-current liabilities 202,379 1,174,040 229,560 1,329,680
P A=A Current liabilities 582,151 3,377,174 584,524 3,385,738
HafF Total liabilities 784,530 4,551,214 814,084 4,715,418
EEE Net assets 430,863 2,499,525 422,858 2,449,321
GPIEEARRIEMER Equity attributable to equity holders of
GP Industries 292,340 1,697,403 305,346 1,769,967
IR R Non-controlling interests 138,523 802,122 117,512 679,354
430,863 2,499,525 422,858 2,449,321
HiE MARKET CAPITALISATION 245,055 1,421,612 254,018 1,471,346

L BRAR B BB REBEF AR RRER 7

o

The Hong Kong dollar equivalents as shown above for illustrative purposes are

converted at the exchange rates ruling as at the respective year end dates.
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

So 3 phgas

EERHEFSE

EREEE - ADEEREES

AC - Audit Committee of the Company

BRAFEXE - BRRAFKE

AGM - Annual General Meeting

20245 RREAFKE - RAT2024FRRAFKE

2024 AGM - AGM of the Company for FY2024

20255 REAFKE - BN 20255 9A 20 (2Hi=) B|ITH AR AT 2026FRRAFAE
2025 AGM - forthcoming AGM of the Company for FY2025 to be held on Tuesday, 2 September 2025
EER - RARESBR

Board - the board of Directors of the Company

ERER - DEERER

CG Code - Corporate Governance Code

hE -  FREARHENE

China/PRC - The People’s Republic of China

- -  ERARES

Directors - directors of the Company

BYSR BEEWS IR -  BEREYSRABHEEER

DIS/Proposed Distribution - proposed distribution in-specie of the rechargeable batteries manufacturing business
BITES - ADEHTES

ED - Executive Director of the Company

R - HERER - RR -HEREAR

ESG - Environmental, social and governance

20248 B FE - BZE20245 38310 LB FE

FY2024 - the financial year ended 31 March 2024

202581 B & - BZE2025% 38 31H LB FE

FY2025 - the financial year ending 31 March 2025
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY conro)

o phgam =
EHRHEAE

EAES ]
GP Batteries

GPIT %
GP Industries

GP&ERBHX
GPET/GP Energy Tech

GPHETRR R El %
GPETI

Habaco
Habaco

BT FEAL
HKS and HK cents

k32 R
HKEX

BRI BHREER
HKFRSs

EREALE
HKICPA

gig
Hong Kong

BIUFHTES
INED

KGG
KGG

£

Meiloon

SIWBMERERLAT c GPIENZEHE AT
GP Batteries International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GP Industries

GPIEBRAR » AARHE86.18% 2B A A
GP Industries Limited, an 86.18%-owned subsidiary of the Company

GPREBRRHE AR AR » NARE&HEES 95.41% B BB A =
GP Energy Tech Limited, an effectively 95.41% owned subsidiary of the Company

GP Energy Tech International Pte. Limited, 2N 2 B & & A 95.41% 8245 KO B 2 T
GP Energy Tech International Pte. Limited, an effectively 95.41% owned subsidiary of the
Company

Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company @ N B N 5

Hanoi Battery Joint Stock Company, an associate of the Group

2 Bl & BT AEAL

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively

BBBAERZRAERAT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

EBYBREEL
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

BEEEHMAE
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

HEEBERITHE
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China

RARBALFBTES

Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company

KEF GP Group Limited, GPT 2K 2 &M B2 T
KEF GP Group Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GP Industries

EETIXROERAE  ARBEHELNT

Meiloon Industrial Co,, Ltd., an associate of the Group
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REEET -
NC -

FMTES -
NED -

REABH -
NilMIH -

FHESE -
RC -

R ARG -
SFO -

B®R -
Shareholders -

ARF IR -
the Company/Gold Peak/GPG -

AEE -
the Group -

-

S [E] —
UK -

ESE| -

USA/US. -

KRR R Rl E -
XIC/XIC Group -

SR TRARAR —O-WE—O—RFFH

RABREEES
Nomination Committee of the Company

RABFHITES
Non-Executive Director of the Company

Nickel Metal Hydride

RABFHHWEES
Remuneration Committee of the Company

EHRBAEGRG
Securities and Futures Ordinance

AR
shareholders of the Company

AABAHFHERREEZES
Sustainability Steering Committee of the Company

SRR TESRAR
Gold Peak Technology Group Limited

RARREMEB AR
the Company and its subsidiaries

3R
United Kingdom

ESE)
United States of America

ZERRIERA R ZER A REKEQ
XIC Innovation Limited/XIC together with its subsidiaries
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY conro)

=o 2 by 2o A

EERHEFAR W

W Rux - AR% -HER X - SRAFMET - Ex - ARY  HEY K B R Ax - BRATSE - MEE -

#E-Br %K -Bx- -5 - FMRENREEER

ME - BREMRBEZER

S$,USS,RMIB,NTS, £,€,THB, - Singapore Dollar, United States Dollar, Chinese Yuan Renminbi, New Taiwan Dollar,

JPY,RM,VND, W and PLN British Pound Sterling, Euro, Thai Baht, Japanese Yen, Malaysian Ringgit, Viethamese
Dong, South Korean \Won and Polish Ztoty (Poland), respectively

% - [Epiyd

% - Per cent or percentage
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9/F, Building 12\, 12 Science Park \West Avenue,
Hong Kong Science Park, N.T., Hong Kong

Tel: +852 24271133 Fax: +852 2489 1879
E-mail: gp@goldpeak.com

\Website: wwwv.goldpeak.com
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